Study of Modulation of Host Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses by *Vibrio cholerae* Porin OmpU

Sanica C. Sakharwade

Thesis submitted for the partial fulfilment of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy



Department of Biological Sciences

Indian Institute of Science Education and Research (IISER) Mohali

January 2016

Study of Modulation of Host Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses by *Vibrio cholerae* **Porin OmpU**

Sanica C. Sakharwade

Thesis submitted for the partial fulfilment of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy



Department of Biological Sciences

Indian Institute of Science Education and Research (IISER) Mohali

January 2016

Declaration

The work presented in this thesis has been carried out by me under the supervision of Dr. Arunika Mukhopadhaya at the Department of Biological Sciences, Indian Institute of Science Education and Research (IISER) Mohali.

This work has not been submitted in part or full for a degree, a diploma, or for fellowship to any other university or institute. This thesis is a bona fide record of the original work done by me. All sources cited within have been listed in the bibliography.

Date:

Place:

Sanica C. Sakharwade

In my capacity as the supervisor of the candidate's thesis work, I certify that above statements by the candidate are true to the best of my knowledge.

Dr. Arunika Mukhopadhaya

Supervisor

Acknowledgment

I would maintain that thanks are the highest form of thought; And that gratitude is happiness doubled by wonder. ~G.K. Chesterton

I would like to sincerely and deeply thank my supervisor, Dr. Arunika Mukhopadhaya, for guiding me through my doctoral research. I am grateful for her advice, counsel, and mentorship. She has immensely helped me in planning, foreseeing, and carrying out my research. She has instilled in me core values about scientific curiosity and study. She believed in me when I was in doubt. I thank her for assisting me in making my presentations, seminars, and correcting my scientific writing in research articles. Above all I thank her for the time she has invested in me to help me become a good researcher.

I thank my doctoral committee members, Dr. Kausik Chattopadhyay and Dr. Mahak Sharma, for their suggestions and continued interest in my work. They have encouraged me and given me scientific input with regard to my experiments. I thank them for their close involvement with my research.

I express my heartfelt thanks to all my colleagues who have helped me learn various aspects of experimental work. I thank Dr. Praveen Sharma with whom I worked with when I had joined the program. He taught me several skills and techniques that helped me in my work. I thank Vinica with whom I have performed experiments involving mice. She has been working joyfully alongside me for the past year. I thank Barkha, Sachin, and Anish, who have helped me in the animal experiments. I thank Dr. Ranjai, who helped me in experiments related to bacterial manipulation. I thank my lab mates, Junaid and Shelly, with whom I joined Dr. Arunika's lab. It has been a growing experience for me. I thank my lab mates who joined after me, Krishna, Aakanksha, and Deepinder for their encouragement, love, and efforts in helping me with my work. I enjoyed teaching them and seeing them grow into the wonderful people they are. They have been a family to me away from home. I also am indebted to Dr. Kausik's lab members with whom we intimately work with.

I thank IISER Mohali and DBT, India for providing financial support and resources that helped me carry out my research. I thank DBT, India for providing me fellowship for my doctoral studies.

I am deeply and forever grateful to my parents and sister for their love. My parents have made it possible for me to achieve things that remain a privilege for many. I thank them for their guidance, patience, emotional support, and encouragement. They provided for all of my needs and desires in all of their capacity. I thank my younger sister for her companionship and friendship. I thank my family for being my anchor during tough times. I would like to thank my fiancé for his support, friendship, authentic advice, constant reassurance, and for being my sunshine when the skies are gray.

Above all, I am grateful to the Lord God Almighty, Whose grace and blessings permeate each and every aspect of my life.

He who dwells in the secret place of the Most High Shall abide under the shadow of the Almighty. I will say of the Lord, "He is my refuge and my fortress; My God, in Him I will trust." ~Psalm 91:1,2

Table of Contents

I. Introduction	1
1.1 Gram-negative enteric bacteria	3
1.1.1 Gram-negative enteric pathogens employ multiple strategies to overcome host's protective barriers	.3
1.2 Vibrio cholerae is the causal organism of cholera, a human	
diarrheal disease	5
1.2.1 Life cycle of V. cholerae	6
1.2.2 History of cholera	6
1.2.3 Symptoms of cholera	7
1.2.4 Cholera treatment and vaccines	7
1.2.5 V. cholerae pathogenesis factors	8
1.3 Outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria	11
1.3.1 Porins: A class of outer membrane proteins (OMPs)	12
1.3.2 Multiple functions of porins	13
1.3.3 Immune cells possess pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs)	.14
1.3.4 OMPs of V. cholera	17
1.3.5 OmpU, an important candidate in V. cholerae pathogenesis	17
1.4 Objectives of the study	19
II. Materials and Methods	21
2.1 Recombinant OmpU purification	.23
2.2 Wild type OmpU purification	24
2.3 Protein estimation by Bradford's assay	25
2.4 Limulus amebocyte lysate assay	25
2.5 Cell lines, primary cells, and cell culture conditions	27
2.6 Isolation of human peripheral blood cells	27

2.7 Mice	
2.8 Isolation of murine peritoneal cells	28
2.9 Murine DC differentiation from bone marrow cells	
2.10 Isolation of dendritic cells from murine spleen	28
2.11 CD4 ⁺ T-cell isolation from murine spleen	29
2.12 Experimental designs	30
2.13 MTT-cell viability assay	
2.14 LDH-release assay for measuring cytotoxicity	
2.15 Nitric oxide estimation	
2.16 RNA isolation and purification	
2.17 cDNA synthesis	
2.18 Semi-quantitative PCR	40
2.19 Primer sequences used for gene-expression analyses	40
2.20 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	
2.21 Whole cell lysate preparation	43
2.22 Nuclear lysate preparation	43
2.23 SDS-PAGE and western blotting	44
2.24 Co-immunoprecipitation	45
2.25 Staining for surface molecules for flow-cytometry assay	46
2.26 Phagocytosis assay	46
2.27 BrdU-incorporation cell proliferation assay	47
2.28 <i>V. cholerae</i> growth curve determination	47
2.29 Isolation of naturally secreted by vesicles by <i>V. cholerae</i>	47
2.30 Isolation of <i>V. cholerae</i> outer membrane	48

III. Results	51
Chapter 1: Modulation of pro-inflammatory mediators by OmpU	55
3.1 Inflammation: The most primitive, primary, and a potent host defence response	55

3.1.1 The acute phase is initiated by phagocytosis: An indispensable immune mechanism for the removal of pathogens and cell debris
3.1.2 PAMP and PRR interactions shape the inflammatory response
3.1.3 The acute phase response is a systemic response critical for reestablishing homeostasis
3.1.4 Monocytes and macrophages are crucial mediators of the innate immune response
3.2 Objective
3.3 Results
3.3.1 OmpU induces NO production in RAW 264.7 macrophages59
3.3.2 OmpU induces TNF α production in monocytes and macrophages60
3.3.3 OmpU induces IL-6 production in monocytes and macrophages61
 3.3.4 Pro-inflammatory mediator production in response to OmpU purified recombinantly from <i>E. coli</i> and from wild type <i>V. cholerae</i> is similar
3.3.5 OmpU-pretreatment down-regulates LPS-mediated pro-inflammatory mediator production in monocytes and macrophages
3.3.6 OmpU-pretreatment down-regulates LPS-mediated cytokine production in IECs65
3.3.7 OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated cells do not exhibit decreased cell viability
3.4 Conclusions
Chapter 2: Induction of LPS tolerance by OmpU
4.1 LPS is a potent pro-inflammatory mediator
4.1.1 LPS behaves as a PAMP and mediates its effects via TLR activation
4.1.2 LPS can induce monocyte and macrophage tolerance70
4.1.3 Monocytes and macrophages can display anti-inflammatory phenotype under certain conditions
4.1.4 Deciphering the commonalities and differences between the mechanisms and characteristics of macrophage tolerance and alternate activation

4.2 Objective	75
4.3 Results	76
4.3.1 OmpU-pretreatment does not enhance M2-polarization markers on LPS-stimulation	76
4.3.2 IL-10 production is partially responsible for the down-regulation of pro-inflammatory mediators in OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated cells	78
4.3.3 LPS activates TLR signaling by the TLR2/6-MyD88 dependent pathway	80
4.3.4 OmpU-pretreatment attenuates LPS-mediated TLR signaling by decreasing the association of signaling mediators	81
4.3.5 OmpU-pretreatment enhances LPS-mediated IRAK-M expression in RAW 264.7 cells	83
4.3.6 OmpU-pretreatment alters LPS-mediated translocation of transcription factors	85
4.3.7 Assessing effect of OmpU-pretreatment on LPS-driven macrophage function	86
4.3.7.1 OmpU-pretreatment enhances phagocytosis of LPS-stimulated cells	86
4.3.7.2 OmpU-pretreatment decreases LPS-induced surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules	87
4.4 Conclusion	88
Chapter 3: Dendritic cell activation by OmpU	93
5.1 DCs act as sensors, sentinels, and seekers of infectious agents	93
5.1.1 Inflammasomes: Responders to PAMPs and mediators of innate immunity	93
5.1.2 Different types of inflammasomes recognize several innate immune activators	94
5.2 Objective	96
5.3 Results	97
5.3.1 Differentiated BMDCs and isolated splenic DCs express CD11c	97
5.3.2 OmpU induces pro-inflammatory mediator production in murine BMDCs	97

5.3.3 OmpU activation of DCs is independent of TLR2 and TLR4 signaling
5.3.4 OmpU-induced TNFα and IL-6 in BMDCs is mediated by MAPKs, p38 and JNK and transcription factors, NFκB and AP-1100
5.3.5 OmpU-induced IL-1β in DCs is mediated by MAPKs, p38 and JNK and transcription factors, NFκB and AP-1102
5.3.6 OmpU-mediated IL-1β production in DCs is mediated by the NLRP3 inflammasome
5.4 Conclusion105
Chapter 4: Modulation of adaptive responses by OmpU107
6.1 Dendritic cells are professional antigen-presenting cells; bridging innate and adaptive responses
6.1.1 The interaction of DCs with CD4 ⁺ T cells can lead to different immunological outcomes
6.1.2 Interaction of DCs and CD4 ⁺ T cells shapes subsequent adaptive responses
6.2 Objective111
6.3 Results112
6.3.1 OmpU induces maturation of dendritic cells and macrophages112
6.3.2 OmpU induces a high IL-12/IL-10 production ratio in murine BMDCs
6.3.3 OmpU-primed splenic DCs polarize CD4 ⁺ T cells towards Th1-type response <i>in vitro</i> 113
6.4 Conclusion114
IV. Discussion 117
V. References
VI. Synopsis161

List of Tables

Table 1. Cholera Pandemics	6–7
Table 2. Pathogenesis factors of V. cholerae	8
Table 3. PRRs families and specificities for PAMPs	16
Table 4. OMPs of V. cholerae	17
Table 5. Standard preparation for Bradford's assay	25
Table 6. Standard preparation for Limulus amoebocyte lysate assay	
Table 7. Limulus amoebocyte lysate assay procedure	
Table 8. Standard preparation for nitric oxide estimation	
Table 9. cDNA synthesis-reaction mix	
Table 10. Semi-qPCR synthesis-reaction mix	40
Table 11. Buffer composition for SDS-PAGE.	44
Table 12. Extent of down-regulation of LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators in monocytes, macrophages, and IECs	66
Table 13. Different T-cell polarizations and their biological effects	110

List of Illustrations

Illustration 1: Regulation of ToxR-mediated virulence factor production by quorum signals in <i>V. cholerae</i>	11
Illustration 2: Outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria	12
Illustration 3: Structure of porin	13
Illustration 4: Cells of the immune system	14
Illustration 5. Experimental design to assess OmpU-mediated effects	30
Illustration 6. Experimental design to assess effect of OmpU-pretreatment on LPS- mediated responses	31
Illustration 7. Experimental design to assess effect of OmpU-pretreatment on LPS-mediated IL-12 production in human PBMCs	33
Illustration 8. Experimental design to determine OmpU-mediated responses in mouse BMDCs hyphens in bone marrow and molecule determination.	34
Illustration 9. Experimental design to determine effect of OmpU-primed DCs on CD4 ⁺ T cells	35
Illustration 10. Experimental design to determine effects of TLR-neutralizing antibodies and inhibitors of signaling mediators on OmpU-mediated responses	36
Illustration 11. Multiple steps in the inflammatory response	56
Illustration 12. Monocytes and macrophages mediate inflammation	58
Illustration 13. Cell surface TLR signaling cascade leading to activation of pro-inflammatory transcription factors	70
Illustration 14. Tolerant monocytes and macrophages exhibit decreased pro-inflammatory response	71
Illustration 15. Different functions of macrophage polarization	72
Illustration 16. Negative regulators of TLR signaling	74
Illustration 17. General structure of inflammasomes and their activators	95
Illustration 18. Canonical activation of inflammasomes	96

Illustration 19. APC-T cell interaction: MHC and co-stimulatory molecules	
anti-presenting cells	108
Illustration 20. Summary of OmpU-induced responses in monocytes and macrophages	126
Illustration 21. Summary of OmpU-induced responses in dendritic cells and T cells	.130

List of Figures

Fig. 1. OmpU induces NO production in RAW 264.7 cells in a time and	
dose-dependent manner	60
Fig. 2. OmpU induces TNFα in RAW 264.7, THP-1 cells, and human PBMCs	61
Fig. 3. OmpU induces IL-6 in RAW 264.7, THP-1 cells, and human PBMCs	62
Fig. 4. Recombinant OmpU and wild type OmpU responses in RAW 264.7 cells	63
Fig. 5. OmpU-pretreatment decreases LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators in monocytes and macrophages	64
Fig. 6. OmpU-pretreatment decreases LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators in HT29 human intestinal epithelial cell line	66
Fig. 7. Assessment of cell health by MTT Assay	67
Fig. 8. OmpU-pretreatment does not induce up-regulation of key M2-polarization markers in LPS-activated RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cell lines	77
Fig. 9. OmpU-induced IL-10 production is partially responsible for down-regulation of LPS-mediated TNFα production	79
Fig. 10. LPS mediates its signaling in a TLR2/6-MyD88-dependent manner in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cell lines	81
Fig. 11. OmpU-pretreatment affects LPS-mediated TLR2/TLR6 dimerization, MyD88 recruitment to the receptor complex, and IRAK recruitment to MyD88	82
Fig. 12. OmpU-pretreatment does not enhance negative regulators of TLR signaling in LPS-activated RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells except Irak-m in PAW 264.7 cells	0 /
Fig. 13. OmpU-pretreatment alters LPS-mediated translocation of nuclear factors	84 .85

Fig. 14. OmpU-p on stime	pretreatment enhances phagocytosis of RAW 264.7 cells ulation with LPS	86
Fig. 15. OmpU-p co-stim peritone	pretreatment decreases surface expression of LPS-mediated ulatory molecules in RAW 264.7 and mouse eal macrophages	87
Fig. 16. CD11c e splenic	expression by differentiated BMDCs and purified DCs	97
Fig. 17. OmpU i murine	nduces pro-inflammatory cytokine production in BMDCs	98
Fig. 18. OmpU i is TLR2	nduced pro-inflammatory cytokine production in DCs 2 and TLR4-independent	99
Fig. 19. OmpU- on MAI	induced TNF α and IL-6 production in BMDCs is dependent PKs, and NF κ B and AP-1 transcription factors	101
Fig. 20. OmpU and NF	induced IL-1 β production in DCs is dependent on MAPKs, κ B and AP-1 transcription factors	102
Fig. 21. OmpU i NLRP3	nduced IL-1β production in DCs is dependent on inflammasome and caspase-1 activation	104
Fig. 22. OmpU e in macr	enhances surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules rophages and BMDCs	112
Fig. 23. OmpU i	nduces a high IL-12/IL-10 ratio in BMDCs	113
Fig. 24. OmpU-p induce	primed DCs increase CD4 ⁺ T-cell proliferation and IFNγ secretion <i>in vitro</i>	114

List of Abbreviations

- ACE: Accessory cholera enterotoxin
- ACP: Accessory colonization factors
- APC: Antigen-presenting cells
- APPs: Acute phase-response proteins
- ASC: Apoptosis associated speck-like containing a CARD
- BMDC: Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell
- BPI-2: Bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein
- BSA: Bovine serum albumin
- CARD: Caspase-recruiting domain
- CCL: Cysteine–cysteine ligand
- CFA: Complete Freud's adjuvant
- CT: Cholera toxin
- CXCR: Cysteine-x-cysteine receptor
- DAMP: Danger-associated molecular patterns
- DC: Dendritic cell
- ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- HA: Hemaglutinins
- IEC: Intestinal epithelial cells
- IL: Interleukin
- IRAK: Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase
- LAL: Limulus amebocyte lysate
- LDAO: N,N-Dimethyldodecylamine-N-oxide
- LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase

LPS: Lipopolysaccharide

LRR: Leucine-rich repeat domain

MKP-1: MAPK phosphatase 1

MTT: 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide

MyD88: Myeloid differentiation factor 88

NACHT: Nucleoside triphosphatase domain

NFκB: Nuclear factor kappa B

NK: Natural killer

NO: Nitric oxide

PAGE: Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

PAMP: Pathogen-associated molecular patterns

PBS: Phosphate buffer saline

PKA: Protein kinase A

PMA: Phorbol mystistate acetate

PmB: Polymyxin B sulfate

PRR: Pattern-recognition receptors

PYD: Pyrin domain

RNI: Reactive nitrogen intermediates

ROS: Reactive oxygen species

SDS: Sodium dodecyl sulphate

SHIP-1: SH2-containing 5'-inositol phosphatase

SOCS: Suppressor of cytokine signaling

TBST: Tris buffer saline with Tween

TCP: Toxin co-regulated pilus

TF: Tissue factor

TLR: Toll-like receptor

- TNFα: Tumor necrosis factor alpha
- TOLLIP: Toll-interacting protein
- VCC: V. cholerae cytolysin
- ZOT: Zonula occludens toxin

I Introduction

1.1 Gram-negative enteric bacteria

Enteric bacteria are gram-negative facultative anaerobes that reside in the intestines. Some enteric bacterial species are present as commensals. They constitute the normal microbial flora and are not pathogenic generally at their usual bodily location, however, pathogenic species constitute a dominant proportion of enteric bacteria [1].

Commensals, such as, *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella enteritidis*, *Klebsiella* spp., *Enterobacter* spp., *Proteus mirabilis*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, etc., provide an important barrier against pathogens. Their presence prevents pathogen colonization as they compete for nutritional and spatial resources [2-4]. Furthermore, the host possesses multiple barriers, which prevent pathogen survival. The gut environment acts as a barrier for invading pathogens as it offers a hostile environment for them. The acidic pH of the gastric juices is not hospitable for microbes. Bile acids metabolize fats and are harmful to the lipid bilayers of microbes. Anti-microbial factors, such as, defensins, histatins, cathelicidins, lysozymes, ribonucleases, etc., secreted by specialized intestinal cells known as Paneth cells, as well as, colicins secreted by commensal *E. coli* provide another level of protection [5,6].

In spite of these multiple barriers, several pathogens establish themselves in the gut. The most well-known pathogenic genera of enteric bacteria include members of *Shigella*, *Salmonella*, *Yersinia*, *Vibrio*, *Serratia*, *Klebsiella*, *Enterobacter*, etc. [7,8]. However, normal gut microbiota may become pathogenic when the host's immune system is compromised. Coliform bacteria, such as, *Escherichia*, *Klebsiella*, *Enterobacter*, *Serratia*, and *Citrobacter* are opportunistic pathogens [9]. For example, non-pathogenic strains of *E. coli* are present in the large intestine but pathogenic strains, such as, enterotoxigenic *E. coli*, enteroinvasive *E. coli*, enterohemorrhagic *E. coli*, enteropathogenic *E. coli*, and enteroaggregative *E. coli* are responsible for urinary tract infections, meningitidis, and gastroenteritis.

1.1.1 Gram-negative enteric pathogens employ multiple strategies to overcome the host's protective barriers

Enteric pathogens can lead to diarrhea and enteric fever and cause up to more than 3 million deaths every year [10]. The traditional infectious cycle of pathogenic enteric bacteria involves entry into the host, establishment and multiplication in the gut, avoidance of host defenses during pathogenesis, induction of damage, and finally, release from the host.

Pathogens can establish themselves in the gut by overcoming multiple host-protective barriers. They adhere to the intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) and avoid being swept away by mucus secretions and the peristaltic movement of the alimentary canal [11]. Adhesins are proteins that mediate this attachment process. They can be pili proteins or non-pili proteins that have immunoglobulin domain-like structures [12]. Further, formation of biofilm protects bacteria from anti-microbial factors [6]. Certain bacterial species can degrade and efflux out anti-microbial peptides or modify the charge on their membrane to prevent binding of these factors altogether [11]. Following colonization in the intestine, enteric pathogens may produce secretory exotoxins, cytotoxins, and other virulence factors. Pathogens may employ secretion systems, which are needle-like structures that allow the transport of toxins and pathogenic effectors from the bacteria to the host cells. These effectors alter and exploit immune responses and ensure bacterial survival [12].

Furthermore, enteric pathogens can also evade immune recognition and responses. They may proteolytically cleave antibodies present on host mucosal surfaces that mediate opsonization [11]. Bacteria may modify or shield their exposed proteins that may be recognized by the immune system [11]. They may also delay or interfere with intra-cellular trafficking to prevent their internalization by immune cells. Pathogens can evade phagocytosis by forming capsules, triggering toxin-mediated damage, and by inducing apoptosis in phagocytes [13,14]. *Salmonella* and *Shigella* trigger apoptosis in phagocytes [15,16], whereas, *Yersinia* promotes anti-inflammatory responses to prevent elimination [17].

In contrast to avoidance of immune recognition, some pathogens may trigger pro-inflammatory responses. For example, *Shigella* induces release of cytokines. This in turn, helps in cellular invasion as the vasculature becomes permeabilized [18]. It contains genes on virulence plasmids that facilitate this process. Pathogenicity islands also play a major role in virulence. Pathogenicity islands are usually genes incorporated in the bacterial genome acquired by horizontal gene transfer from other bacteriophages, plasmids, or transposons. One such island in *Helicobacter pylori* is CagA, which initiates pro-inflammatory responses in the stomach epithelium [19]. Thus, pathogens can take advantage of the host-defense mechanisms to establish themselves and cause diseases.

1.2 Vibrio cholerae is the causal organism of cholera, a human diarrheal disease

Cholera is characterized by nausea, vomiting, fever, and diarrhea and may be fatal if left untreated. Cholera has relentlessly affected the world and continues to pose a threat to many of the countries even today. There have been seven pandemics of cholera since the 1800s with the seventh still continuing presently [20]. As of December 2015, several Middle East and East African countries, such as, Iraq, Syria, Bahrain, Kuwait, Uganda, Tanzania, Haiti, and Myanmar faced outbreaks. *V. cholerae* is a gram-negative, commashaped facultative anaerobe that colonizes in the small intestine of the human host and causes cholera. John Snow, a physician, first proposed that cholera was caused by a micro-organism present in human waste in 1849 [21]. The bacterium was first isolated by Italian anatomist Filippo Pacini. Robert Koch further proved that the causal organism of cholera was bacterial in origin in 1883 [22].

Scientific classification of V. cholerae

Domain: Bacteria Phylum: Proteobacteria Class: Gammaproteobacteria Order: Vibrionales Family: Vibrionaceae Genus: *Vibrio* Species: *cholerae*

Not all of the *V. cholerae* strains are pathogenic. There are about 200 different serogroups of *V. cholerae* based on differences between the O antigens present in the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [21-25]. Out of these, only two are known to be toxigenic: O1 and O139, which produce the cholera toxin (CT). The other strains induce mild dysentery. The O1 serogroup can further be divided into two biotypes based on phenotypic characteristics: Classical serotype and El Tor biotype. These two biotypes differ in their polymyxin B (PmB)- and phage susceptibility; hemolytic and agglutination abilities; and production of acetylmetylcarbinol, a carbon source [26]. These biotypes can be further divided into three serotype is unstable and does not exist independently. The Ogawa and Inaba serotypes have a common O1 antigen, known as the A-antigen, which is a homopolymer of amino sugar D-perosamine substituted with 3-deoxy-L-glycerotetronic acid [27]. But these serotypes differ in the 2-O-methyl group present in the non-reducing terminal sugar

of the Ogawa O antigen (B-antigen) which is absent in the Inaba O antigen (C-antigen) [28]. Seroconversion between the Ogawa and Inaba serotypes is known to occur [29].

1.2.1 Life cycle of V. cholerae

V. cholerae naturally persists in aquatic environments, where it is found attached to crustaceans and feeds on algae and planktons. Ingestion of contaminated seafood or unsterilized water, leads to colonization in the small intestine, after which the disease symptoms begin [21,22]. The bacteria are shed via stool and the spread of the disease occurs via the fecal–oral route. Thus, the prevalence of cholera is much more in developing nations, where sanitation and hygiene practices are poorly followed [20].

Quorum sensing plays an important role in the pathogenesis of *V. cholerae*. Quorumsensing signals allow communication between bacterial communities and shape group behavior. The levels of quorum sensing molecules known as autoinducers, vary during different stages of colonization. At a high bacterial density, when *V. cholerae* is present in aquatic environments, the levels of autoinducers repress the production of biofilm and virulence factors. During colonization in the human gut, the bacterial density decreases and the levels of autoinducers are reduced. This leads to virulence-gene expression and biofilm formation, and thus, pathogenesis initiation [30,31].

1.2.2 History of cholera

The earliest records of cholera are found in the writings of Hippocrates. He coined the word *cholera* that is derived from the Greek word—*kholē*, meaning bile. He thought that the diarrhea was caused due to an excess of bile. The modern occurrence of cholera was first reported in 1817, in the Indian subcontinent. Since then, there have been a total of seven pandemics that have been summarized below (Table 1).

Time period	Affected Areas
1816–1826	India, China, and Indonesia
1829–1851	Russia, Hungary, Germany, UK, France, Canada, and
	USA
1852–1860	Russia, Indonesia, Phillipines, Korea, India, Iran, Iraq,
	Arabia, USA, Spain, Venezuela, Brazil, and Tunisia
	Time period 1816–1826 1829–1851 1852–1860

Fourth	1863–1875	Zanzibar, Netherlands, Belgium, Italy, Algeria, and UK
Fifth	1881–1896	Russia, Persia, Egypt, Japan, and Germany
Sixth	1899–1923	Russia, India, USA, and Philippines
Seventh	1961–1975	Indonesia, Bangladesh, and Russia
Outbreaks	1991–	Peru, India, Republic of Congo, USA, Iraq, Vietnam,
	Present	South Africa, Zimbabwe, Haiti, Dominican Republic,
		Cuba, Venezuela, Iraq, Nepal, Pakistan, Iran,
		Bangladesh, Laos, Cambodia, Vietnam, Afghanistan,
		India, China, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, Kenya, Zimbabwe,
		Zambia, Angola, Somalia, Ethiopia, Ivory Coast, Congo,
		Mozambique, Ghana, Guinea, Mali, and Ukraine

Table 1. Cholera pandemics [21]

1.2.3 Symptoms of cholera

V. cholerae may not produce symptoms in approximately 75% of the people. However, people can still act as carriers and the bacteria may be present in the feces for about 1–2 weeks [32]. The incubation period for the bacteria can last from 1–5 days. Cholera is characterized by grayish rice-water diarrhea and up to 1 liter of fluid may be lost per hour in acute cases [33]. This may lead to sunken eyes, poor skin turgor, excessive thirst, increased heart rate, low blood pressure, no urine output, and sometimes loss of consciousness. The mortality rate is less than 1% when cholera is treated on time [34]. However, if cholera is left untreated the mortality rate can rise to 50–60%. About 3–5 million people are affected by cholera globally, and it can lead to 58,000–130,000 deaths per year as of 2010 according to WHO report [35].

1.2.4 Cholera treatment and vaccines

Currently, oral rehydration therapy or ORS is the first step taken to combat dehydration caused by extreme diarrhea. ORS is an isotonic solution of glucose and electrolytes. WHO data indicate that 80% patients can be treated with ORS, however the other 20% might need intra-venous administration of electrolytes. Antibiotics, such as, tetracycline, doxycycline, furazolidone, or ciprofloxacin may be used to control the disease [35].

Jaume Ferran i Clua, a Spanish physician, was the first to develop a cholera vaccine in 1885. In 1892, a Russian–Jewish bacteriologist Waldemar Haffkine developed another version of the vaccine [36]. Currently, two oral vaccines against cholera are available, Dukoral and Shanchol [35]. Dukoral consists of killed whole cells of *V. cholerae* O1 along with recombinant CTB subunit. Whereas, Sanchol consists of killed whole cells of *V. cholerae* O1 and O139. Both vaccines offer short-term protection of 85–90% till 4–6 months following immunization. The National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, NIH, USA, is currently developing live vaccine candidates. One candidate, Peru-15, is in the final stages of development. The *V. cholerae* O1 live oral vaccine has a deletion of CT genetic element, insertion CTB subunit gene, and is non-motile [37]. The other candidate, CVD–103HgR, is available in Europe and America. It is a live attenuated strain of *V. cholerae* O1 that has a deleted CTA subunit along with a mercury-resistance gene that serves as a selection marker [38].

1.2.5 V. cholerae pathogenesis factors

V. cholerae genome contains two pathogenicity islands that are crucial for its pathogenesis in the human gut. The first island includes genes for CT (acquired from the CTX phage) and the other island includes genes for accessory colonization factors (ACP) and toxin co-regulated pilus (TCP) (carried by M13-like VPI phage) [20,24,39]. Several virulence genes are also present in the genome apart from these two islands. These factors have been summarized below (Table 2).

Toxins	СТ
	Zonula occludens toxin
	Accessory cholera enterotoxin
	Cytolysin
Hemagglutinins	Hemagglutinin/protease
	Mannose-sensitive HA
	Mannose fucose-resistant HA
Toxin co-regulated pilus	Eight factors: TCPA–F, TCPQ–S
Accessory colonization factors	Four factors: ACPA–D

Table 2. Pathogenesis factors of V. cholerae

1.2.5.1 Toxins

The most notorious *V. cholerae* pathogenic factor is the CT. It consists of two types of subunits; A subunit, is single unit that has ribosylase enzymatic activity; and five B subunits, which form a ring around the A subunit and are involved in membrane binding. The intact toxin binds to GM1 gangliosides and is endocytosed. The toxin undergoes cleavage in the endoplasmic reticulum and the free A subunit acts on G protein, leading to an increase in cAMP levels and subsequently protein kinase A (PKA). PKA phosphorylates the Cl⁻ channel, CFTR (cystic fibrosis transmembrane receptor), leading to a ATP-dependent efflux of Cl⁻ and thus, a loss of K⁺, Na⁺, HCO⁻ and water into the intestinal lumen [20,21,40].

Another toxin, the zonula occludens toxin (ZOT) increases intestinal cell permeability by phospholipase C- and protein kinase C-dependent polymerization of actin present in the intestinal tight junctions [41]. The accessory cholera enterotoxin (ACE) affects ion transport across channels by increasing the potential difference across the intestinal cell membrane [42]. Thus, these three toxins behave in a synergetic manner to initiate loss of electrolytes from intestinal cells. Another toxin, *V. cholerae* cytolysin (VCC) is a poreforming toxin that lyses intestinal cells [43].

1.2.5.2 Hemagglutinins

Hemagglutinins (HA) are lectins or glycan-binding proteins that cause agglutination of erythrocytes. *V. cholerae* has a few HAs that contribute to its pathogenesis. Hemagglutinin/protease (HA/protease) is zinc-dependent metalloprotease that acts on the host intestinal cell proteins, such as, mucin, fibronectin, and lactoferrin and activates the CTA subunit and other cytolysins [44]. Mannose-sensitive HA encodes for a type IV-pilus subunit in El Tor strains and helps in colonization [45]. Mannose fucose-resistant HA is another HA that is present in all O1 strains and is also involved in bacterial colonization [46].

1.2.5.3 TCP and ACFs

Pili play an important role in adherence to human-gut epithelial cells. The TCP complex consists of different genes that encode for multiple pili proteins that help in evasion of an immune response, which might be generated against pili proteins. Four ACF–ORFs are

present. Their specific function has not been elucidated, but one of the ORFs codes for a lipoprotein [39,47,48].

1.2.5.4 Levels of quorum sensing signals modulate V. cholerae survival and virulence mechanisms in the intestine

During initial stages of V. cholerae entry into the intestine, when the bacterial population is dense, the quorum-signaling mediators, autoinducers, maintain high levels of HapR, a transcription factor that represses virulence gene expression and biofilm formation [31]. However, environmental conditions, such as, low pH, presence of bile acids, anti-microbial factors, and osmotic stress are barriers that need to overcome for successful establishment. V. cholerae employs multiple strategies to combat these protective mechanisms. Intestinal cells produce hydrogen peroxide, which is an important anti-microbial factor. In response, V. cholerae increases levels of RpoS, a stationary phase alternative sigma factor, which confers resistance to the hydrogen peroxide generated [31]. In addition, RpoS also ensures survival in hyperosmolaric and carbondeficient conditions. CT secreted by V. cholerae leads to nitric oxide (NO) production and release of defensins. At this stage, HapR induces production of HA/protease, which mediates detachment from the intestinal epithelium. This phenomenon is termed as the "mucosal evasion response" that occurs due to the combined effect of increased levels of RpoS and quorum signals, which ensure high levels of HapR. Therefore, the mucosal evasion response allows V. cholerae to occupy new sites in the intestinal lumen. This response also ensures that the virulence-mediator production does not occur during this transition and also, prevents a high-energy expenditure cost [31].

On implantation at a new site, the low density of bacteria co-relates with decreased levels of autoinducers. Due to a low quorum signal, HapR levels decrease, promoting expression of virulence mediators [30]. Loss of HapR, results in increased production of AphA and AphB transcription factors that regulate the ToxR regulon, which is a master virulence-gene controller. ToxR regulates around 20–30 virulence genes, such as, the CT (ctxAB), TCP (tcpPH), and ACP (acpI–IV) [49-51].

AphA and AphB induce production of two membrane proteins TcpP/H. TcpP/H in conjunction with two other membrane proteins, ToxR/S, mediate virulence-factor production. The TcpP/H genes are found in pathogenic strains, whereas the ToxR/S genes

are found in all strains [52]. Without signals from TcpP/H, ToxR/S does not mediate virulence. Instead, ToxR/S control genes involved in metabolism, such as, maltose- and glycerol metabolism, peptide transport, acetyl phosphate kinases, and genes involved in motility and chemotaxis [52].

The TcpP/H-induced ToxR/S activation triggers expression of another transcription factor, ToxT, which stimulates production of CT, TCP, and ACP factors [49,50,52-58]. The ToxR regulon also controls expression of two channel proteins, OmpU and OmpT porins. The expression of OmpU is positively regulated and that of OmpT, negatively, by the regulon; but in a ToxT-independent manner (Illustration 1) [24,39,59].



Illustration 1: Regulation of ToxR-mediated virulence factor production by quorum signals in V. cholerae

1.3 Outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria

Gram-negative bacteria contain an additional membrane, the outer membrane apart from the peptidoglycan layer that is present in both, gram-positive- and gram-negative bacteria. The outer membrane forms the interface between the cell and its external environment and thus, acts as a physical and functional barrier. It controls transport of solutes and prevents entry of antibiotics, detergents, and other toxic chemicals into the bacterial cell.

The outer membrane consists of protein complexes, lipoproteins, and LPS (Illustration 2). These proteins account for ~50% of outer membrane mass and are encoded by approximately one-third of the bacterial genome [60]. They perform multiple roles: they can have enzymatic activity (phospholipase A), have structural roles, act as siderophore transporters, or aid in solute transport [61].



Illustration 2: Outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria

1.3.1 Porins: A class of outer membrane proteins (OMPs)

A class of OMPs involved in solute transport (< 600 Da) is porins, which form pores across the outer membrane. Their expression ranges from 10^4 – 10^6 copies per cell, depending on the type of bacterium and environmental conditions [62]. Porins can be general diffusive porins or can have specificities for certain solutes. They are β -barrel in structure and usually contain 16–18 β -strands that join together to form a cylindrical structure [60]. Porins can exist as monomers or trimers (Illustration 3). Most sequences among porins are conserved, however, the most variable regions are found in the sequences that form loops between the β -sheets and the loop that invades the interior pore region or the eyelet region of the porin [63]. The amino acid residues present in the eyelet region create an electrostatic gradient that allows the passage of oppositely charged solute through the porin [63].



Illustration 3: Structure of Porin (Modified: Achouck et al, 2001[61]; Zeith and Thein, 2010 [64])

1.3.2 Multiple functions of porins

Porin expression can be regulated by environmental conditions, such as, osmolarity, ionic strength, temperature, heavy metals, antibiotics, bile salts, and aromatic compounds [61]. Bacteria modulate porin expression, size, and amino acid composition to become resistant toward antibiotics [61,65-67]. The loops extending on the outer surface can act as receptors for phages, bacteriocins, epitopes for antibody generation by host immune system, as well as, binding sites for the complement-cascade components [61,68]. Further, porins can aid in pathogenesis. Porins can mediate adhesion and invasion of bacteria into host cells and also induce apoptosis in host cells [69-74].

As the structure of porin is conserved among bacterial species, they can act as pathogenassociated molecular patterns. They can be recognized by the host immune cells because of their conserved structure and elicit pro-inflammatory responses in host immune cells. Several gram-negative bacterial porins, those of *Salmonella*, *Shigella*, and *Nesisseria* have been extensively studied for their pro-inflammatory responses [69,75-95].

1.3.3 Immune cells possess pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs)

Functionally, the immune system can be characterized by two activities, recognition and response. The innate immune system is the first line of host defense and therefore, plays a crucial role in the recognition of pathogens and subsequent initiation of the inflammatory response. The adaptive system is responsible for elimination of microbes during the later stages of infection and for the generation of memory. The lymphocytes of adaptive system, B cells and T cells together, shape the production of antibodies specific to antigens, whereas, the innate immune response is mediated by phagocytes and antigen-presenting cells (APCs), such as, granulocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs). All immune cells are generated from hematopoietic stem cells present in the bone marrow (Illustration 4) [96].



Illustration 4: Cells of the Immune System (Modified: Immunology, Kuby, 5th Edition [96])
The cellular components of the innate immune system are involved in recognition of microbes and their products, which is necessary for their elimination [97]. Innate immune cells recognize patterns present on pathogens (PAMPs) by PRRs. PAMPs are important for the innate immune system for three main reasons. First, PAMPs are ubiquitous across all microbial species. Every class of microbes is characterized by a certain set of PAMPs. Second, PAMPs are unique to microbes and hence allow discrimination between self and non-self molecules. Third, PAMPs are recognized by the host immune system and thus, make microbial evasion challenging.

The recognition of PAMPs by PRRs, usually leads to inflammatory and anti-microbial responses through signaling cascades, which result in transcription of cytokines, chemokines, cell adhesion molecules, and immune-receptors [98]. This innate immune recognition leads to an early host response to infection, which is subsequently crucial for shaping the adaptive immune response. The nature of PAMP determines the type of innate immune response initiated by monocytes, macrophages, DCs, etc. Furthermore, the epitopes of PAMPs presented by APCs, govern the type of T-cell responses generated. This in turn, defines the B cell-mediated antibody reaction. Therefore, recognition of PAMPs by the host is important for responses initiated by both branches of immunity.

PAMP-recognition by PRRs initiates the innate immune response that may consist of complement activation, phagocytosis, and autophagy. Currently, there are four families of PRRs: Toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), and RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), which recognize various PAMPs (Table 3) [97-99]. All classes of PRRs are involved in recognizing multiple PAMPs present on the same pathogen. Thus, no single class of pathogen, such as, virus, bacteria, fungi, protozoa, or parasites is recognized by only a single type of PRR family.

Toll-like Receptors		
Cell surface	TLR1/TLR2	Peptidoglycans, porins
	TLR2/TLR6	Lipoproteins, LPS
	TLR4	LPS
	TLR5	Flagellin
	TLR11	Profilin
	TLR12	Profilin
Endosomal	TLR3	dsRNA
	TLR7	ssRNA
	TLR8	ssRNA
	TLR9	Unmethylated CpG DNA
NOD-like Receptors	NOD1	Muramyl dipeptide (peptidoglycan component)
(Intra-cellular)	NOD2	iE-DAP (peptidoglycan component)
	IPAF	Inflammasome; cytosolic flagellin
	NLRP1	Inflammasome; allergy, autoimmune complexes
	NLRP3	Inflammasome; toxins, urea, asbestos, prion
C-type Lectin	Galectin-3	β-mannosides
Receptors	Minicle	Mannans
(Cell surface)	DC-SIGN	N-linked mannan, viruses, mycobacteria
	Dectin-I	Zymosan, β-glucan
	Dectin-II	Fungal hyphae, N-linked mannan
RIG-I-like receptors	RIG-I	dsRNA
(Intra-cellular)	MDA5	dsRNA, ssRNA
	LGP2	Heterodimerizes with RIG-I and MDA5

Table 3. PRRs families and specificities for PAMPs [100]

1.3.4 OMPs of V. cholerae

Being a gram-negative bacterium, *V. cholerae* harbors OMPs and porins on its surface, which perform a variety of functions that are summarized (Table 4).

Porin	Function
1. OmpW	Hydrophobic channel; porin
2. OmpS	Maltoporin Maltose/maltodextrin high-affinity receptor, phage lambda receptor protein
3. OmpV	Heat shock protein
4. OmpA	Structural role and heat modifiable
5. OmpH	Putative: porin; unfolded protein binding
6. OmpK	nucleoside-specific channel; porin
7. OmpR	Two-component system response regulator OmpR
8. EnvZ	Osmolarity sensory histidine kinase EnvZ
9. OmpX	Putative: virulence related; complement attack resistance; adherence
10. OmpC	Porin; osmolarity related
11. OmpT	Hydrophobic channel; porin
12. OmpU	Hydrophobic channel; porin
	Table 4. OMPs of V. cholerae

(The SEED: an Annotation/Analysis Tool Provided by FIG [101])

1.3.5 OmpU, an important candidate in V. cholerae pathogenesis

V. cholerae porin OmpU is a 38 kDa protein with 16 β -strands and exists as trimer in its native state. Its structure is closest to the *E. coli* phosphoporin [102]. OmpU has been implicated in pathogenesis in diverse ways. The surface expression of OmpU on the bacterium increases from 30% to 60% in the gut and is controlled by the ToxR regulon

[103]. These increased levels of OmpU help in bacterial survival amidst the harsh conditions. OmpU confers resistance against bile salts. It mediates acid tolerance by preventing entry of bile salts into the bacterium as the diameter of the channel is about 1.6 nm [104,105]. Further, OmpU confers resistance against cationic anti-microbial peptides, such as, bactericidal/permeability increasing protein (BPI-2) and PmB [106]. Anti-microbial peptides alter the electrochemical gradient across the outer membrane and induce membrane perturbations that cause a conformational change of OmpU. This conformation change of OmpU activates the sigma(E) cascade that restores the electrochemical gradient across the membrane [107].

OmpU from other *Vibrio* species is also involved in several host–pathogen interactions. OmpU of *V. splendidus*, an oyster pathogen, is involved in anti-microbial peptide resistance [74]. *V. splendidus* and *V. vulnificus* OmpU help in adherence to host cells [73,108]. OmpU of *V. alginolyticus*, which infects humans, fish, and crustaceans, mediates antibiotic resistance [66]. OmpU from other species, *V. alginolyticus* and *V. harveyi* have been proposed as vaccine candidates [109,110].

Moreover, the OmpU gene is present in environmental, as well as clinical isolates, but is not present in non-pathogenic strains, that is, non-O1 and non-O139 strains [111,112]. Recently, a study suggested that the sequence of OmpU is conserved among epidemic strains of *V. cholerae*, hence proposing its use as a biomarker [113]. Outer membrane vesicles secreted by *V. cholerae*, predominantly contain OmpU. Immunization of mice with secreted vesicles induces protective immunity [114,115]. Antisera from convalescent patients contain antibodies against *V. cholerae* OmpU and other OMPs [116]. Further, researchers observed that the antisera to OmpU, significantly decreases fluid secretion in rabbit ileal loop model induced by *V. cholerae*, on challenge with homologous strain [116]. Further, *V. cholerae* mutant strains exhibiting impaired OmpU expression, decrease the mRNA expression of several pro-inflammatory factors in the intestinal cell line Int407, by modulating the PI3K/Akt–MAPK–NFκB signaling pathway [117-120]. Therefore, these findings suggest that OmpU may play a far more crucial role in *V. cholerae* pathogenesis.

1.4 Objectives of the study

Although numerous studies have contributed toward the understating the role of *V. cholerae* OmpU in pathogenesis, its immunological role remains poorly characterized. We wanted to explore whether OmpU could modulate the host's immune responses: innate and adaptive.

Toward this study, we had two objectives:

- (i) To probe whether OmpU can modulate the inflammatory process induced by monocytes and macrophages.
- (ii) To determine whether OmpU can shape adaptive responses by examining its effects on DCs and T cells.

Π

Materials and Methods

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Recombinant OmpU purification

OmpU gene was cloned in a pET14b plasmid (EMD Millipore, Massachusetts, USA) and transformed into *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) vector [102]. The bacterial inoculum (2%) in Luria broth (#M575, HiMedia, Mumbai, India) media was cultured at 37°C till optical density at 600 nm reached 0.5–0.6. The culture was induced by adding IPTG (final concentration 0.1 M, Sigma–Aldrich #I6758, St. Louis, MI, USA) and incubated for 3 h at 37°C. Culture was pelleted down at 2,000 xg, at 4°C for 20 min. Bacterial cells were lysed in lysis buffer (50 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris, 0.1% Triton-X, pH 7.5) with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma–Alrich #P8465) (1 liter culture—10 ml lysis buffer—100 μ l protease inhibitor). Cell suspension was sonicated at 25–30 A, with 10 sec on–20 sec off pulse till cells were completely lysed. Suspension was then centrifuged at 18,000 xg, 30 min at 4°C in Oakridge tubes. The pelleted inclusion bodies were washed twice with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄ and 1.8 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) supplemented with 100 mM NaCl at 18,000 xg, 15 min at 4°C. Pelleted inclusion bodies were resuspended in 8 M urea (10 ml/ 1 liter culture) and incubated at room temperature for 40 min and subsequently centrifuged at 18,000 xg, 15 min at 4°C.

Solubilized protein was subjected to Nickel–NTA chromatography. Ni–NTA resin (4 ml) (Profinity[™] IMAC resin, Biorad, Hercules, California, USA) was packed into column and washed with 50 ml PBS. Column was equilibrated with 4 ml 8 M urea in PBS. Sample was loaded into column and incubated for 1 h. Column was washed with 20 ml of 20 mM imidazole (HiMedia, #RM1864) in 8 M urea in PBS. Protein was eluted using 300 mM imidazole in 8 M urea in PBS and four fractions of 5 ml each were collected. Fractions containing enriched protein content were further used for refolding of the protein. Nickel purified protein 1 ml fraction was refolded in 10 ml of refolding buffer [10% glycerol, 0.5% LDAO (Sigma–Aldrich #40236) in PBS] by rapid dilution method and addition of protein in 50 µl instalments. Protein was allowed to refold overnight at 4°C. Refolded protein was centrifuged at 18,000 xg, 15 min at 4°C to remove aggregates.

Protein was then purified using size exclusion chromatography. Sephacryl S200 prepacked column (GE Life Sciences, Sunnyvale, California, USA) (1.6*60 cm; bed

volume of 120 ml) was equilibrated with 120 ml buffer (10 mM Tris, 10 mM NaCl, 0.5% LDAO, pH 7.5) and protein sample was loaded. Fractions (2 ml) were pooled according to protein content. Protein content was measured using Bradford's assay, aliquoted and stored at -20° C.

2.2 Wild type OmpU purification

Wild type OmpU protein was isolated from outer membrane of V. cholerae El Tor O1. V. cholerae was cultured in Brain Heart Infusion (Sigma-Aldrich, #53286) liquid broth at 37° C under constant shaking condition until the OD₆₀₀ reached 1.0. Broth was spun at 2,050 xg for 30 min at 4°C, and bacterial cell pellet was suspended in 20 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.6) (10 ml/liter culture) containing bacterial protease inhibitor cocktail. Cells were lysed by ultrasonic disruption and centrifuged at 18,500 xg for 1 h at 4°C. Supernatant was further ultracentrifuged at 350,000 xg for 20 min at 4°C. Pelleted bacterial membrane was resuspended in PBS and ultracentrifuged under similar conditions. The outer membrane fraction was then treated with 1% Sarkosyl NL-97 in PBS (Sigma-Aldrich, #61747) at 37°C, and the pellet was further washed with 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6) by ultracentrifugation at 350,000 xg. Pellet was resuspended in 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6) containing 4% Triton X-100 (Himedia, #MB031), incubated at 37°C for 30 min, and centrifuged at 105,000 xg for 60 min at 4°C. The extracted resuspended membrane proteins (supernatant) were subjected to DEAE-cellulose (Sigma-Aldrich, #D3764) column (10*1.5 cm) equilibrated with 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6) buffer containing 0.1% Triton X-100. For elution, a continuous gradient of 0-0.2 M NaCl in 60 ml of 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6) containing 0.1% Triton X-100 was used. Eluted fractions containing OmpU were further purified by Sephacryl S200 size exclusion chromatography column (1.6*60 cm; bed volume of 120 ml) equilibrated with 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.6) containing 10 mM NaCl and 0.5% n-octyl POE (n-octylpolyoxyethylene) (#P1140, Alexis Biochemicals, Farmingdale, NY, USA). Eluted fractions containing the purified OmpU were pooled and protein was estimated by Bradford's assay and stored at -20° C.

2.3 Protein estimation by Bradford's assay

Standards for colorimetric assay were prepared diluting 10 mg/ml bovine serum albumin in Tris buffer (10 mM Tris, 10 mM NaCl, 0.5% LDAO, pH 7.5) as mentioned below (Table 5).

Total Volume 1 ml	Concentration (µg/ml)
0 µl	0.00
25 µl	12.5
50 µl	25.0
75 µl	37.5
100 µl	50.0
125 µl	62.5
150 µl	75.0
175 µl	87.5
200 µl	100.0

Table 5. Standard preparation for Bradford assay

Standard or test sample (5 μ l) was added to 95 μ l of Bradford reagent in a 96-microwell plate. Absorbance was measured at 595 nm using iMark Microplate Absorbance Reader (BioRad) after 15 min. Values were plotted as a graph and concentration of test sample was calculated accordingly.

2.4 Limulus amebocyte lysate (LAL) assay

LPS contamination in purified protein sample was measured by E-Toxate kit (Sigma-Alrich, #ET0100). Glassware was treated with 1% SDS solution to remove any pyrogen contamination. E-Toxate standard dilutions were prepared by serial dilution such that final concentration of standards ranged from 0.015 to 400 EU/ml and the following working dilutions were prepared (Table 6).

Tube no.	Endotoxin	Pyrogen-free water	Final concentration (EU/ml)
1	0.2 ml of endotoxin stock solution	1.8	400
2	0.2 ml from tube 1	1.8	40
3	0.2 ml from tube 2	1.8	4
4	0.3 ml from tube 3	2.1	0.5
5	1 ml from tube 4	1.0	0.25
6	1 ml from tube 5	1.0	0.125
7	1 ml from tube 6	1.0	0.06
8	1 ml from tube 7	1.0	0.03
9	1 ml from tube 8	1.0	0.015

 Table 6. Standard preparation for LAL assay

E-Toxate reagent was reconstituted in pyrogen-free water. Further, different tubes were prepared as follows (Table 7).

	Tube	Sample	Endotoxin Standard Dilution
А	Test sample	0.1 ml	
В	Negative control		_
С	Standard	_	0.1 ml of 0.5 EU/ml
D	Standard		0.1 ml of 0.25 EU/ml
Е	Standard		0.1 ml of 0.125 EU/ml
F	Standard		0.1 ml of 0.06 EU/ml
G	Standard		0.1 ml of 0.03 EU/ml
Н	Standard	—	0.1 ml of 0.015 EU/ml

Table	7.	LAL	assay	pro	ocedure
-------	----	-----	-------	-----	---------

E-Toxate reagent (0.1 ml) was added to all tubes A–H. Samples were mixed gently and incubated at 37°C for 1 h without any disturbance. After incubation, tubes were removed gently and inverted at a 180° angle. A positive test was indicated by the formation of a gel. LPS free samples did not form any gel. LPS content was calculated using the formula: EU/ml = (Dilution factor of standard at which gel was formed)*0.06. 1 EU is equivalent to 0.1–0.2 ng/ml of LPS.

2.5 Cell lines, primary cells, and cell culture conditions

All the cells were cultured at 37°C in 5% CO₂ humidified incubator (#CO170R-230-1000, Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). RAW 264.7 (murine macrophage) (NCCS, Pune, India) and THP-1 (human monocytic) (NCCS, Pune, India) cells lines and human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were cultured in RPMI-1640 media (#11875-119, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, California, USA) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Life Technologies, #161400-71) and 100 U/ml penicillin-streptomycin (Life Technologies, #15140-022) [Complete RPMI media]. HT29 (human intestinal epithelial) (NCCS, Pune, India) and murine peritoneal macrophages were cultured in DMEM (Life Technologies, #11995-073) with 10% FBS and 1% penicillin–streptomycin [Complete DMEM media]. Murine bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs), splenic DCs and splenic CD4⁺ T cells were cultured in complete RPMI-1640 media supplemented with 1% β-mercaptoethanol (Sigma–Aldrich, #M6250), 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids (NEAA) (Life Technologies, #11140-050) and 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Life Technologies, #11360070) [supplemented complete RPMI media].

2.6 Isolation of PBMCs

Venous blood was drawn from a healthy donor and 1.5 mg EDTA (HiMedia, #MB011) per ml of blood was added to prevent coagulation. Diluted blood (1:1 with PBS) was layered over Histopaque-1077 (Sigma–Aldrich, #10771) in a ratio of 1:1 carefully. The sample was centrifuged at 400 xg for 30 min without acceleration or deceleration at ambient temperature. Further, the upper plasma layer was discarded and buffer layer was washed twice with PBS (250 xg for 10 min at room temperature). Cells were resuspended in complete RPMI media. Work with human blood was approved by the Institutional Bioethics Committee.

2.7 Mice

Six- to eight-week-old female BALB/c mice were obtained from Panacea Biotec (Mohali, India) (approved by the Institutional Animal Ethical Committee of Panacea Biotec, Mohali). Mice were sacrificed and bone marrow cells and spleens were isolated.

2.8 Murine peritoneal cells isolation

Ice cold PBS (10 ml) was injected into the peritoneal cavity via a syringe and massaged for flushing out the trapped cells in PBS. Cell suspension was aspirated via the syringe, washed with PBS, resuspended in complete DMEM media, and plated at a density of 1.5 million/ml. After 2 h of incubation, non-adherent cells were removed and adherent macrophages were treated according to the experiment.

2.9 Murine DC differentiation from bone marrow cells

Epiphyses of isolated femurs were cut and bone marrow cells were flushed in complete RPMI media via a syringe. Cells were washed with supplemented complete RPMI media, treated with 2–3 ml ACK lysis buffer (Life Technologies, #A10492-01), and incubated for 5 min at room temperature for removal of erythrocytes. Supplemented complete RPMI media was added and cells were centrifuged and resuspended in supplemented complete RPMI media and plated in 6-well plates (2.5 million/ml in 2 ml). The media was supplemented with 10 ng/ml of GM-CSF (#315-03, Peprotech, Rocky Hill NJ, USA) and changed every alternate day for 7 days. After 7 days, cells were treated according to the experiment.

2.10 Isolation of DCs from murine spleen

The spleen was excised from mouse and ballooned in 5 ml calcium–magnesium free HBSS [0.137 M NaCl, 5.4 mM KCl, 0.25 mM Na₂HPO₄, 0.44 mM KH₂PO₄, 4.2 mM NaHCO₃, 0.1% glucose (Sigma, #G8270)] containing 400 U/ml Collgenase D (#11088866001, Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Cells were incubated at 37°C in humidified 5% CO₂ incubator for 25 min, the reaction was stopped by adding 100 μ l of 0.5 M EDTA, and further incubation at 37°C for 5 min. Cell suspension was then passed through a

0.45 µm filter onto supplemented complete RPMI media to obtain a single-cell suspension. Cells were washed with PBS and resuspended in 3 ml of 30% BSA (bovine serum albumin) (Sigma–Aldrich, #A9576) and 1 ml of PBS was layered on the top of BSA. Cells were then centrifuged at 620 xg, at 12°C without acceleration and deceleration for 30 min. Cells at interface of BSA [CD11c-enriched population] and PBS were collected, further washed with PBS, and purified using anti-CD11c⁺ mouse dendritic cell MACS purification kit (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) by positive-selection procedure.

Briefly, upto 10^7 cells were resuspended in 40 µl MACS buffer (0.5% FBS, 2 mM EDTA in PBS) and 5 µl of anti-CD11c⁺ beads were added and incubated at 4°C for 20 min. Cells were washed with MACS buffer once, resuspended in 500 µl of MACS buffer, and loaded onto preequilibrated LS MACS column placed on magnet. Column was washed thrice with 500 µl of MACS buffer and removed from magnet. MACS buffer (2 ml) was added onto column and eluted using plunger. Cells were washed with MACS buffer, resuspended in supplemented complete RPMI media, and plated according to the experiment.

2.11 CD4⁺ T-cell isolation from murine spleen

The excised spleen from a mouse was homogenized by squashing it between the frosted ends of sterilized glass slides. Cell suspension was filtered using a 0.45 μ m filter to obtain a single-cell suspension and centrifuged at 800 xg, at 4°C for 5 min. Cells were subjected to ACK lysis buffer treatment for erythrocyte removal and washed with PBS. Cells were purified using mouse CD4⁺ T-cell isolation kit II (Miltenyi Biotec) by negative-selection method.

Upto 10^7 cells were resuspended in 40 µl MACS buffer and 5 µl of biotin-antibody cocktail was added. Cells were incubated at 4°C for 10 min. Further 30 µl MACS buffer and 10 µl of microbead cocktail was added. Cells were incubated at 4°C for 15 min and washed with MACS buffer and resuspended in 500 µl of MACS buffer. Sample was loaded onto preequilibrated MS MACS column and washed thrice with 3 ml MACS buffer. Flow-through cells were collected and washed with MACS buffer. Cells were

resuspended in supplemented complete RPMI media and plated according to the experiment.

2.12 Experimental Designs

2.12.1 Experimental design I: Determination of inflammatory mediator production in response to OmpU in monocytes, macrophages, and human PBMCs

<u>Cytokine analysis</u>: RAW 264.7, THP-1 cells, and human PBMCs were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 1.5 ml of complete RPMI media in 6-well plate. Cells were treated with OmpU for different doses for several time periods: 4 h, 8 h, 12 h, and 24 h. Thirty minutes prior to OmpU treatment, cells were treated with 5 µg/ml PmB (Sigma–Aldrich, #P4932) for possible LPS contamination in purified protein samples. LPS (Sigma–Aldrich, #L2880, *E. coli* 055:B5) (1 µg/ml) served as a positive control. Elution buffer used in protein purification (10 mM Tris, 10 mM NaCl, 0.5% LDAO, pH 7.5) diluted in 0.5% LDAO in PBS served as a negative control. Culture supernatants were collected after different time periods for time-dependent studies or at the time point at which the production of mediator was maximal for dose-dependent studies and stored at -20° C. Levels of NO, TNF α , and IL-6 levels were further determined in culture supernatants (Illustration 5).



Culture supernatants were collected for different time periods: 4 h, 8 h, 12 h, 24 h Nitric oxide levels were assessed by Griess reaction TNFα and IL-6 production were determined by ELISA

Illustration 5. Experimental design to assess OmpU-mediated effects

<u>*Cell viability:*</u> THP-1 cells were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 100 µl complete RPMI media in a 96-microwell plate. Cells were treated with different doses of OmpU for 24 h and buffer treated cells served as a control. Further, cell viability was determined.

2.12.2 Experimental design II: Determination of OmpU-pretreatment on LPS-mediated responses

<u>Cytokine analysis</u>: RAW 264.7, THP-1 cells, and human PBMCs were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 1.5 ml of complete RPMI media in a 6-well plate. Cells were treated with 5 μ g/ml PmB (30 min) and 2 μ g/ml OmpU for 24 h [**PmB+OmpU**]. Cells were replated in fresh media without PmB and stimulated with 1 μ g/ml LPS for different time periods. Protein buffer-treated cells, stimulated with LPS served as a positive control. OmpU-treated cells further treated with PBS served as a negative control. Culture supernatants were collected after different time periods and stored at –20°C. Levels of NO, TNF α , and IL-6 levels were further determined in culture supernatants (Illustration 6).



Culture supernatants were collected and nitric oxide, TNFα, IL-6, and IL-10 production were assessed Cells were harvested and total RNA was isolated for gene expression analyses Cells were harvested lysates were prepared for western blotting and co-immunoprecipitation assays Phagocytic capacity of macrophages was determined by phagocytosis assay Surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules was assessed by flow cytometry

Illustration 6. Experimental design to assess effect of OmpU-pretreatment on LPS-mediated responses

<u>Cell viability</u>: THP-1 cells were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 100 µl complete RPMI media in a 96-microwell plate. Cells were treated with PmB+OmpU for 24 h, replated in fresh media, and challenged with LPS for 24 h. Cell viability was further determined.

<u>Gene-expression analysis</u>: RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells were plated at a density of 1.5 million/ml in 2 ml complete RPMI media in a 6-well plate. Cells were treated with PmB+OmpU for 24 h, replated in fresh media, and stimulated with LPS for different time periods. Cells were harvested and total RNA was isolated for subsequent gene-expression analysis by semi-quantitative PCR.

<u>Western blotting and co-immunoprecipitation studies</u>: RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 10 ml complete RPMI media in a 100-mm petridish. Cells were treated with PmB+OmpU for 24 h, replated, and challenged with LPS for 1 h for co-immunoprecipitation studies or different time points for immunoblotting. Whole cell or nuclear lysates were prepared after respective incubations.

<u>Phagocytosis assay:</u> RAW 264.7 or murine peritoneal cells were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 0.5 ml of complete RPMI or complete DMEM media, respectively, in a 24-well plate. Cells were treated with PmB+OmpU for 24 h, replated in fresh media, and challenged with LPS for 24 h. Cells were harvested and assay for phagocytosis was performed.

Flow cytometry for surface-expression analysis: RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells were plated at density of 1 million/ml in 1 ml in a 6-well plate in complete RPMI media. Peritoneal macrophages were plated in complete DMEM similarly. Cells were treated with PmB+OmpU for 24 h, replated in fresh media, and challenged with LPS for 18 h (TLR2, TLR6; RAW 264.7), 4 h (TLR6; THP-1), 8 h (TLR2; THP-1), and 24 h (CD80, CD86; RAW 264.7, and peritoneal macrophages). Cells were harvested for flow-cytometric analysis.

<u>Neutralization of secreted IL-10 in human PBMCs and its involvement in down-regulation of LPS-mediated TNF α </u>: Human PBMCs were plated as for cytokine analysis. Neutralizing bodies against human IL-10 (#554703, BD Pharmingen, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and TGF β (#146704, Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA) were added at a concentration of 0.1 µg/ml and 10 µg/ml along with 24 h PmB+OmpU-pretreatment. Cells were replated in fresh media and stimulated with LPS for 8 h. TNF α levels in culture supernatants were determined by ELISA.

2.12.3 Experimental design III: Determination of OmpU-pretreatment on LPS-mediated IL-12 production in human PBMCs

Human PBMCs were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 1.5 ml complete RPMI media in a 6-well plate. After 8 h of PmB+OmpU treatment, 100 ng/ml of recombinant human IFN γ (Peprotech #300-02) was added and further incubated for 16 h, such that OmpU treatment incubation was for 24 h. Cells were replated in fresh media and challenged with LPS. As a positive control, IFN γ (16 h)-treated cells were further stimulated with LPS for 24 h. OmpU- and IFN γ -treated cells replated in fresh media and treated with PBS served as a negative control for 24 h. Culture supernatants were collected and IL-12 levels were analyzed by ELISA (Illustration 7).



Illustration 7. Experimental design to assess effect of OmpU-pretreatment on LPS-mediated IL-12 production in human PBMCs

2.12.4 Experimental design IV: Differentiation of BMDCs and determination of cellular responses induced by OmpU

Bone marrow cells were plated at a density of 2.5 million/ml in 2 ml of supplemented complete RPMI media. Cells were differentiated with 10 ng/ml of murine recombinant GM-CSF on alternate days (Day 0, Day 2, Day 4, and Day 6). On the 7th day, differentiated BMDCs were treated with PmB+OmpU for 24 h (Illustration 8). <u>Cytokine analysis:</u> After the incubation, culture supernatants were collected and TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-12, and IL-10 levels were determined.

<u>*Cellular cytotoxicity assay:*</u> Culture supernatants were also analyzed for cytotoxicity induced by treatments.

Flow cytometry for surface-expression analysis: Cells were harvested and surface expression of CD80 and CD86 was assessed by flow cytometry.



Illustration 8. Experimental design to determine OmpU-mediated responses in mouse

2.12.5 Experimental design V: Determination of murine CD4⁺ T-cell responses on co-culture with OmpU-primed murine splenic DCs in vitro

Purified splenic DCs were plated at a density of $2x10^4$ cells in 200 µl of supplemented complete RPMI media in a 96-microwell plate. Cells were treated with PmB+OmpU for 24 h (Day 0). After the incubation, DCs were serially diluted and purified splenic CD4⁺ T cells were added such that DC:T cell ratio was 1:10, 1:20, 1:40, and 1:80 in 100 µl of supplemented complete RPMI media (Day 1). After 6 days, BrdU was added to each well and after 18 h, cells were harvested and cell proliferation was assessed (Illustration 9).



Illustration 9. Experimental design to determine effect of OmpU-primed DCs on $CD4^+ T$ cells

2.12.6 Experimental design VI: Determination of TLR, NF κ B, AP-1, and inflammasome involvement by neutralization and inhibitor studies

BMDCs and splenic DCs were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in supplemented complete RPMI media, were pretreated with neutralizing antibodies and chemical inhibitors for 1 h, and further treated with OmpU for 24 h. Culture supernatants were collected and levels of cytokines were assessed.



Illustration 10. Experimental design to determine effects of TLR-neutralizing antibodies and inhibitors of signaling mediators on OmpU-mediated response

MLN4924 (500 nM)	R&D systems, #I502	Anti-mouse	Biolegend,
	(Minneapolis, USA)	TLR4	#117608
SP600125 (20 µM)	Sigma–Aldrich,	Anti-mouse	Biolegend,
	#57067	TLR2	#121802
VX745 (50 nM)	Santa Cruz	Isotype control	Biolegend,
	Biotechnologies,	Rat IgG2aĸ	#400516
	#sc-361401		
	(Texas, USA)		
JNKIN8 (250 nM)	Santa Cruz	Isotype control	Biolegend,
	Biotechnologies,	Mouse IgG1ĸ	#400102
	#sc-364745		
Isoliquiritigenin (80 µM)	InvivoGen, #ihn-ilg		
	(San Diego, CA,		
	USA)		
Parthenolide (18 µM)	InvivoGen, #inh-ptd		

2.13 MTT-cell viability assay

Cells were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 100 μ l in a 96-microwell plate. Cell viability after various treatments was assessed by the EZCount MTT Cell Assay Kit (HiMedia, #CCK003). After incubation periods, 10 μ l of MTT reagent (5 mg/ml) was added to 100 μ l of cell culture volume and incubated for 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ incubator for 3 h. After which, 100 μ l of solubilization buffer was added per well and mixed to ensure uniform color development. Absorbance was measured at 575 nm using iMark Microplate Absorbance Reader (BioRad) and viability was calculated as:

[Abs treated cells – Abs blank]/[Abs untreated cells – Abs blank]. Blank refers to absorbance of well containing media, MTT, and solubilization buffer but no cells.

2.14 LDH-release assay for measuring cytotoxicity

Cells were plated at a density of 1 million/ml in 100 μ l in a 96-microwell plate. Cytotoxicity due to OmpU and chemical inhibitors in BMDCs was measured by the CytoTox 96 non-radioactive cytotoxicity assay kit (#G1780, Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Cells were centrifuged at 600 xg, 5 min at 4°C and 50 μ l of supernatant was incubated with 50 μ l of assay buffer substrate mix for 30 min in dark at room temperature. The reaction was stopped by adding 50 μ l of stop solution and absorbance was measured at 490 nm using iMark Microplate Absorbance Reader (BioRad). Cells treated with Triton-X-100 (0.8%) 15 min prior to assay served as positive control for cytotoxicity.

Cytotoxicity was calculated as:

[Abs treated cells – Abs blank]/[Abs Triton-X-100 cells – Abs blank]. Blank refers to absorbance of well containing media and assay buffer substrate mix but no cells.

2.15 NO estimation

NO estimation was determined by Griess reagent (Sigma–Alrich #G4410). Sodium nitrite solution (500 μ M) was prepared by stock solution of 0.1 μ M (Sigma–Alrich #35273) and following working dilutions were prepared (Table 8).

Total Volume 1 ml water	Concentration (µM)
0 µl	
10 µl (of 500 µM)	2.5
20 µl	5.0
30 µl	7.5
40 µl	10.0
50 µl	12.5
60 µl	15.0
70 µl	17.5

Table 8. Standard preparation for NO estimation

Standard or culture supernatant (50 μ l) was incubated with 50 μ l of Griess reagent in a 96-microwell plate and incubated in dark at room temperature for 15 min. Absorbance was measured at 540 nm using iMark Microplate Absorbance Reader (BioRad) and values were plotted on a graph. Concentration of test sample was calculated accordingly.

2.16 RNA isolation and purification

RNA was isolated using total RNASure isolation kit (#NP-84107, Nucleo-pore, New Delhi, India). After respective incubations, cells were harvested and washed twice with PBS at 600 xg, 5 min at 4°C. Lysis buffer (350 μ l) and 3.5 μ l of β -mercaptoethanol were added to the pelleted cells and lysis was carried out by passing through a syringe. The mixture was transferred to shedder columns and centrifuged at 11,000 xg for 1 min. The filtrate was transferred to a new tube and RNA was precipitated by the addition of 350 μ l of 70% ethanol (#E193, Amresco, Solon, USA; Molecular-grade water Sigma–Alrich #W4502). Lysate was added to the RNASure column and spun at 11,000 xg for 1 min. Desalting buffer (350 μ l) was added to column and centrifuged at 11,000 xg for 1 min. DNase reaction mixture (100 μ l) was added to the column was spun at 11,000 xg for 1 min. The column was washed again with 600 μ l of LBA2 buffer. WBA3 (200 μ l) buffer was added to the column and spun at 11,000 xg for 3 min. Molecular-

grade water (50–60 μ l) was added to the column and incubated for 5 min. RNA was isolated by centrifuging column at 11,000 xg for 3 min and absorbance at 230 nm, 260 nm, and 280 nm was measured.

If the absorbance ratio at 260/280 was less than 1.8 or the 260/230 ratio was less than 2, RNA was reprecipitated to obtain better quality RNA devoid of salts and buffer contamination. Volume of RNA sample was made upto 100 μ l with molecular-grade water. Autoclaved 1.1 M NaCl (10 μ l) was added such that final concentration was 0.1 M. Molecular-grade ethanol (95%; 275 μ l, 2.5 volumes) (Amresco, #E193) was added to the sample and incubated at –20°C for 1 h. The sample was centrifuged at 11,000 xg at 4°C for 15 min and washed with 500 μ l of 70% ethanol twice. The microcentrifuge tube was allowed to air-dry to ensure complete water removal. Precipitated RNA was resuspended in molecular-grade water and absorbance was measured as mentioned above.

2.17 cDNA synthesis

cDNA was synthesized by the Verso cDNA synthesis kit (#AB-1453/A, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). cDNA for each RNA sample was prepared as follows (Table 9). The reverse transcription-cycling program included 1 cycle at 42°C for 30 min and 1 cycle at 95°C for 2 min and synthesis was carried out using MyCycler thermocycler (BioRad).

	Volume (µl)	Final concentration
5X cDNA-synthesis buffer	4	1X
dNTP mix	2	500 µM each
RNA primer	1	
RT enhancer	1	
Verso enzyme mix	1	
Template RNA	1–5	1 ng-1 μg
Nuclease-free water	make upto 20	
Total volume	20	

Table 9. cDNA synthesis-reaction mix

2.18 Semi-quantitative PCR

Real-time gene-expression analysis was carried out using Maxima SYBR Green/ROX qPCR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific, #KO221). The reaction mix for each cDNA sample was prepared as follows (Table 10).

	Volume (µl)	Final concentration
Maxima SYBR mix (2X)	5	1X
Forward primer	1	0.25 μΜ
Reverse primer	1	0.25 μΜ
cDNA	0.5–1	<500 ng
Nuclease-free water	make to 10	
Total volume	10	

Table 10. Semi-qPCR synthesis-reaction mix

Reactions for the gene of interest and house-keeping genes were set. Reactions without cDNA but rest of the components served as negative controls. Two-step cycling protocol was used in Realplex⁴ thermocycler (Eppendorf): 1 cycle at 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles at 95°C (15 sec), and 1 cycle at 60°C (60 sec). Fold change was calculated using $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method of Livak and Schmittgen [121] from Ct values of each of the reactions obtained.

2.19 Primer sequences used for gene-expression analyses

Primer sequences were sourced from PrimerBank [122].

Primer name	Primer sequence 5'—3'
Mouse CXCR1	F: TGC TGG TTA TCT TAT ACA GGC GA
	R: GCA CGT AGA CAT CCA TGA CGG
Mouse CXCR2	F: ATG CCC TCT ATT CTG CCA GAT
	R: GGT GCT CCG GTT GTA TAA GAT GA
Mouse CCL17	F: TAC CAT GAG GTC ACT TCA GAT GC
	R: GCA CTC TCG GCC TAC ATT GG

Mouse CCL22	F: AGG TCC CTA TGG TGC CAA TGT
	R: CGG CAG GAT TTT GAG GTC CA
Mouse CCL24	F: TCT TGC TGC ACG TCC TTT ATT
	R: CTA ACC ACT CGG TTT TCT GGA AT
Mouse arginase	F: CCT ATG TGT CAT TTG GGT GGA TG
	R: GGT TGT CAG GGG AGT GTT GAT
Mouse SOCS-1	F: CTG CGG CTT CTA TTG GGG AC
	R: AAA AGG CAG TCG AAG GTC TCG
Mouse SOCS-3	F: ATG GTC ACC CAC AGC AAG TTT
	R: TCC AGT AGA ATC CGC TCT CCT
Mouse MKP-1	F: GTT GTT GGA TTG TCG CTC CTT
	R: TTG GGC ACG ATA TGC TCC AG
Mouse SHIP-1	F: GAG ACA CTG TTT CAG CGT CTA C
	R: CGT CTT CAA AAA GTC GGA ATC CA
Mouse TOLLIP	F: CCT CAG CCC CGC TGT AAT G
	R: CAG CAT CTT TGT TCC CTC TCT G
Mouse IRAK-M	F: CTG GCT GGA TGT TCG TCA TAT T
	R: GGA GAA CCT CTA AAA GGT CGC
Mouse GAPDH	F: TGG ATT TGG ACG CAT TGG TC
	R: TTT GCA CTG GTA CGT GTT GAT
Mouse RPL0	F: TGA GAT TCG GGA TAT GCT GTT GG
	R: CGG GTC CTA GAC CAG TGT TCT
Mouse RPL13	F: GGG CAG GTT CTG GTA TTG GAT
	R: GGC TCG GAA ATG GTA GGG G
Mouse HPRT	F: TCA GTC AAC GGG GGA CAT AAA
	R: GGG GCT GTA CTG CTT AAC CAG
Human CCL18	F: TCT ATA CCT CCT GGC AGA TTC
	R: TTT CTG GAC CCA CTT CTT ATT G
Human CCL22	F: ATT ACG TCC GTT ACC GTC TGC
	R: TCC CTG AAG GTT AGC AAC ACC
Human arginase	F: CCC TGG GGA ACA CTA CAT TTT G
	R: GCC AAT TCC TAG TCT GTG CAC TT

Human SOCS-1	F: TTT TCG CCC TTA GCG TGA AGA
	R: GAG GCA GTC GAA GCT CTC G
Human SOCS-3	F: CCT GCG CCT CAA GAC CTT C
	R: GTC ACT GCG CTC CAG TAG AA
Human MKP-1	F: ACC ACC ACC GTG TTC AAC TTC
	R: TGG GAG AGG TCG TAA TGG GG
Human SHIP-1	F: GCG TGC TGT ATC GGA ATT GC
	R: TGG TGA ACC TCA TGG AGA C
Human TOLLIP	F: TGG GCC GAC TGA ACA TCA C
	R: GTG GAT GAC CTT ATT CCA GCG
Human IRAK-M	F: CTG CGG GAT CTC CTT AGA GAA
	R:GCA GAG AAA TTC CGA GGG CA
Human GAPDH	F: AAG GTG AAG GTC GGA GTC AAC
	R: GGG GTC ATT GAT GGC AAC AAT A
Human RPL0	F: AGA AAC TGC TGC CTC ATA TCC G
	R: CCC CTG GAG ATT TTA GTG GTG A
Human RPL13	F: GCC ATC GTG GCT AAA CAG GTA
	R: GTT GGT GTT CAT CCG CTT GC
Human HPRT	F: CCT GGC GTC GTG ATT AGT GAT
	R: AGA CGT TCA GTC CTG TCC ATA A

2.20 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

EIA 96-microwell plates (#13-678-11E, Nunc, Rochester, NY, USA) were coated with 100 μ l of diluted capture antibody in coating buffer (0.2 M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 6.5 or 0.1 M sodium carbonate buffer, pH 9.5) and incubated overnight at 4°C. Wells were washed three times with 250 μ l wash buffer (PBS with 0.05% Tween-20) per well and blocked with 200 μ l 3% BSA (HiMedia, #9048-468) in PBS for 1 h. Standards were diluted according to the instructions as per the kit. Standards and samples (100 μ l) were added to the coated wells after three washes. Following 2 h of incubation, wells were washed thrice and 100 μ l of diluted detecting antibody (in blocking buffer) was added. After 1 h of incubation with detecting antibody, wells were washed five times. Substrate solution (100 μ l) per well was added [1 mg/ml O-phenyldiamine (Sigma–Alrich, #78412) in citric acid buffer, pH 4.5 containing 0.2% hydrogen peroxide

(30% solution, #7722-841, Merck, , Kenilworth, NJ, USA)] and incubated until the color developed. The reaction was stopped by the addition of 100 μ l stop solution (2 N sulphuric acid, Merck, #100731) per well. Absorbance was measured at 490 nm using iMark microplate absorbance reader (BioRad). Standard graph was plotted using values and concentrations of test samples were determined.

Mouse TNFa	BD OptEIA, #558534	Human TNFα	BD OptEIA, #555212
Mouse IL-6	BD OptEIA, #555240	Human IL-6	BD OptEIA, #555220
Mouse IL-1 _β	BD OptEIA, #559603	Human IL-8	BD OptEIA, #555244
Mouse IL-12	BD OptEIA, #555256	Human IL-12	BD OptEIA, #555183
Mouse IL-10	BD OptEIA, #555252	Human IL-10	BD OptEIA, #555157
Mouse TGF _β	R&D DuoSet, #DY1679	Human TGFβ	BD OptEIA, #559119
Mouse IFN _γ	BD OptEIA, #555138	(BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA)	
Mouse IL-4	BD OptEIA, #555232		

2.21 Whole cell lysate preparation

For whole cell lysate preparation, harvested cells were washed with PBS twice at 600 xg for 5 min at 4°C. Cells were lysed with 100 μ l of lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Triton X-100, 50 mM Tris HCl pH 8, 0.1% SDS) containing mammalian protease inhibitor (100:1) (Sigma–Aldrich, #P8340) and sonicated at 10 A with two 3–sec pulses using Misonix sonicator (QSonica, Newton, CT, USA). Cells were centrifuged at 24,000 xg for 30 min at 4°C and protein content in the supernatant was estimated by Bradford's assay and stored at –80°C.

2.22 Nuclear lysate preparation

Cells were harvested and washed twice with PBS at 600 xg, for 5 min at 4°C. Nuclear lysis buffer A (100 μ l) (10 mM HEPES, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM KCl, 0.5 mM DTT, and 0.05% NP-40) containing mammalian protease inhibitor (100:1) (Sigma–Aldrich, #P8340) was added to washed cells. Cells were resuspended by pipetting and vortexing and subsequently centrifuged at 835 xg for 15 min at 4°C. The supernatant, that is, the cytoplasmic fraction was collected. To the pellet containing nuclei, 100 μ l nuclear lysis buffer B (5 mM HEPES, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM DTT, 26% glycerol

pH 7.9) containing 300 mM NaCl was added and sonicated at 10 A with two 3–sec pulses using Misonix sonicator (QSonica). The lysate was centrifuged at 24,000 xg for 30 min at 4°C. The protein content in supernatant was estimated by Bradford's assay and stored at -80° C.

2.23 SDS-PAGE and Western blotting

Buffers for SDS-PAGE were prepared from HiMedia chemicals as follows.

30% acrylamide solution: 29.2 g acrylamide and 0.8 g bis-acrylamide in 100 ml distilled water

Resolving gel buffer: 1.5 M Tris-Cl, 0.4% SDS, pH 8.8

Stacking gel buffer: 0.5 M Tris-Cl, 0.4% SDS, pH 6.8

Running buffer: 25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS, pH 8.3

5*x* sample loading dye: 250 mM Tris-Cl pH 6.8, 10% SDS, 30% glycerol, 5% β-mercaptoethanol, 0.02% bromophenol blue, pH 6.8

	Stacking	Resolving—10%	Resolving—12.5%
Acrylamide Solution	0.45	3	3.75
Resolving gel buffer		2.25	2.25
Stacking gel buffer	0.75	—	—
Distilled water	1.8	3.75	3
10% Ammonium persulfate	50 µl	50 µl	50 µl
TEMED	5 µl	5 µl	5 µl

Buffers were mixed to obtain different percentage gels (Table 11).

Table 11. Buffer composition for SDS-PAGE

Glass plates were cleaned and set on clamps. APS and TEMED were added just before pouring gel between the glass plates. The resolving gel was cast and water was added on top to prevent oxidization. After the resolving gel solidified, the stacking gel was added similarly and comb was set between the two plates. Samples were boiled with sample loading dye for 5 min and cooled. Lysate samples were loaded onto 10% or 12% SDS-PAGE gels and transferred onto PVDF membrane (Millipore, #162-0177) at 60 V for 60 min (10% gel) or 70 V for 70 min (12.5% gel) in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 20% methanol, pH 8.3), using Mini-PROTEAN Tetra Cell (BioRad) and Mini Trans-Blot Module (BioRad). Blocking of blots was performed using 5% BSA (HiMedia, #9048-468) in TBST buffer (20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20, pH 7.6) for 1 h. All treatments were carried out at ambient temperature under rocking conditions. Subsequently, blots were incubated with diluted primary antibody in TBST buffer for 3 h and washed four times with TBST buffer for 15 min per wash. Blots were further incubated with diluted secondary antibody (Sigma–Aldrich, #A6154) in TBST buffer for 1 h followed by washing. Blots were developed using Immobilon western chemiluminescent HRP substrate (Millipore, #WBKLS0500) and visualized in ImageQuant LAS4000 (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences).

Anti-TLR2	Santa Cruz, #sc-10739	Anti-p65	Santa Cruz, #sc-372
Anti-TLR1	Santa Cruz, #sc-30000	Anti-c-Rel	Santa Cruz, #sc-71
Anti-TLR6	Santa Cruz, #sc-30001	Anti-IRAK-M	Santa Cruz, #sc-366015
Anti-MyD88	Santa Cruz, #sc-11356	Anti-LaminB1	Santa Cruz, #sc-20682
Anti-IRAK-1	Sigma–Aldrich, #SAB4501559	Anti-GAPDH	Santa Cruz, #sc-25778
Anti-IRAK4	Cell Signaling, #4363	Anti-JunD	Santa Cruz, #sc-74
Anti-caspase1	Sigma–Aldrich, #C4851	Anti-rabbit-IgG	Santa Cruz, #sc-2027

2.24 Co-immunoprecipitation

Whole cells lysates were incubated with different antibodies for 4 h in a rotating shaker at 4°C. Further, 20 μ l of protein A/G plus agarose beads (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, #sc-2003) were added to the lysate and incubated overnight under similar conditions. Beads were pelleted at 6,000 xg for 5 min at 4°C and washed thrice with whole cell lysis buffer. Immunoprecipitated proteins were eluted from the beads by adding 60–75 μ l of SDS-loading buffer and boiling for 15 min. Samples were loaded onto SDS-PAGE gels and western blotting was performed as above.

2.25 Staining for surface molecules for flow-cytometry assay

Harvested cells were washed with FACS buffer (1% FBS, 0.1% sodium azide in PBS) twice at 600 xg, 5 min at 4°C. Fc Block (50 μ l) [anti-mouse CD16/CD32 antibody (Biolegend, #101320); diluted 1:200 in FACS buffer] was added per well and cells were incubated for 15–20 min on ice. For THP-1 cells, appropriate isotype treated (1:200 in FACS buffer) samples served as controls. Cells were washed once with FACS buffer and stained with 50 μ l diluted fluorescent-labeled primary antibody (1:200 in FACS buffer) per well and incubated for 1 h at 4°C. Cells were then washed thrice with FACS buffer and acquired by BD FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer. Data were analyzed by CellQuest Pro (BD Biosciences) and FlowJo (Treestar, Ashland, OR, USA).

APC-anti-mouse	R&D Systems,	PE-anti-human	Biolegend,
TLR6	#FAB1533A	TLR6	#334708
FITC-anti-	Biolegend	PE-mouse IgG1ĸ	BD Pharmingen,
mouse/human TLR2	#121806	isotype control	#550617
FITC-anti-mouse	BD Pharmingen,	FITC-mouse IgG1ĸ	BD Pharmingen,
CD80	#553768	isotype control	#550616
PE-anti-mouse CD86	BD Pharmingen,	Anti-mouse	BD Pharmingen,
	#553692	CD16/32	#553142

2.26 Phagocytosis assay

After treatments, cells were incubated at 4°C (on ice) for 30 min to render macrophages inactive. Alexa 488-conjugated *E. coli* BioParticles (Invitrogen Life Technologies, #E-12321) were added to cells in a ratio of 10:1 and centrifuged at 300 xg, at 4°C for 5 min. Cells were further incubated at 4°C for 30 min and then at 37°C for 30 min to allow phagocytosis to occur. Fluorescence of non-phagocytosed BioParticles was quenched by adding 50 μ l 0.2% trypan blue (Sigma–Alrich, #T8154) in citric acid buffer, pH 4.5. Cells were washed twice with PBS under similar centrifuging conditions and analyzed by BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer. Data were analyzed by CellQuest Pro (BD Biosciences) and FlowJo (Treestar).

2.27 BrdU-incorporation cell proliferation assay

Cell proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells was determined by the cell-proliferation chemiluminescent assay kit (#5492, Cell Signaling Technologies, MA, USA). As mentioned in section 2.12.5, splenic DCs were treated with OmpU for 24 h and then diluted and co-cultured with splenic CD4⁺ T cells at different ratios for 7 days. BrdU was added during the last 18 h of incubation periods. Ten microliters of 10X BrdU solution (diluted in culture media) was added to 100 µl of cell culture. After 18 h incubation, cells were centrifuged at 600 xg for 10 min and culture medium was removed. Denaturing solution (100 µl) was added per well and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. Cells were centrifuged and denaturing solution was removed. Detection antibody (100 µl) diluted in detection antibody diluent (1:100) was added per well and incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Cells were then washed thrice with wash buffer and 100 µl of HRPconjugated antibody diluted in HRP antibody diluent (1:100) was added per well. After 30-min incubation at room temperature, cells were washed thrice. Luminol-enhancer solution (50 µl) and 50 µl of stable peroxide buffer was added per well and chemiluminescence was measured at 425 nm emission wavelength uptil 10 min using POLARstar Omega plate reader (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany). Values were plotted and proliferation was measured in relative luminescence units.

2.28 V. cholerae growth curve determination

V. cholerae El Tor O1 strain was spread on Luria-agar plate and incubated at 37°C overnight. A single colony was transferred to 3 ml Luria broth and cultured for 12 h at 37°C under constant rotating conditions. From the seed culture, 50 ml of Luria broth was inoculated such that starting absorbance at 600 nm was 0.01. Absorbance was subsequently monitored at 600 nm for 24 h with measurements every 30 min. Values of absorbance were plotted against time and the late log phase was determined to be 11 h.

2.29 Naturally secreted V. cholerae vesicles isolation

One liter of Luria broth was inoculated with 1% seed culture of *V. cholerae* and cultured for 11 h. Bacterial cells were pelleted down at 3,220 xg, at 4°C for 30 min. Supernatant was further centrifuged at 18,500 xg, at 4°C for 30 min for the removal of debris. Further,

the supernatant was centrifuged at 150,000 xg at 4°C for 2 h to pellet down vesicles (Himac CX120GSII micro-ultracentrifuge, Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). Supernatant at the earlier step can be stored at 4°C on addition of 0.2% sodium azide, 5 μ g/ml ampicillin, and 50 mM EDTA. Pelleted vesicles were washed with 10 ml of 20 mM Tris buffer (pH 7.6) and finally resuspended in 500 μ l of the same buffer. Protein content in vesicles was measured by Bradford's assay.

2.30 V. cholerae outer membrane isolation

One liter of Luria broth was inoculated with 1% *V. cholerae* seed culture and cultured for 11 h. Bacterial cells were pelleted down at 3,220 xg, at 4°C for 30 min and cells were resuspended in 20 ml 1 M HEPES buffer (pH 7). Cell suspension was sonicated at 25 A for 15 min with 30 sec–on and 10 sec–off pulses and centrifuged at 5,000 xg at 4°C for 20 min. Supernatant was ultracentrifuged at 150,000 xg at 4°C for 2 h and pellet was resuspended in 4 ml of 0.5% N-laurylsarcosine (Sigma, #61739) in HEPES buffer. Sample was ultracentrifuged at 150,000 xg at 4°C for 2 h and resuspended in 1 ml HEPES buffer. Protein content in outer membrane preparation was determined by Bradford's assay.
III Results

Specific Aim 1: To probe whether OmpU can modulate the inflammatory process induced by monocytes and macrophages

Chapter 1: Modulation of pro-inflammatory mediators by OmpU

Chapter 2: Induction of LPS tolerance by OmpU

Chapter 1: Modulation of pro-inflammatory mediators by OmpU

3.1 Inflammation: The most primitive, primary, and a potent host defense response

The innate immune system is the first line of defense and is present since birth. It involves four kinds of barriers: anatomic-, physiologic-, chemical-, and inflammatory barriers [96]. Inflammation is a complex, regulated, and effective biologic host response against injury, microbial invasion, or damaged host cells. It is defined as a localized physical condition, where tissues of the body become reddened, swollen, heated, and associated with pain [96]. These four cardinal signs of inflammation were first described by Celsus in 10 AD as *rubor* (redness), *tumor* (swelling), *calor* (heat), and *dolor* (pain) followed by *function laesa* or loss of function, which was later suggested by Galen.

Inflammation is characterized by three main stages: acute, subacute, and chronic stages [123]. The acute phase is characterized by redness and swelling due to increase in vascular permeability at the site of infection/injury. Chemical signals induce permeability of blood vessels and expression of cell adhesion molecules on endothelial cells, so that the circulating leukocytes can adhere to blood vessels, by a process called margination [124]. The cells migrate from the blood lumen into the tissue through the spaces between the endothelial cells by diapedesis (extravasation) [125]. Leukocytes are recruited to the site and support the inflammatory process (Illustration 11). The subacute phase initiates the healing and repair of the inflamed area. Angiogenesis and tissue growth occurs during this phase. The chronic stage involves tissue remodeling. Recognition and/or elimination of microbes during the acute phase is mediated by humoral factors, such as, the complement proteins, anti-microbial peptides, etc., and cells, such as, granulocytes, monocytes, macrophages, mast cells, DCs, and natural killer (NK) cells [126].

3.1.1 The acute phase is initiated by phagocytosis: An indispensable immune mechanism for the removal of pathogens and cell debris

The initial responders to pathogens are tissue-resident macrophages. As the inflammation progresses, neutrophils are recruited to the site of infection and support phagocytosis. Macrophages endocytose microbes via a structure called phagosome. The phagosome subsequently binds with lysosomes to form a phagolysosome, which contains cytotoxic

enzymes and radicals that lead to the elimination of the pathogen. Phagocytosis leads to a respiratory burst, which involves production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNI), which are cytotoxic to the microbe ingested [127]. One of such RNI is NO that mediates vascular permeability, endothelial signaling, and platelet activation for initiation of coagulation [128].



Illustration 11. Multiple steps in the inflammatory response

3.1.2 PAMP and PRR interactions shape the inflammatory response

In response to injury, the inflammatory process is initiated by tissue-resident immune cells, such as, macrophages and DCs. Macrophages and DCs recognize PAMPs by the PRRs present on them. PAMPs may be genetic material of bacteria or viruses, such as, DNA and RNA or molecules present on the surface of microbes, such as, fungal lectins, bacterial LPS, lipoproteins, or flagellins [97]. This recognition activates immune cells and induces the release of chemokines (molecules that attract other immune cells) and cytokines (molecules that signal and activate immune cell function) [98].

Immune cells reach the site of infection by chemotaxis in response to chemoattractants secreted by tissue-resident macrophages. Cytokines, such as, IL-1 and TNF α , secreted by monocytes and macrophages also lead to vascular permeability [129]. TNF α acts as a chemoattractant for neutrophils and increases cell adhesion molecules on endothelial cells. PAMP–PRR binding further alters cytoskeletal structure of phagocytes, which enables phagocytosis to occur, subsequently leading to NO production [130]. TNF α is also an important activator of phagocytosis.

Furthermore, the cytokines IL-1, IL-6, and TNF α act as endogenous pyrogens and mediate fever, which is a crucial anti-pathogen response [129]. Together, they initiate prostaglandin synthesis in the hypothalamus leading to fever, which retards growth of pathogens. Additionally, these cytokines stimulate the release of corticotropin-releasing hormone, which acts on the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis leading to the release of corticosteroids that are important for the stress response during inflammation.

Activated monocytes and macrophages can release IL-12, which activates NK cells and T cells to produce IFN γ and TNF α , which amplify cell-mediated immunity of the adaptive arm and phagocyte-dependent inflammation. Further, IL-12 increases cytotoxic abilities of NK cells and T cells for effective elimination of pathogens [131-133].

3.1.3 The acute phase response is a systemic response critical for reestablishing homeostasis

The acute phase-response proteins (APPs) are synthesized in the liver and released into circulation on tissue damage by microbes [134,135]. Cytokines IL-1, TNF α , and IL-6 activate the acute phase response [130]. Over 200 APPs mediate the process, whose expression either increases or decreases on stress. APPs can activate the complement-system proteins, which can lead to lysis or phagocytosis of pathogens by the immune cells. The acute phase response involves various processes, such as, pyrexia, leukocytosis, hormone alterations, and muscle-protein depletion, which together reestablish homeostasis after infection [136]. The expression of positive APPs increases during the response. These APPs are important for the entrapment of microbes and their products, neutralizing enzymes, scavenging hemoglobin, and free radicals, as well as, the modulation of the inflammatory process. The response if regulated by a feedback mechanism that limits the time period from 4–7 days [137].

3.1.4 Monocytes and macrophages are crucial mediators of the innate immune response

Tissue-resident macrophages are specialized cells, such as, Kupffer cells (liver), microglia (nervous system), osteoclasts (bone), etc. These macrophages remove apoptotic cells and pathogens. The signals originating from tissue macrophages lead to recruitment of their precursor cells, monocytes, from circulation to the site of inflammation [125] (Illustration 12). Monocytes differentiate into macrophages, acquire phenotypes depending on environmental cues, and augment inflammation. Monocytes, like macrophages, have PRRs; they phagocytose pathogens and secrete cytokines on PAMP recognition [97]. However, their responses are not as pronounced as those of macrophages. Further, monocytes are short-lived whereas macrophages have a longer life span. Together, their partnership ensures a robust inflammatory response.



Illustration 12. Monocytes and macrophages mediate inflammation

3.2 Objectives

V. cholerae porin OmpU is involved in pathogenesis as it confers resistance against bile acids and anti-microbial peptides in the gut [104,106,107,138,139]. Further, its expression doubles in the gut environmental conditions [103]. We wanted to probe, whether OmpU can act as a PAMP and activate monocytes and macrophages to induce production of pro-inflammatory mediators.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 OmpU induces NO production in RAW 264.7 macrophages

As mentioned above, NO is one of the major cytotoxic effectors generated during the phagocytic process and mediates vasodilatation, one of the initial steps of inflammation. To study whether OmpU can lead to the production of NO, we treated RAW 264.7 murine macrophage cells with purified recombinant OmpU for various time periods and with different doses. We observed that OmpU induced NO production in a time-dependent manner with significant production at 24 h (Fig. 1A). Further, at this time point, with different doses of OmpU, NO levels increased in a dose-dependent manner (Fig. 1B).

To assess whether any endotoxin contamination was present in the recombinantly purified OmpU samples, LAL assay was performed. Endotoxin levels were non-detectable (<0.06 EU/ml). As a control, we assessed whether the use of PmB, a well-known endotoxin-neutralizing agent would affect NO response by OmpU. Thus, prior to OmpU and LPS treatment, cells were treated with 5 μ g/ml PmB and NO levels were measured. The use of PmB led to a decrease in NO levels (Fig. 1C). Therefore, for further experiments, PmB pretreatment was carried out to prevent any response due to possible endotoxin contamination.



Fig. 1 OmpU induces NO production in RAW 264.7 cells in a time and dose-dependent manner.

(A) RAW 264.7 cells were treated with OmpU for 8 h, 12 h, 24 h and NO levels were measured by Griess reaction. Black solid bar represents negative control, white solid bar represents OmpU, and gray solid bar represents positive control. Buffer-treated cells and 1 µg/ml LPS-treated cells served as controls. (B) RAW 264.7 cells were treated with different doses of OmpU for 24 h and NO levels were estimated. Buffer-treated cells and 1 µg/ml LPS-treated cells are treated with buffer, 1.5 µg/ml, and 3 µg/ml OmpU or 1 µg/ml LPS. Simultaneously, another set of cells were pretreated with PmB and after 30 min, cells were similarly treated. After 24 h, NO levels were assessed. Gray bars represent cells without PmB treatment. Black bars represent cells with PmB treatment. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. For Fig. 1A and 1B, **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001 versus buffer control. For Fig. 1C, **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001 versus buffer control. For Fig. 1C, **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001 versus buffer control.

3.3.2 OmpU induces TNF α production in monocytes and macrophages

TNF α is a cytokine involved in systemic inflammation, fever induction, and in the acute phase reaction [130]. Toward assessing whether OmpU could lead to the production of this cytokine, RAW 264.7, THP-1, and human PBMCs were treated with 1.5 µg/ml OmpU for different time periods: 4 h, 8 h, 12 h, and 24 h. TNF α production was determined by ELISA. In these cell types, TNF α levels were considerable at 24 h in RAW 264.7 cells (Fig. 2A), maximum at 4 h in THP-1 cells (Fig. 2B), and 8 h in human PBMCs (Fig. 2C). Further, with increasing doses of OmpU, TNF α levels also increased in a dose-dependent manner at 24 h in RAW 264.7 cells (Fig. 2D) and at 4 h in THP-1 cells (Fig. 2E).



Fig. 2. OmpU induces TNF α in RAW 264.7, THP-1 cells, and human PBMCs.

RAW 264.7 cells (A), THP-1 cells (B), and human PBMCs (C) were treated with 5 µg/ml PmB, 30 min prior to 1.5 µg/ml OmpU treatment for 4 h, 8 h, 12 h, and 24 h. Buffer-treated and 1 µg/ml LPS-treated cells served as controls. Black solid bar represents negative control, white solid bar represents OmpU, and gray solid bar represent positive control. RAW 264.7 cells (D) and THP-1 cells (E) were treated with different doses of OmpU for 24 h and 4 h, respectively, with 30 min PmB pretreatment. Buffer-treated and 1 µg/ml LPS-treated cells served as controls. Culture supernatants were collected and TNF α production was determined by ELISA. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 versus buffer control.

3.3.3 OmpU induces IL-6 production in monocytes and macrophages

IL-6 is most notably known for its role in the acute phase reaction, which is mediated by proteins synthesized in liver [130]. The effect of OmpU on IL-6 was determined in different cell types and levels were assessed by ELISA. IL-6 production in RAW 264.7 (Fig. 3A), THP-1 cells (Fig. 3B), and in human PBMCs (Fig. 3C) increased in a time-dependent manner and was considerable at 24 h. Further, increasing doses of OmpU led to increased IL-6 levels in RAW 264.7 (Fig. 3D), as well as, THP-1 cells (Fig. 3E).



Fig. 3. OmpU induces IL-6 in RAW 264.7, THP-1 cells, and human PBMCs.

RAW 264.7 cells (A), THP-1 cells (B), and human PBMCs (C) were treated with 5 µg/ml PmB, 30 min prior to 1.5 µg/ml OmpU treatment for 4 h, 8 h, 12 h, and 24 h. Buffer-treated and 1 µg/ml LPS-treated cells served as controls. Black solid bar represents negative control, white solid bar represents OmpU, and gray solid bar represent positive control. RAW 264.7 cells (D) and THP-1 cells (E) were treated with different doses of OmpU for 24 h with 30 min PmB pretreatment. Buffer-treated and 1 µg/ml LPS-treated cells served as controls. Culture supernatants were collected and IL-6 production was determined by ELISA. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 versus buffer control.

All these results prove that OmpU acts as a pro-inflammatory agent in cells of mouseand human origin and leads to production of critical pro-inflammatory mediators, such as, NO, TNF α , and IL-6.

3.3.4 Pro-inflammatory mediator production in response to OmpU purified recombinantly from E. coli and from wild type V. cholerae is similar

We further compared pro-inflammatory responses of recombinantly purified OmpU (rOmpU) and wild type OmpU (wtOmpU) purified from *V. cholerae* El Tor O1 to

determine whether rOmpU behaved similarly as wtOmpU. We assessed NO, TNF α , and IL-6 production in RAW 264.7 in response to both forms of OmpU. Our data indicate that rOmpU and wtOmpU induce a similar pro-inflammatory mediator production (Fig. 4). Therefore for future experiments, rOmpU was used.



Fig. 4. Recombinant OmpU and wild type OmpU responses in RAW 264.7 cells.

RAW 264.7 cells were treated with with 5 µg/ml PmB, 30 min prior to rOmpU and wtOmpU treatement. Buffer- and LPS-treated cells served as controls. After 24 h, levels of NO (A), TNF α (B), and IL-6 (C) were determined by Griess reaction and ELISA. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001 versus buffer control.

3.3.5 OmpU-pretreatment down-regulates LPS-mediated pro-inflammatory mediator production in monocytes and macrophages

Our results indicate that OmpU is pro-inflammatory in nature. We further investigated whether OmpU could differentially regulate pro-inflammatory cytokines. For these experiments, we studied effects of OmpU-pretreatment on cells that were further stimulated with LPS. For down-regulation experiments, we used PmB along with OmpU treatment. After 24 h of incubation, cells were replated in fresh media without PmB and stimulated with LPS. We observed that pretreatment of cells with OmpU suppressed the LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators, such as, NO, TNF α , IL-6, and IL-12. The extent and pattern of down-regulation varied across different cell types. Pretreatment



with OmpU substantially decreased LPS-induced nitrite production in RAW 264.7 cell line (Fig. 5A).

Fig. 5. OmpU-pretreatment decreases LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators in monocytes and macrophages.

RAW 264.7 murine macrophage cells (A), (B), (E); THP-1 human monocytes (C), (F); and human PBMCs (D), (G), (H); were plated and treated with OmpU or protein-buffer and incubated for 24 h. PmB was added to the culture 30 min prior to the treatment. After 24 h of OmpU or buffer treatment, cells were replated in fresh media without PmB and challenged with LPS for defined time period at which LPS-induced response was maximum for the mediator of interest. Control experiments were performed to evaluate the contribution of buffer or PmB for OmpU-mediated down-regulatory phenomenon. Supernatants were collected and analyzed for the presence of pro-inflammatory mediators. Nitrite production was estimated by Griess reaction (A). TNF α (B, C, D); IL-6 (E, F, G); and IL-12 (H) levels were evaluated by sandwich ELISA. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 versus protein buffer + LPS control

Similarly, pretreatment with OmpU suppressed TNFα production in response to LPS in RAW 264.7 cell line, THP-1 cell line, and in human PBMCs (Fig. 5B, 5C, 5D; Table 5).

Moreover, OmpU-pretreatment also suppressed the IL-6 response of LPS-treated RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells but not that of human PBMCs (Fig. 5E, 5F, 5G; Table 5).

IL-12 is a known regulator of Th1 and Th2 responses and innate immune responses [140]. The possibility of OmpU-mediated suppression of LPS-induced IL-12 production was investigated in human PBMCs as cell lines did not produce IL-12. PBMCs were stimulated with 100 ng/ml IFN γ to induce IL-12 production. A complete suppression of IL-12 production by PBMCs was observed when the cells were preincubated with OmpU (Fig. 5H; Table 5).

3.3.6 OmpU-pretreatment down-regulates LPS-mediated cytokine production in IECs

IECs are vital mediators of intestinal homeostasis and encounter commensal, as well as, pathogenic microbes. As they are at this crucial junction, IECs are specialized epithelial cells that can sense and respond to microbes and their products, similar to immune cells [141]. Thus, they can participate in and co-ordinate immune responses. IECs can produce certain pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as, IL-8 and TNF α , which recruit other immune cells at the site of pathogen invasion. As OmpU-pretreatment down-regulated LPS-mediated responses in monocytes and macrophages, we wanted to assess whether OmpU would have a similar effect in IECs, which would be the first cells to encounter *V. cholerae* during pathogenesis. We chose to study this effect in HT29, a human adenocarcinoma cell line.

On OmpU-pretreatment, HT29 cells displayed decreased LPS-mediated IL-8 (Fig. 6A; Table 5), an important chemokine for recruitment of neutrophils and granulocytes. Further, as IECs encounter gram-negative commensal bacteria constantly, IECs may not produce certain pro-inflammatory mediators, such as, TNF α and IL-6 on LPS stimuli. Thus, we stimulated cells with IFN γ and observed that TNF α production was induced by subsequent LPS treatment. In addition to IL-8, OmpU-pretreatment decreased LPS-mediated TNF α production (Fig. 6B; Table 5). Thus, apart from monocytes and macrophages, OmpU down-regulated pro-inflammatory mediators in IECs as well.



Fig. 6. OmpU-pretreatment decreases LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators in HT29 human IEC line.

(A) HT29 cells were plated and treated with OmpU or protein-buffer and incubated for 24 h. PmB was added to the culture 30 min prior to the treatment. After 24 h of OmpU or buffer treatment, cells were replated in fresh media without PmB and challenged with LPS for 24 h. IL-8 levels were assessed by ELISA. (B) HT29 cells were plated and treated PmB+OmpU. After 12 h, 10 ng/ml IFN γ was added. After 24 h of OmpU incubation (and 12 h of IFN γ), cells were replated in fresh media without PmB and challenged with LPS for TNF α by ELISA. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 versus protein buffer + LPS control.

Cell type	Extent down-regulation with different OmpU doses		
		1.5 μg/ml	3 μg/ml
RAW 264.7	NO	73–76%	_
	TNFα	85–91%	
	IL-6	77-83%	—
THP-1	TNFα	55-67%	80-88%
	IL-6	63–69%	73–75%
Human PBMCs	TNFα	94–96%	96–98%
	IL-6		
	IL-12	94–96%	95–97%
HT29	TNFα	29-32%	60-64%
	IL-8	65–68%	84-86%

Table 12. Extent of down-regulation of LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators inmonocytes, macrophages, and IECs.

3.3.7 OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated cells do not exhibit decreased cell viability

Cell viability can be affected in response to various stimuli. A common assay employed used to determine cell viability is MTT assay. MTT is a tetrazolium dye [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide]. The dye is reduced to formazan by NAD(P)H-dependent oxidoreductase enzymes that are present in the cytoplasm. Viable cells are active metabolically and convert MTT into a purple-colored formazan product. However during cell death, cells lose this ability to convert MTT into formazan, thus leading to decreased color development.

To determine whether OmpU treatments affected cell health, THP-1 cells were treated with different doses of OmpU and buffer for 24 h. After incubation, cell viability was measured by MTT assay. Data indicate that OmpU treatments did not affect cell viability significantly (Fig. 7). We performed MTT assay to rule out that the suppressed proinflammatory mediator response was due to reduced cell viability. THP-1 cells were treated with OmpU for 24 h and further treated with LPS for 24 h. Cell viability was assessed by MTT assay and we observed that cell health was minimally affected by treatments (Fig. 7).



Fig.7. Assessment of cell health by MTT Assay.

THP-1 human monocytes were plated and treated with OmpU, protein buffer, or PmB and incubated for 24 h and cell viability was measured by MTT assay. After 24 h of same treatment, cells were replated in fresh media without PmB and challenged with LPS for 24 h. Cell viability was measured by MTT assay after 24 h of LPS treatment. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments.

3.4 Conclusions

We investigated the role of V. cholerae OmpU in monocyte and macrophage activation by determining pro-inflammatory mediator production. The effect of OmpU was studied in RAW 264.7 murine macrophage cell line, THP-1 human monocytic cell line, and human PBMCs. The endotoxin level in purified protein preparation was found to be less than 0.06 EU/ml. Yet PmB was added to the culture prior to OmpU treatment to neutralize possible endotoxin contamination. NO production in response to OmpU in RAW 264.7 cells was considerable at 24 h and increased in a dose-dependent manner (Fig. 1). Further, OmpU induced the substantial amount of TNFα in RAW 264.7 (24 h), THP-1 (4 h) cells, and PBMCs (8 h), whose production increased with increasing doses of OmpU (Fig. 2). Additionally, OmpU induced production of IL-6, in all cell types, considerably at 24 h (Fig. 3). IL-6 production increased in a dose-dependent manner in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells (Fig. 3). Moreover, the pro-inflammatory effects of recombinantly purified OmpU are similar to those of wild type OmpU (Fig. 4). Hence, for all future experiments recombinant OmpU was used. Our data indicate that V. cholerae porin OmpU classically activates macrophages as it induces secretion of inflammatory mediators such as NO, TNFa, and IL-6 by increasing the mRNA expression of nitric oxide synthase 2 (NOS2, the enzyme that catalyzes NO production), $TNF\alpha$, and IL-6 [142]. Thus, apart from its role in bacterial survival by conferring resistance against bile acids and anti-microbial peptides, OmpU also activates the innate immunity.

The effect of OmpU-pretreatment was analyzed in LPS-activated cells (OmpU/LPStreated cells) in terms of suppression or down-regulation of cytokine expression. OmpU/LPS-treated RAW 264.7, THP-1 cells, and human PBMCs exhibited decreased NO, TNF α , IL-6, and IL-12 production (Fig. 5), with the exception of IL-6 in human PBMCs, compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells. Further, OmpU-pretreatment decreased LPS-mediated production of IL-8 and TNF α in HT29 IECs (Fig. 6) as well. Pretreatment of cells with PmB alone did not suppress LPS-mediated effects (Fig. 1C, Fig. 5D, 5G, 5H). Cells can become non-responsive under stress or if the cell health is compromised. We ruled out the possibility that OmpU/LPS treatments were affecting cell viability and thus, leading to decreased responses by MTT assay (Fig. 7). Altogether, these findings suggest that OmpU can differentially modulate pro-inflammatory responses.

Chapter 2: Induction of LPS tolerance by OmpU

4.1 LPS is a potent pro-inflammatory mediator

LPS is a major constituent of the gram-negative bacterial outer membrane. It imparts negative charge to the membrane and helps in membrane stability. Richard Friedrich Johannes Pfeiffer first discovered LPS and termed it as endotoxin as it is part of the bacterial membrane. Contrary to exotoxins that are actively secreted by live bacteria, LPS is released on bacterial damage and destruction and is heat stable [143]. The LPS molecule consists of an O antigen (or O polysaccharide), a core oligosaccharide, and a lipid A moiety. Lipid A is associated with toxicity and polysaccharides with immunogenicity [143].

LPS activates several immune cells, such as, monocytes, macrophages, DCs, B cells, etc., and induces an enormous production of pro-inflammatory mediators and subsequently, fever. This can lead to endotoxemia and septic shock [144]. Septic shock is caused by severe vasculature damage due to extensive inflammation and dilation of blood vessels. This negatively affects cardiac output. Furthermore, increased bacterial proliferation can lead to disseminated intravascular coagulation and loss of function of vital organs, such as, kidneys, liver, lungs, etc., due to decreased blood supply [145]. Therefore, gramnegative bacterial infections, if left unchecked, pose an immense threat to the host.

4.1.1 LPS behaves as a PAMP and mediates its effects via TLR activation

Surface TLRs, such as, TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, and TLR6 recognize various PAMPs, which leads to activation of immune cells (Illustration 13). TLR2 heterodimerizes with either TLR1 or TLR6. LPS is classically known to activate immune cells via the TLR4/CD14 complex [146]. However, the recognition of LPS may also involve TLR2 signaling, depending on the source of LPS and immune cell types. LPS from different bacteria can mediate its signaling via TLR1/2 or TLR2/6 heterodimers [147-153]. LPS-mediated TLR activation leads to recruitment of down-stream adapter molecules, such as, MyD88 and TIRAP. This interaction further recruits kinases, such as IRAK1, which recruits IRAK4 or IRAK2 on phosphorylation [150,154,155]. The activated IRAK dimer complex dissociates from the TLR-adaptor molecule complex and interacts with TRAF6 in the cytosol. This may further lead to activation of the transcription factor NFκB.

Furthermore, LPS-mediated TLR signaling can activate the MAPK signaling cascade and result in activation of transcription factors, NF κ B and AP-1 that modulate the inflammatory process [146,154-156].



Illustration 13. Cell surface TLR signaling cascade leading to activation of pro-inflammatory transcription factors

Thus, LPS initiates a complex intra-cellular signaling cascade that ultimately leads to production of various inflammatory mediators.

4.1.2 LPS can induce monocyte and macrophage tolerance

Tolerance was first studied about 70 years ago by Beeson [157] in response to LPS. Macrophage tolerance is defined as the reduced capacity of the host (*in vivo*) or of cultured monocytes/macrophages (*in vitro*) to optimally respond to reexposure of an inflammatory stimulus, following exposure to a previous one. Mice administered with

sublethal doses of LPS, when reexposed to LPS, exhibited suppressed immune responses instead of heightened ones, contrary to what was hypothesized [158]. Macrophages of sepsis patients, experiencing heightened whole-body inflammatory responses, exhibit a subsequent compensatory anti-inflammatory response [159].

4.1.3 Monocytes and macrophages can display anti-inflammatory phenotype under certain conditions

4.1.3.1 Monocytes and macrophages can become tolerant

Tolerant monocytes and macrophages display an immune-suppressive phenotype. LPS tolerance is a state of refractoriness to repeated LPS stimulations. Tolerance is characterized by two phases (Illustration 14). In the 1st phase, stimulation by a pro-inflammatory stimulus activates monocytes/macrophages and induces the secretion of inflammatory mediators [157]. In the 2nd phase, when, these activated cells, encounter another pro-inflammatory stimulus, they exhibit attenuated response in terms of secretion of the same mediators, as well as, altered macrophage function in terms of antigen presentation and phagocytic capacity [160-163].



Illustration 14. Tolerant monocytes and macrophages exhibit decreased pro-inflammatory response

Enhanced phagocytic capacity assists removal of pro-inflammatory stimuli and intact bacteria and prevents excess inflammation. Additionally, tolerance involves up-regulation of anti-microbial mediators, which help in resolution of inflammation.

4.1.3.2 Monocytes and macrophages can be polarized toward immune-suppressive phenotype

In the first chapter, the effects of classically activated macrophages were highlighted. However, the very same macrophages that are involved in inflammation, can transform into regulatory macrophages or tissue healing macrophages under different spatio-temporal conditions (Illustration 15). Macrophages are remarkably plastic and can alter their functions in response to various environmental stimuli and display different phenotypes [164]. Macrophages, classically activated by PAMPs, secrete inflammatory mediators and cytotoxic products, which when unchecked, damage host tissues. Initial IFN γ and TNF α signals by NK cells and subsequent IFN γ secretion by T cells enhances the function of classical macrophages [165].



Illustration 15. Different functions of macrophage polarization

When the primary cytokine signal received by macrophages is IL-4, initially secreted by basophils and mast cells, tissue resident macrophages contribute toward wound healing. IL-4 stimulates arginase activity in macrophages, which yields ornithine, a precursor for collagen synthesis, and contributes to extra-cellular matrix production [166]. This activation is further maintained by Th2 cells, which secrete IL-4 and IL-13 and contribute toward anti-inflammatory phenotype. Polyamines secreted by these macrophages inhibits clonal expansion of lymphocytes [166].

Regulatory macrophages exhibit decreased pro-inflammatory activities when glucocorticoids act on them. Glucocorticoids are steroid hormones that are synthesized in

the adrenal cortex and released in response to stress into the blood stream. Glucocorticoid-treated macrophages display defective antigen presentation, thus, biasing T cells toward Th2, the anti-inflammatory phenotype [167].

4.1.3.3 Pathogens can exploit macrophage polarization

Altogether, activation by different environmental stimuli, such as, cytokines, PAMPs, and the network of immune cells at the site of microbe invasion and residence shape macrophage function. Pathogens, however, can exploit this natural process of polarization their benefit. Pathogens, Leishmania for such as, donovani and Mycobacterium tuberculosis can interfere with classical activation of macrophages by disrupting IFNy signaling [168]. Pathogens can also polarize macrophages toward wound healing and prevent their clearance by inhibiting antibody-dependent mechanisms, for example, Leishmania spp., African trypanosomes, Coxiella burnetti, Dengue virus, and Ross River virus [169,170]. Furthermore pathogens, such as, Crytpcoccus neoformans and *M. tuberculosis* can persist and multiply when IL-13 and IL-4 levels are high, as these cytokines prevent autophagy-mediated killing [171].

4.1.4 Deciphering the commonalities and differences between the mechanisms and characteristics of macrophage tolerance and alternate activation

An important question that arises is: how do classically activated macrophages maintain their inflammatory status and prevent transition toward tolerance or alternate activation, when they constantly encounter strong pro-inflammatory stimuli? Two explanations can be offered toward this. First, weakly activating stimuli may not trigger feedback inhibition and prevent transition of classically activated macrophages to immune-suppressive phenotype. Second, during on-going inflammation *in vivo*, there is a continuous migration of monocytes that become classically activated. When monocytes enter tissues and inflammation is resolving, these cells can transition toward tolerant or alternatively activated phenotype [172].

As alternatively activated macrophages, as well as, tolerized macrophages exhibit an immune-suppressive phenotype, few studies suggest that these two phenomena maybe co-related [173,174]. Similarities between these two processes include down-regulation of pro-inflammatory-associated cytokines and chemokines along with up-regulation of

anti-inflammatory mediators, as well as, initiation of cellular repair and proliferation, contributing toward wound healing. Both M2-polarized (alternatively activated) and tolerized macrophages display heightened phagocytic capacities; increased expression of scavenging receptors; chemokines CCL2, CCL17, and CCL22; and NF κ B p50 homodimers [173,174]. Further, the expression of metallothionein proteins involved in metabolism of heavy metals (such as, zinc, copper, selenium, silver, cadmium, mercury, and arsenic) and protection against oxidative stress is increased in both cases [173,174]. Apart from cellular responses, tolerance and alternate polarization alter intra-cellular signaling initiated by TLRs. Feedback mechanisms are usually present in every signaling cascade, which regulate pathway activation (Illustration 16). The negative regulators of the TLR-signaling pathway, such as, IRAK-M, A20, SOCS-1, and ST2L are up-regulated in tolerant and alternatively activated macrophages [173,174].



Illustration 16. Negative regulators of TLR signaling

Currently, another critical lacuna present in our understanding is: how does tolerance differ then, from alternatively activated macrophages if both promote resolution of inflammation and healing? Apart from these similarities between the two phenomena, there are certain characteristics that are unique to tolerance. A study has proved that endotoxin tolerance can be established in the absence of IL-4 activation, which is one of the causes of alternate activation [175]. Moreover, *in vitro* macrophages become tolerant

in absence of T-cell cytokines. Therefore, the tolerance mechanism can be independent of alternative polarization status of macrophages.

Functional polarization of macrophages may occur over time *in vivo* that is dependent on different transcription programs. Tolerance may be viewed as a progressive attenuation of pro-inflammatory responses. However, tolerance does not lead to a global attenuation of all genes. A certain group of genes involved in coagulation, acute phase response, antigen presentation, pathogen recognition, anti-inflammatory- and interferon response, chemotaxis, migration, metabolism, growth, and ion transport are up-regulated in tolerant macrophages whereas others are down-regulated [176].

Tolerance may therefore be considered to be a gene-specific program that suppresses pro-inflammatory effects while retaining anti-microbial responses. Although, phenotypically these tolerance macrophages may be characterized as, or maybe even convert into, alternatively activated macrophages; the difference in their transcriptional gene programming may result in varied signaling outcomes.

4.2 Objectives

Work from our laboratory has proved that *V. cholerae* porin OmpU is pro-inflammatory in nature. It induces secretion of classically activated macrophage markers, such as, TNF α , IL-6, NO [142] and chemokines, such as, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β (important for granulocyte activation), RANTES (neutrophil recruitment), and CXCL10 (monocyte, macrophage, T cell, NK cell, and DC recruitment) [177]. Furthermore, OmpU-mediated M1-polarization is induced by TLR1/2 activation [177]. We further observed that OmpUpretreated monocytes and macrophages display suppressed pro-inflammatory mediator production on subsequent LPS challenge.

- (i) Considering, these facts, we wanted to explore whether OmpU was inducing a state of macrophage tolerance in LPS-activated cells.
- (ii) Further, as classically activated macrophages can polarize toward alternatively activated macrophages, we wanted to determine whether OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated monocytes and macrophages were being polarized toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype.
- (iii) Additionally, we were interested in whether both these phenomena were occurring simultaneously in OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated cells.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 OmpU-pretreatment does not enhance M2-polarization markers on LPS-stimulation

Alternatively activated macrophages (M2-type) exhibit increased levels of different chemokines, such as, CCL17, CCL18, CCL22, and CCL24 [164,178,179], which bind to their corresponding chemokine receptors, CCR3 and CCR4, present on eosinophils, basophils, Treg, and Th2 cells, and lead to amplification of Th2-type responses. In addition, M2-polarized macrophages display enhanced expression of chemokine receptors: CXCR1 and CXCR2, which bind to IL-8 [164,180]. Another key feature of M2-polarized macrophages is the up-regulation of the enzyme arginase, which blocks NO production and induces proline production from arginine for collagen synthesis that is crucial for tissue repair [181].

As OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated cells showed a suppression of LPS-mediated pro-inflammatory mediators, mRNA levels of different M2-markers were assessed in response to OmpU/LPS treatments compared to buffer/LPS treatments. In RAW 264.7 cells, we assessed mRNA levels of *Ccl17*, *Ccl22*, *Ccl24*, *Cxcr1*, *Cxcr2*, and *Arginase* (Fig. 8A). Further, in THP-1 cells, we assessed mRNA levels of *CCL18*, *CCL22*, and *Arginase* (Fig. 8B). In both the cell types, we observed that OmpU-pretreatment did not significantly enhance mRNA levels of these markers as compared to those in cells treated with buffer/LPS (Fig. 8). Hence, our observations indicate that OmpU-pretreatment does not induce M2 polarization in LPS-activated cells.



Fig. 8. OmpU-pretreatment does not induce up-regulation of key M2-polarization markers in LPS-activated RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cell lines.

RAW 264.7 (A) and THP-1 cells (B) were treated with OmpU or buffer for 24 h, further replated in fresh media and stimulated with LPS for various time points. RNA was isolated from treated cells and gene-expression analysis for different M2-markers was carried out by semi-quantitative PCR. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and representative of three independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 versus LPS.

4.3.2 IL-10 production is partially responsible for the down-regulation of pro-inflammatory mediators in OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated cells

Cytokines, such as, IL-10 and TGF β are suppressor cytokines. IL-10 down-regulates production of a Th1 cytokine, IL-12 and impairs APC-T cell interaction by decreasing expression of MHC-II and co-stimulatory molecules [182]. TGFβ inhibits proliferation of monocytes and macrophages and the production of ROS and RNI [183]. Both these cytokines are implicated in M2 polarization and tolerance phenomena. We explored whether induction of immune-suppressive cytokines, such as, IL-10 and/or TGFB by OmpU might play any role in the down-regulation of LPS-mediated effects. We assessed IL-10 and TGF^β production in response to OmpU in different cell types, such as, RAW 264.7, THP-1, mouse peritoneal macrophages, and human PBMCs. We observed that OmpU did not induce production of these cytokines in any of these cell types, except IL-10 in human PBMCs (Fig. 9A). Following this, we assessed IL-10 levels in human PBMCs in response to various treatments: buffer, OmpU, buffer/LPS, as well as, OmpU/LPS treatment at different time points (Fig. 9A, 9B). We observed that IL-10 levels in response to OmpU/LPS treatments were higher than OmpU alone at earlier time points, prompting us to probe whether these sustained levels could contribute in the down-regulation of LPS-mediated effects. Our data indicated that the use of neutralizing antibodies against TGFB did not rescue the down-regulation of LPS-mediated TNFa production in human PBMCs (Fig. 9C). However, neutralization of IL-10 secretion could partially rescue TNF α production in OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated cells (Fig. 9C). Rescue in LPS-mediated TNF α production, with the use of 0.1 µg/ml anti-IL10 mAb was around 15% (p < 0.001) and with 10 µg/ml anti-IL10 mAb was about 25% (p < 0.001) (Fig. 9C). Hence, our observations suggest that IL-10 but not TGF β is partially responsible for the down-regulation mechanism.



Fig. 9. OmpU-induced IL-10 production is partially responsible for down-regulation of LPS-mediated TNF α production.

(A) Human PBMCs were treated with OmpU or buffer and incubated for different time periods. Culture supernatants were collected after different incubations. Supernatants were assessed for IL-10 production by ELISA. (B) Human PBMCs were treated with OmpU or buffer for 24 h and replated in fresh media and activated with LPS for different time points and culture supernatants were collected. IL-10 levels in supernatants were assessed by ELISA. (C) Human PBMCs were treated with OmpU and incubated with different concentrations of neutralizing anti-IL-10 or anti-TGF β antibodies for 24 h and further replated in fresh media and TNF α levels were assessed by ELISA. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and representative of three independent experiments. ***p < 0.001 versus buffer control (A), versus LPS (B), versus OmpU/LPS (C).

4.3.3 LPS activates TLR signaling by the TLR2/6-MyD8-dependent pathway

As most of the well documented tolerance mechanisms involve alteration in the TLRsignaling pathway, we wanted to explore whether TLR signaling is affected in OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated cells. To determine whether OmpU could modulate LPS-mediated signaling, we first had to establish which TLR(s) get activated by LPS in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells. We probed cell surface TLRs, such as, TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, and TLR6. Generally, activated TLR4 homodimerizes and recruits adapter molecules, such as, MyD88 to the receptor complex [184]. In contrast, TLR2 heterodimerizes either with TLR1 or with TLR6, and may further recruit MyD88 to the receptor complex [185-187].

As our above results indicated that OmpU does not induce M2 polarization in LPS-activated cells and partial involvement of IL-10 cannot be distinctly included in M2 polarization alone, we wanted to assess whether OmpU-pretreatment induces tolerance in LPS-activated cells.

We performed co-immunoprecipitation assay with anti-TLR4 or anti-TLR2 antibodies. We observed that LPS-treatment did not cause MyD88 recruitment to TLR4 (Fig. 10A, 10B) in both RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells. Further, LPS induced heterodimerization of TLR2 with TLR6, but not with TLR1 (Fig. 10A, 10B). Additionally, MyD88 recruitment to TLR2 was enhanced in response to LPS in both the cell types (Fig. 10A, 10B). Further, we assessed surface expression of TLR2 and TLR6 in response to LPS in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells. We observed an increase in surface expression of both these TLRs in both the cell lines (Fig. 10C, 10D). Hence, our results indicated that LPS mediates its signaling via TLR2/6-MyD88 pathway in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells.



Fig. 10. LPS mediates its signaling in a TLR2/6-MyD88-dependent manner in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cell lines.

RAW 264.7 (A) and THP-1 cells (B) were treated with LPS or buffer for 1 h and whole cell lysates were prepared. Co-immunoprecipitation (IP) was performed with anti-TLR2 or anti-TLR4 antibody. Immuno-blotting (IB) for various signaling mediators was performed using anti-TLR2, anti-TLR1, anti-TLR6, anti-TLR4, anti-MyD88, anti-IRAK1, or anti-IRAK4 antibody. RAW 264.7 (C) and THP-1 cells (D) were treated with LPS or buffer and surface expression of TLR2 and TLR6 was assessed by flow cytometry. RAW 264.7 cells were treated with Fc block prior to primary antibody staining. For THP-1 cells, isotype-treated cells were used as controls. Blots and histograms are representative of three independent experiments.

4.3.4 OmpU-pretreatment attenuates LPS-mediated TLR signaling by decreasing the association of signaling mediators

Once we established the involvement of TLR2/TLR6 and MyD88 in LPS-mediated signaling in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells, we proceeded further to determine whether OmpU could modulate the LPS-mediated signaling by affecting association TLRs and/various signaling mediators. It is known in LPS-mediated signaling that MyD88 further recruits IRAK1 and IRAK4 [146]. IRAK4 phosphorylates IRAK1 and, in turn, activates and recruits other downstream signaling molecules [146].

We observed that OmpU-pretreatment decreased LPS-induced association of TLR6 with TLR2 in both RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cell types, as compared to buffer/LPS treated cells (Fig. 11A, 11B). Further, association of MyD88, IRAK1, and IRAK4 to the receptor complex was also reduced in OmpU/LPS-treated cells (Fig. 11A, 11B). Direct association of IRAK1 and IRAK4 with MyD88 was also decreased in OmpU/LPS-treated cells than in buffer/LPS-treated cells (Fig. 11C, 11D). Hence, our observations suggested that OmpU-pretreatment attenuates LPS-mediated TLR signaling at multiple steps.



Fig. 11. OmpU-pretreatment affects LPS-mediated TLR2/TLR6 dimerization, MyD88 recruitment to the receptor complex, and IRAK recruitment to MyD88.

RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells were pretreated with OmpU or buffer for 24 h, further replated in fresh media, and stimulated with LPS for 1 h. Whole cell lysates were prepared from RAW 264.7 (A) and THP-1 cells (B), and co-immunoprecipitation (IP) was performed with anti-TLR2 antibody. Similarly, co-immunoprecipitation (IP) with anti-MyD88 antibody was performed in cell lysates from RAW 264.7 (C) and THP-1 (D). Followed by co-IP, immuno-blotting (IB) for various mediators were carried out using anti-TLR2, anti-TLR1, anti-TLR6, anti-TLR4, anti-MyD88, anti-IRAK1, or anti-IRAK4 antibodies. Each set of blots are representative of three independent experimental sets.

4.3.5 OmpU-pretreatment enhances LPS-mediated IRAK-M expression in RAW 264.7 cells

The most well established mechanism of endotoxin tolerance and some other tolerance mechanisms showed involvement of several negative regulators of TLR signaling [188-206]. As LPS-induced TLR signaling was being affected at the initial stages due to OmpU-pretreatment, we wanted to determine whether any known negative regulator of TLR signaling was involved in the process.

We probed different negative regulators of TLR signaling, such as, SOCS-1, SOCS-3, SHIP-1, TOLLIP, IRAK-M, and MKP-1. SOCS-1 and SOCS-3 have been initially identified as negative regulators of cytokine signaling, however, their role has also been implicated in TLR activation [207,208]. SHIP-1 dephosphorylates TBK1, a down-stream TLR signaling mediator, and hence attenuates TLR signaling [209]. TOLLIP inhibits IRAK activity, after it associates with TLR [210]. IRAK-M prevents dissociation of IRAK dimers from TLRs [211], whereas, MKP-1 is a negative regulator of MAPK signaling, which can be activated by TLR signaling [212].

We did not observe increased mRNA levels of any of these regulators in OmpU/LPS-treated cells as compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells (Fig. 12A, 12B) except that of IRAK-M in RAW 264.7 cells (Fig. 12A). This was further confirmed by western blotting (Fig. 12C). However, IRAK-M overexpression in THP-1, human PBMCs, and mouse peritoneal macrophages did not occur. Therefore, our observation suggests that IRAK-M may contribute toward attenuating TLR signaling in RAW 264.7 cells.



Fig. 12. OmpU-pretreatment does not enhance negative regulators of TLR signaling in LPS-activated RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells except Irak-m in RAW 264.7 cells.

RAW 264.7 (A) and THP-1 cells (B) were pretreated with OmpU or buffer for 24 h and further activated with LPS. RNA was isolated and gene-expression analysis for *Socs-1, Socs-3, Mkp-1, Ship-1, Tollip*, and *Irak-m* was carried out by semi-quantitative PCR. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and representative of three independent experiments. **p* <0.05, ***p* <0.01, ****p* <0.001 versus LPS. In RAW 264.7 (C), immuno-blotting with anti-IRAK-M antibody was performed under similar treatment conditions. Blot is representative of three independent experiments.

4.3.6 OmpU-pretreatment alters LPS-mediated translocation of transcription factors

TLR signaling usually culminates in activation of the transcription factors, such as, NFKB and AP-1, which are key regulators of pro-inflammatory responses. NFkB and AP-1 promoters are present on cytokine genes, such as, TNF α , IL-6, IL-12, etc. [213]. As OmpU-pretreatment affected the TLR-signaling pathway, we further evaluated whether attenuated TLR signaling resulted in decreased NFkB levels in the nucleus. Toward this, we assessed translocation of two members of NF κ B family, by western blotting, that is, RelA (p65) and c-Rel, which are commonly involved in pro-inflammatory responses. We observed that, in both RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells, RelA and c-Rel translocation to the nucleus was reduced due to OmpU/LPS treatment, as compared to buffer/LPS treatment (Fig. 13). Further, we assessed LPS-mediated translocation of AP-1 family members. Among the seven members present, OmpU increased translocation of suppressive family members: JunD and Fra-1 in RAW 264.7 cells [214], which can contribute toward reduced pro-inflammatory responses. However, this did not occur in THP-1 cells (Fig. 13). Thus, our observations suggested that OmpU modulates LPS-induced TLRsignaling pathway and alters transcription factor levels, ultimately resulting in decreased pro-inflammatory mediator production by LPS [142].

A RAW 264.7



B THP-1

Fig. 13. OmpU-pretreatment alters LPS-mediated translocation of nuclear factors.

RAW 264.7 (A) and THP-1 (B) cells were treated with OmpU or buffer for 24 h and further stimulated with LPS for various time points. Nuclear lysates were prepared and immunoblotting was carried out using anti-RelA and anti-c-Rel antibodies. Blots are representative of three independent experiments.

4.3.7 Assessing effect of OmpU-pretreatment on LPS-driven macrophage function

As all the above results indicated that OmpU-pretreatment probably induces tolerance in LPS-activated cells, we further wanted to confirm it by probing other features of tolerance. Endotoxin-tolerant monocytes and macrophages demonstrate certain features, such as, enhanced phagocytosis and decreased costimulatory molecule expression in macrophages [163,215,216]. Therefore, we further investigated whether OmpU-pretreatment altered phagocytic ability and co-stimulatory molecule expression of macrophages on LPS-stimulation.

4.3.7.1 OmpU-pretreatment enhances phagocytosis of LPS-stimulated cells

Phagocytosis is a central feature of macrophages and can be increased in tolerized macrophages, which helps in clearing pro-inflammatory stimuli and hastening tissue repair. We investigated whether OmpU-pretreatment affected phagocytosis of Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated *Escherichia coli* BioParticles in LPS-stimulated cells. We observed that phagocytic capacity of OmpU/LPS-activated RAW 264.7 cells was enhanced, as compared to buffer/LPS cells (Fig. 14). However, this effect was not observed in mouse peritoneal macrophages.



Fig. 14. OmpU-pretreatment enhances phagocytosis of RAW 264.7 cells on stimulation with LPS.

RAW 264.7 cells were treated with OmpU or buffer for 24 h and further stimulated with LPS for 24 h. Phagocytosis of Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated *E. coli* BioParticles was measured by flow cytometry. Gate 1 is set for unstained cells. Gate 2 is set on cells that have phagocytosed BioParticles. Histograms are representative of three independent experiments.
4.3.7.2 OmpU-pretreatment decreases LPS-induced surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules

PAMPs can induce expression of co-stimulatory molecules, such as, CD80 and CD86 on the cell surface of macrophages through PAMP–PRR interactions [154], which is crucial for T-cell activation. Tolerant monocytes and macrophages display decreased co-stimulatory molecule expression and thus, prevent T cells from being optimally activated. This prevents T cells from secreting cytokines that augment pro-inflammatory macrophage functions, thereby, helping in resolution of inflammation.



Fig. 15. OmpU-pretreatment decreases surface expression of LPS-mediated co-stimulatory molecules in RAW 264.7 and mouse peritoneal macrophages.

RAW 264.7 cells and mouse peritoneal macrophages were treated with OmpU or buffer for 24 h and further stimulated with LPS for 24 h. (A) Surface expression of CD80 in RAW 264.7 cells following OmpU/LPS or buffer/LPS treatments was determined by flow cytometry. (B) Surface expression of CD86 in mouse peritoneal macrophages following OmpU/LPS or buffer/LPS treatments was determined by flow cytometry. RAW 264.7 cells and mouse peritoneal macrophages were treated with Fc block prior to primary antibody staining. Histograms are representative of three independent experiments.

We observed that CD80 surface expression increased in response to LPS in RAW 264.7 cells, whereas CD86 expression remained unchanged. In mouse peritoneal macrophages, CD86 surface expression increased on LPS treatment but not that of CD80. Further, we wanted to explore whether OmpU-pretreatment could change surface-expression pattern of CD80 or CD86 in LPS-activated RAW 264.7 or mouse peritoneal macrophages. On OmpU-pretreatment, LPS-mediated surface expression of CD80 decreased in

RAW 264.7 cells (Fig. 15A). Similarly, in primary macrophages, CD86-surface expression was reduced in OmpU/LPS-treated cells as compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells (Fig. 15B).

4.4 Conclusions

Classically activated macrophages can transition to immune-suppressive phenotype depending on various environmental stimuli, such as, cytokines and PAMPs [164]. Macrophages can adopt this anti-inflammatory phenotype in two cases: macrophage tolerance and alternative polarization. The initial indicator of tolerant or alternatively activated monocytes and macrophages is the suppression of pro-inflammatory mediator production. As OmpU down-regulated LPS-mediated responses in monocytes and macrophages, we were interested in probing the mechanism behind it. Toward this, we initially had two hypotheses: that OmpU was either polarizing monocytes/macrophages toward M2 type or rendering cells tolerant.

We initially assessed gene expression of M2-polarization markers in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells, such as, CXCR1, CXCR2, CCL17, CCL18, CCL22, CCL24, and arginase. We did not observe an increase in gene expression of these M2-associated chemokines in OmpU/LPS-treated cells as compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells (Fig. 8). Therefore, our results pointed out that tolerance may be induced independently of M2-polarization. We then determined whether immune-suppressive cytokines, such as, IL-10 and TGF β , which are associated with M2 polarization, were involved in the down-regulatory phenomenon. Cell lines did not produce IL-10 and TGF β in response. But, OmpU-induced IL-10 secretion in human PBMCs played a partial role in the down-regulation of LPS-mediated TNF α production (Fig. 9).

The observation that OmpU-mediated suppression of LPS-dependent responses did not induce heightened expression of some of the key markers of M2-polarization, directed us toward exploring, whether, OmpU could induce tolerance in LPS-activated cells. Macrophage tolerance usually alters TLR-signaling pathways. Our data indicated that LPS signals via TLR2/6-MyD88-dependent pathway (Fig. 10). We therefore, assessed TLR and IRAK levels in whole cell lysates by western blotting, and we did not see any differences in their expression levels in response to OmpU/LPS versus LPS treatments.

This prompted us to study the association of signaling mediators by co-immunoprecipitation. We observed that OmpU-pretreatment attenuated LPS-mediated TLR signaling by decreasing association of TLR6, MyD88, and IRAK1/4 to TLR2, as well as, IRAK1/4 recruitment to MyD88 (Fig. 11).

Numerous negative regulators of TLR signaling are reported to be involved in endotoxinmediated tolerance [158], as well as, in some other type of tolerance. These include IRAK-M [188-192], SOCS-1 [193,194], SOCS-3 [195,196], MKP-1 [197-200], TOLLIP [201,202], and SHIP-1 [203-206]. In our study, we observed heightened mRNA expression of only IRAK-M in OmpU-pretreated LPS-activated RAW 264.7 cells, which was further confirmed by western blotting (Fig. 12). However, we did not observe enhanced gene expression of other negative regulators assessed.

TLR signaling usually leads to NF κ B and AP-1 activation. In our study, we observed that to begin with, there was decreased translocation of NF κ B members to the nucleus on OmpU-pretreatment in RAW 264.7 and THP-1 cells (Fig. 13). Further, translocation of two suppressive AP-1 family members: JunD and Fra-1 was augmented in RAW 264.7 cells but not in THP-1 cells (Fig. 13). Thus, OmpU alters transcription factor levels, which contribute toward suppressed LPS-mediated responses.

We further determined whether OmpU could modify LPS-driven macrophage function, such as, phagocytosis and co-stimulatory molecules expression; both of which are important during antigen presentation. Our findings showed that OmpU-pretreatment enhances phagocytosis of RAW 264.7 cells on LPS-stimulation as compared to that of LPS-activated cells (Fig. 14). Further, OmpU/LPS-treated murine macrophages display decreased co-stimulatory molecule expression (Fig. 15).

Altogether, OmpU induces macrophage tolerance in LPS-stimulated cells by attenuating TLR-signaling pathway. Further, this tolerance does not involve M2 polarization [217].

Specific Aim 2: To determine whether OmpU can shape adaptive responses by examining its effects on DCs and T cells

Chapter 3: Dendritic cell activation by OmpU

Chapter 4: Modulation of adaptive responses by OmpU

Chapter 3: Dendritic cell activation by OmpU

5.1 DCs act as sensors, sentinels, and seekers of infectious agents

The mononuclear phagocytic system consists of monocytes, macrophages, and DCs. These cells are important for phagocytosis of microbes and induction of inflammation [96]. The role of monocytes and macrophages has been discussed in detail in the earlier chapters. The third member of this system, DCs derive their name due to the presence of branched membranous extensions or dendrites (Greek, dendron meaning 'tree'). DCs can be divided into two types: plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and classical DCs (cDCs). pDCs usually are present in blood and lymphoid tissues. They have low expressions of MHC-II, co-stimulatory molecules, and CD11c integrin [218]. They also express limited number of TLRs, namely TLR7 and TLR9, which are important anti-viral responses as they recognize nucleic acid PAMPs. The second type of DCs, cDCs are present in lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissues. cDCs express a larger repertoire of PRRs, including TLRs, NLRs, and RLRs [218]. They also express high levels of CD11c. Due to their presence in non-lymphoid tissues, they are constantly exposed to several antigens and can sense various PAMPs due to diverse PRRs present on them. When immature DCs, which have not encountered an antigen, recognize PAMPs via PRRs, they may become activated and secrete cytokines, such as, $TNF\alpha$, IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-12, etc. [219]. This usually involves NFkB signaling and may involve MAPK signaling, similar to that of monocytes and macrophages [219]. All these aspects make DCs important mediators of innate immunity along with monocytes and macrophages. Moreover, innate activation of DCs subsequently shapes the adaptive responses. The cytokines secreted by DCs and their interaction with adaptive immune cells, determine the type of adaptive response generated. Therefore, DCs are critical mediators between innate and adaptive immunity.

5.1.1 Inflammasomes: Responders to PAMPs and mediators of innate immunity

Along with TLRs, DCs also contain intra-cellular PRRs, such as, NODs and NLRs that are crucial for recognition of PAMPs. Inflammasomes are multi-protein heptameric complexes consisting of caspase-1, PYCARD, and PAMP-binding proteins, such as, NLRs and AIM2 [220]. Inflammasomes convert pro-caspase-1 into active caspase-1. This

in turn, leads to cleavage of pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18 to yield mature IL-1 β and IL-18. However, IL-1 β can also be converted into its active form independent of caspase-1, by serine proteases, such as, proteinase 3, elastase, and cathepsin G present in neutrophils and macrophages [221]. IL-1 β induces vasodilation, hyperthermia, and increases proliferation and differentiation of lymphocytes. It induces COX-1 and prostaglandins that are involved in inflammatory pain. Additionally, it promotes extravasation of immune cells [130]. IL-18, along with IL-12, contributes toward cell-mediated immunity. It causes T cells and NK cells to release IFN γ (Th1 response) and inhibits Th2 type of response [130].

5.1.2 Different types of inflammasomes recognize several innate immune activators

Inflammasomes can be activated in response to several PAMPs and microbial infections. Currently, there are six types of inflammasomes known, those involving NLR proteins (NLRP1, NLRP3, NLRC4, NLRP6, and NLRP12) and the AIM2 inflammasome (Illustration 17) [222]. The NLRP3 inflammasome also detects danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as, uric acid, cholesterol, and silica crystals.

NLR proteins contain a leucine-rich repeat domain (LRR) at the C-terminal that senses PAMPs and DAMPs [223]. NLRs differ in the length and structure of LRR. Further, the nucleoside triphosphatase domain (NACHT) mediates NLR oligomerization and forms the core structure. The N-terminal domain can consist of a pyrin domain (PYD) or caspase-recruiting domain (CARD). Apoptosis associated speck-like containing a CARD (ASC) protein is an adaptor molecule that interacts with NLR via the PYD domain present in AIM2, NLRP1, NLRP3, NLRP6, and NLRP12 and further recruits pro-caspase-1 which also contains a CARD domain [223]. However, NLRP1 and NLRC4 can interact with pro-caspase-1 via CARD domains directly and convert it into active caspase-1 without ASC involvement [224,225]. Moreover, ASC is still required for optimal function.

Inflammasome activation of NLRP1 and NLRP3 involves two steps. Stimulation of NF κ B in response to DAMP/PAMP recognition leads to transcription of proteins involved in the inflammasome, such as, NLR, caspase-1, ASC, etc. The second signal initiates oligomerization of these proteins into a complex. These signals may involve

 K^+ efflux, ROS generation, mitochondrial changes, release of mitochondrial content and lysosomal cathepsins, and Ca²⁺ influx [221]. Oligomerization of AIM2 and NLRC4 occurs in response to conformational changes on sensing of their respective PAMPs. This oligomerization leads to proximity-induced proteolytic cleavage of pro-caspase-1 into p10 and p20 subunits. These subunits build tetramers and form active caspase-1 (Illustration 18), which further yields active IL-1 β and IL-18 [223].



Illustration 17. General structure of inflammasomes and their activators [222,226,227]

A noncanonical inflammasome is mediated by caspase-11 in mice. It has been shown to promote NLRP3 activation by enhancing IL-18 processing. Further, it recognizes intra-cellular LPS and bacteria and induces IL-1 α secretion but not that of IL-1 β [228]. Human caspase-4 and caspase-5 perform similar function and can be involved in activation of NLRP1 and NLRP3 inflammasomes, respectively [229].



Illustration 18. Canonical activation of inflammasomes

5.2 Objectives

Our previous results indicated that OmpU behaves as a PAMP and induces pro-inflammatory mediator production in monocytes and macrophages [142]. We further wanted to probe whether OmpU can activate DCs, as they play a crucial role in both innate immunity and adaptive immunity. We employed murine BMDCs and splenic DCs to explore these aspects.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Differentiated BMDCs and isolated splenic DCs express CD11c

The nature of BMDCs differentiated from hematopoietic cells was determined by analyzing surface expression of CD11c by flow cytometry. Similarly, purity of MACS-isolated splenic DCs from splenocytes was assessed in terms of CD11c expression. Both types of DCs expressed high levels of CD11c, indicative of cDCs (Fig. 16).



Fig. 16. CD11c expression by differentiated BMDCs and purified splenic DCs.

(A) Bone marrow cells were differentiated using 10 ng/ml murine GM-CSF for 7 days. Cells were harvested and analyzed for surface expression of CD11c by flow cytometry (B) CD11c expression of MACS-purified splenic DCs and negative fraction was assessed by flow cytometry.

5.3.2 OmpU induces pro-inflammatory mediator production in murine BMDCs

On recognition and internalization of microbes or microbial products, DCs become activated and secrete cytokines. We wanted to determine whether OmpU could activate immature murine BMDCs and induce pro-inflammatory mediator production. We observed that OmpU-treated BMDCs exhibited enhanced secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as, $TNF\alpha$, IL-6, and IL-1 β at 24 h (Fig. 17).



Fig. 17. OmpU induces pro-inflammatory cytokine production in murine BMDCs.

BMDCs were treated with 2 µg/ml OmpU for 24 h. Buffer-treated and LPS-treated (1 µg/ml) served as negative and positive controls, respectively. Levels of (A) TNF α , (B) IL-6, and (C) IL-1 β were measured by ELISA in culture supernatants after 24 h. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 versus buffer control.

5.3.3 OmpU activation of DCs is independent of TLR2 and TLR4 signaling

DCs can recognize PAMPs via PRRs, such as TLRs, and become activated. One of the earlier reports from our laboratory showed that OmpU leads to pro-inflammatory mediator production in a TLR1/2-MyD88-dependent manner in monocytes and macrophages [177]. As OmpU-treated BMDCs secreted several pro-inflammatory cytokines, we wanted to determine whether this secretion was in response to OmpU-induced TLR-mediated signaling. As TLR2 heterodimerizes with either TLR1 or TLR6 on activation, we wanted to first explore whether TLR2 was involved in OmpU-mediated DC activation. In addition to TLR1, TLR2, and TLR6, TLR4 is also present on the surface of DCs. Hence, we also assessed the involvement of TLR4 in OmpU-mediated signaling. We observed that the use of neutralizing antibodies against TLR2 and TLR4 did not affect OmpU-mediated TNFa and IL-6 release in BMDCs (Fig. 18A, 18B). As BMDCs were differentiated in vitro, we assessed TLR2 and TLR4 involvement in splenic DCs. We observed a similar result in splenic DCs as well (Fig. 18C, 18D). As TLR1 and TLR6 heterodimerize with TLR2, their involvement in OmpU-mediated DC activation also can be ruled out. This suggests that OmpU activates DCs in a TLR2 (TLR1/TLR6)- and TLR4-independent manner. Therefore, the PRR involved in OmpU recognition remains elusive.



Fig. 18. OmpU induced pro-inflammatory cytokine production in DCs is TLR2 and TLR4 independent.

BMDCs (A,B) and splenic DCs (C,D) were treated anti-TLR2 and anti-TLR4 neutralizing antibody and after 1 h of incubation, cells were treated with 2 μ g/ml OmpU and incubated for 24 h. Cells treated with buffer and isotype antibody served as controls. Collected supernatants were analyzed for TNF α (A,C) and IL-6, (B,D) levels by ELISA. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments.

5.3.4 OmpU-induced TNF α and IL-6 in BMDCs is mediated by MAPKs, p38 and JNK and transcription factors, NF κ B and AP-1

The production of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , and IL-12, is initiated by two important transcription factors, NF κ B and AP-1 [146]. These transcription factors can be activated by MAPKs, p38 and JNK [230]. Further, MAPKs and transcription factors can be activated in a TLR-dependent, as well as, TLR-independent manner [230].

As our data suggested that OmpU activates DCs probably in a TLR-independent manner, we further determined whether MAPKs and these transcription factors are involved in OmpU-mediated pro-inflammatory cytokine production. We determined the involvement of p38 in OmpU-mediated signaling treating BMDCs with p38 inhibitor VX-745. It competes with p38α for ATP and prevents phosphorylation of p38 which is required for its activation [231]. Further, to probe the involvement of JNK in OmpU-mediated DC activation, BMDCs were treated with JNK inhibitor JNKIN8. It forms a covalent adduct with conserved cysteine residue present in all JNK isoforms and prevents them from being in their active conformations [232].

NF κ B remains in the cytoplasm in an inactive form bound to its inhibitor I κ B. On phosphorylation, I κ B is ubiquitinylated and degraded, leading to the release of NF κ B. Released NF κ B then translocates to nucleus. To probe whether NF κ B is involved in OmpU-mediated signaling, BMDCs were treated with NF κ B inhibitor MLN4924, which inhibits ubiquitinylation of I κ B and prevents NF κ B release [233]. In its active form, AP-1 transcription factor is a dimer of a Fos family member and a Jun family member. On phosphorylation c-jun (the most common family member involved in inflammatory responses) translocates to the nucleus and dimerizes with a Fos family member. Inhibitor SP600125 prevents phosphorylation of c-jun by competing with JNKs for ATP [234].

We observed that pretreatment with p38 and JNK inhibitors led to an 85% and 87% decrease in OmpU-mediated TNF α production and an 80% and 40% decrease in IL-6 production, respectively (Fig. 19A, 19B). Similarly, the use of NF κ B and AP-1 inhibitors, led to a decrease in OmpU-mediated TNF α levels by 80% and 40% and IL-6 by 63% and 36%, respectively (Fig. 19D, 19E). To ensure that decreased cytokine production was not due to decreased cell health, we performed LDH-release assay. Results indicated that

OmpU and inhibitor treatments were not cytotoxic (Fig. 19C, 19F). These results indicate that OmpU-mediated cytokine production involved transcription factors, NFκB and AP-1, as well as, MAPKs, p38 and JNK.



Fig. 19. OmpU-induced TNFα and IL-6 production in BMDCs is dependent on MAPKs, and NFκB and AP-1 transcription factors.

BMDCs were pretreated with p38 inhibitor VX745 (50 nM), JNK inhibitor JNKIN8 (250 nM), NF κ B inhibitor MLN4924 (500 nM), and AP-1 inhibitor SP600125 (20 μ M) for 1 h. After 1 h, cells were incubated with 2 μ g/ml OmpU for 24 h. Collected supernatants were analyzed for TNF α (A,D) and IL-6, (B,E) production by ELISA. With the same treatments, cell viability (C,F) was assessed by LDH-release assay. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. ***p < 0.001 versus OmpU.

5.3.5 OmpU-induced IL-1 β in DCs is mediated by MAPKs, p38 and JNK and transcription factors, NF κ B and AP-1

As OmpU-mediated TNF α and IL-6 production were dependent on MAPKs and transcription factors NF κ B and AP-1, we further probed whether IL-1 β production involved a similar pathway. BMDCs and splenic DCs were treated with chemical inhibitors against p38, JNK, NF κ B, and AP-1.



Fig. 20. OmpU induced IL-1 β production in DCs is dependent on MAPKs, and NF κ B and AP-1 transcription factors.

BMDCs (A), (B) and splenic DCs (C), (D) were pretreated with p38 inhibitor VX745 (50 nM), JNK inhibitor JNKIN8 (250 nM), NF κ B inhibitor MLN4924 (500 nM), and AP-1 inhibitor SP600125 (20 μ M) for 1 h. After 1 h, cells were incubated with 2 μ g/ml OmpU for 24 h. Collected supernatants were analyzed for IL-1 β production by ELISA. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. ***p < 0.001 versus OmpU.

Results indicated that the use of MAPK-, as well as, transcription-factor inhibitors led to an approximate 85–90% decrease in OmpU-mediated IL-1 β in BMDCs (Fig. 20A, 20B). In splenic DCs, p38 and JNK inhibitors decreased IL-1 β by 75% and 50%, respectively (Fig. 20C). Further, OmpU-mediated IL-1 β production decreased by 80% and 50% in response to NF κ B and AP-1 inhibitors, respectively (Fig. 20D). These results indicate that similar to TNF α and IL-6, OmpU-dependent IL-1 β production is also mediated by MAPKs, and transcription factors AP-1 and NF κ B in BMDCs and splenic DCs.

5.3.6 OmpU-mediated IL-1 β production in DCs is mediated by the NLRP3 inflammasome

As OmpU induced production of IL-1 β in DCs, we wanted to probe whether caspase-1 and NLRP3 inflammasome were involved. BMDCs and splenic DCs were pretreated with caspase-1 inhibitor, parthenolide, which directly alkylates p20 subunit and also hampers NLRP3 inflammasome by interfering with its ATPase activity [235]. DCs were also treated with NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitor isoliquiritigenin, which prevents NLRP3-activated ASC-oligomerization [236].

Our data suggest that with the use of caspase-1 and NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitors OmpU-mediated IL-1 β levels decreased by 87–89% in BMDCs (Fig. 21A) and by a similar extent in splenic DCs (Fig. 21B). LDH-release assay in BMDCs suggested that the concentrations of both these inhibitors were not cytotoxic to cells (Fig. 21C).

Furthermore, we wanted to assess whether levels of active caspase-1 increased in OmpU-treated DCs. OmpU-treated BMDCs (Fig. 21D) and CD11c-enriched fraction of splenocytes (Fig. 21E) exhibited conversion of pro-caspase-1 to active caspase-1 implicating caspase-1 in IL-1 β production. Altogether, these results are indicative of NLRP3 inflammasome and caspase-1 involvement in OmpU-mediated IL-1 β in DCs.



Fig. 21. OmpU induced IL-1 β production in DCs is dependent on NLRP3 inflammasome and caspase-1 activation.

BMDCs (A) and splenic DCs (B) were pretreated with, caspase-1 inhibitor parthenolide (18 μ M) for 30 min and NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitor isoliquiritigenin (80 μ M) for 15 min. After respective time periods, cells were incubated with 2 μ g/ml OmpU for 24 h. Buffer-treated and OmpU-treated cells served as controls. IL-1 β levels were measured by ELISA in culture supernatants after 24 h. Cell viability (C) after incubation with caspase-1 and NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitor was assessed by LDH-release assay in BMDCs. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. ***p < 0.001 versus OmpU. BMDCs (D) and CDd11c-enriched fraction of splenocytes (E) were treated with 2 μ g/ml OmpU for 2 h. Whole cell lysates were prepared and analysed for caspase-1 by immunoblotting. Blots are representative for three independent experiments.

5.4 Conclusions

DCs are important innate immune-response mediators along with monocytes and macrophages, which together form the mononuclear phagocytic system. Our earlier results proved that OmpU induced pro-inflammatory mediator production in monocytes and macrophages. We further investigated whether OmpU activated DCs as well. We studied the effects of OmpU on murine BMDCs and splenic DCs and assessed their CD11c expression by flow cytometry (Fig. 16), which indicates that they were cDCs. OmpU-treated BMDCs secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF α , IL-6, and IL-1 β (Fig. 17).

We further explored whether this activation was TLR2 or TLR4 dependent as OmpU mediates its responses via TLR2 in monocytes and macrophages [177]. With the use of neutralizing antibodies against TLR2 and TLR4, OmpU-mediated TNF α and IL-6 remain unaffected in BMDCs, as well as, splenic DCs (Fig. 17) suggesting OmpU does not mediate its signaling via TLR1/2/4/6 in DCs. We further explored whether MAPKs, p38 and JNK and transcription factors AP-1 and NF κ B were involved in OmpU-mediated cytokine production by using chemical inhibitors. With the use of these inhibitors, TNF α and IL-6 levels reduced considerably in BMDCs (Fig. 19). Similarly, as in the case of TNF α and IL-6, MAPKs and transcription factors AP-1 and NF κ B were also involved in IL-1 β production in BMDCs (Fig. 20A, 20B) and splenic DCs (Fig. 20C, 20D).

As OmpU induced IL-1 β production in BMDCs, we examined whether it was mediated by inflammasomes. We used chemical inhibitors against caspase-1 and NLRP3 inflammasome and observed that OmpU-mediated IL-1 β secretion decreased substantially in BMDCs, as well as, splenic DCs (Fig. 21A, 21B). Immunoblotting for caspase-1 indicated that OmpU induced conversion of pro-caspase-1 to active caspase-1, facilitating IL-1 β secretion in BMDCs and CD11c-enriched splenocyte fraction (Fig. 21D, 21E). We assessed cytotoxicity in response to various treatments with chemical inhibitors to rule out the possibility that decreased cytokine production was due to decrease cell viability by LDH release assay. Our results showed that cell viability was minimally affected (Fig. 20C, 20F; Fig. 21C).

Altogether, our results indicated that OmpU led to production of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-6, and IL-1 β from DCs that is independent of TLR1/2/4/6. Further,

MAPKs, p38 and JNK and transcription factors, AP-1 and NF κ B mediate this cytokine response. Additionally, OmpU-mediated IL-1 β production is dependent on NLRP3 inflammasome and caspase-1.

Chapter 4: Modulation of adaptive responses by OmpU

6.1 DCs are professional antigen-presenting cells; bridging innate and adaptive responses

The innate immune system provides an immediate and critical anti-microbial response but it is non-specific and short-lived. Another crucial and vital role of the innate immune system involves alerting and activating the adaptive immune branch to initiate a specific, memory-generating, and long-lasting response against microbes and microbial products [96]. One of the ways by which the innate immune system does so is via the interaction of APCs and T cells. T cells are one of the critical mediators of the adaptive immunity. Both cell-mediated and humoral adaptive immune responses are dependent on T-cell activation. CD8⁺ T cells or cytotoxic T cells (Tc) promote cell-mediated immunity, whereas, CD4⁺ T cells or T helper cells (Th) shape both cell-mediated and antibodymediated humoral immunity [237]. APCs usually display extrinsic antigens (as opposed to intrinsic or self-antigens) via MHC-II molecules to CD4⁺ T cells. Out of the three APCs (macrophages, DCs, and B cells), DCs are highly potent in antigen presentation and are called professional APCs. In an immature condition, DCs can capture antigens but are poor in presenting them to T cells. However, in their mature state, DCs act as professional APCs [238]. This is due their greater capacity to recognize and phagocytose/endocytose microbes and PAMPs. PAMP-activated DCs usually undergo maturation and display enhanced co-stimulatory molecules on their surface. They migrate to lymph nodes and activate CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells [219]. Thus, DC maturation is a prerequisite for shaping adaptive responses [219].

6.1.1 The interaction of DCs with CD4⁺ T cells can lead to different immunological outcomes

Three interactions between DCs and CD4⁺ T cells are essential for optimal Th-cell activation. The first entails the interaction of antigenic peptide-loaded MHC-II (MHC-II–Ag) with T-cell receptor (TCR) complex. The second includes interaction of co-stimulatory molecules. These two interactions usually lead to secretion of cytokines, which augments functions of both cells (Illustration 19) [239,240].

The interaction of co-stimulatory molecules is decisive for T-cell activation. Several co-stimulatory molecule interactions between DCs and T cells are possible, which determine the fate of T cells. If T cells receive the first signal alone, that is, MHC-II–Ag, they become anergic. Anergy can also be induced if co-stimulatory interaction is present but involves T-cell suppressive molecules, such as, CTLA-4 or PD-1 [241]. The interaction of T cell Fas ligand with Fas receptor present on APC, leads to yet another distinct outcome, which involves apoptosis of T cells [242].



Illustration 19. APC–T cell interaction: MHC and co-stimulatory molecules antipresenting cells

T cells therefore, require precise co-stimulatory molecule interaction in order to be optimally activated. These interactions usually involve CD80-86 with CD28, CD40 with CD40L, ICOSL with ICOS present on DCs and T cells, respectively [241]. Interaction of CD80-86 with CD28 provides the initial signal and has wide spread effects, such as, proliferation and enhanced effector functions. It provides a synergistic signal and activates transcription factors NF κ B, AP-1, and NFAT that control T-cell proliferation and differentiation. CD28 signaling controls expression of T-cell cytokines and chemokines, as well as, downstream co-stimulatory molecules, such as, CD40L and ICOS [243]. This ensures the delivery of a 'second wave' of signals within hours or days of the initial CD28 interaction with CD80-86 in secondary lymphoid organs or after migration to tissues. These long-term effects shape effector T-cell functions and memory [243].

Activated T cells undergo clonal expansion on successful antigen presentation, which amplifies the response.

6.1.2 Interaction of DCs and Th cells shapes subsequent adaptive responses

Depending on the nature of PAMPs, DCs can secrete several cytokines. These cytokines determine the type of immune response generated by adaptive cells, both T and B cells. Initiator cytokines secreted by DCs act on T cells, which further secrete various effector cytokines. A combination of different initiator cytokines can polarize T cells toward different phenotypes (Table 6). Coffman, Mosmann, and Bottomly [244] during the 1980s proposed that two different types of T-cell polarizations, Th1 and Th2 that promote classical delayed-type hypersensitivity and allergic reactions, respectively. Additionally, they postulated that the development of one kind of polarization inhibits the other and vice versa. However, currently, there are about seven different types of T-cell polarizations known: Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17, Th22, Treg, and Tfh. These phenotypes perform a number of biological functions [245] (Table 6).

6.1.2.1 Th1 cells: Th1 cells secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN γ and TNF α , which stimulate innate and T-cell responses. They promote IgG2 production by B cells that is important for opsonization responses. Th1 response is dominated by cell-mediated form of immunity including cytolytic activity [246]. Further, this response is crucial for elimination of intra-cellular pathogens, such as, *Lesihmania* and *Mycobacterium*, *S. typhimurium*, *Listeria monocytogenes* (bacteria), *C. neoformans* (fungus), herpes simplex and influenza virus. Th1 cells are also involved in anti-tumor responses [247].

6.1.2.2 Th2 cells: Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-10, and IL-13 and promote IgG1 and IgE class switching of B cells, as well as, recruitment of eosinophils [248]. Unlike Th1 responses, Th2 responses are humoral-mediated. These responses are important in mucosal immunity and against extra-cellular pathogens, such as, helminths and nematodes [249].

6.1.2.3 Th17 cells: Th17 cells produce IL-17, IL-21, and IL-22. Th17 cells are important for clearance of extra-cellular and intra-cellular pathogens. IL-17 is involved in neutrophil recruitment [250]. IL-21 is important for IgE class switching and IL-22 plays a role in acute inflammation and immune-cell proliferation [251].

Initiators	Th type	Effectors	Processes
IL-12 IENv	12 Th1 λγ 18 27	IL-2 IFNγ TNFα	Macrophage activation
IL-18 IL-27			Killing of intracellular pathogens
IL-2 IL-4 IL-33	Th2	IL-3 IL-4 IL-5 IL-6 IL-10 IL-13 IL-25 IL-31	Antibody production by B cells against extracellular parasites
			Eosinophil activation and response against extracellular parasites
IL-4 TGFβ	Th9	IL-9 IL-10	Immune response against extracellular parasites
TGFβ IL-6 IL-1α IL-1β IL-21 IL-23	Th17	IL-17 IL-21	Immune response against extracellular bacteria and fungi
		IL-22 IL-26	
IL-6 Th22 TNFα	Th22	IL-13	Keratinocyte proliferation and epidermal
IL-23			nyperplasia
IL-2 TGFβ	Treg	IL-10 TGFβ	Immunosuppression and tolerance
	COS?	IL-35	
IL-6 IL-21	Tfh	IL-6 IL-10	Promotion of germinal center responses and B cell class switching
IL-27		IL-21	

Table 13. Different T-cell polarizations and their biological effects [252]

6.1.2.4 *Treg cells:* Treg (T regulatory) cells develop in the thymus and express CTLA-4 and GITR ligands, IL-10, and TGF β important for immune-suppressive responses [182]. Their main role is to maintain tolerance to self-antigens, as well as, to restore immune homeostasis after pathogen clearance [253].

6.1.2.5 Tfh cells: Follicular helper T cells are present in germinal centers near B-cell zones. They promote antibody responses and memory B-cell generation [254].

6.1.2.6 Th9 cells: Th9 cells produce IL-9 and IL-10. Similar to Th2 cells, they are involved in intestinal response to helminths [255].

6.1.2.7 *Th22 cells:* Th22 cells are recruited to skin where they mediate tissue repair as well defense against skin pathogens [256].

6.2 Objectives

Our previous results indicated that OmpU behaves as a PAMP and activates pro-inflammatory responses in DCs although we could not determine the PRR responsible for DC activation. As PAMP–PRR interaction is not only important for DC activation but also for DC maturation, we further explored different aspects of DC maturation in context of antigen presentation and studied whether OmpU-primed DCs can shape T-cell responses. We assessed whether OmpU affected antigen-presenting characteristics of DCs, such as, co-stimulatory molecule expression and CD4⁺ T-cell activation and polarization.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 OmpU induces maturation of DCs and macrophages

We determined whether OmpU affected surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules, CD80 and CD86 on APCs, such as, DCs and macrophages. We assessed expression of both these molecules in RAW 264.7 cells, peritoneal macrophages, and BMDCs. OmpU-treated macrophages displayed enhanced CD80 expression (Fig. 22A, 22B), whereas BMDCs expressed increased levels of CD80, as well as, CD86 molecules (Fig. 22C). OmpU thus, leads to APC maturation thereby, suggesting that OmpU may assist antigen presentation.



Fig. 22. OmpU enhances surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules in macrophages and BMDCs.

RAW 264.7 (A), mouse peritoneal macrophages (B), and BMDCs (C) were treated with 2 μg/ml OmpU for 24 h. Following incubation CD80- and CD86-surface expression was assessed by flow cytometry. Histograms are representative of three independent experiments.

6.3.2 OmpU induces a high IL-12/IL-10 production ratio in murine BMDCs

DCs can secrete initiator cytokines, such as, IL-12 or IL-10 that can polarize T cells toward Th1 or Th2, respectively. We determined levels of these two cytokines in response to OmpU in BMDCs. OmpU elicited higher IL-12 levels (9 ng/ml) than IL-10 (2.6 ng/ml) (Fig. 23) in BMDCs. IL-12 is important for Th1 type of responses that promote macrophage activation and cell-mediated killing. Thus, suggesting that OmpU might polarize T cells toward Th1 type.



Fig. 23. OmpU induces high IL-12/IL-10 ratio in BMDCs.

BMDCs were treated with 2 µg/ml OmpU for 24 h. Buffer-treated and LPS-treated (1 µg/ml) cells were served as negative and positive controls, respectively. Levels of (A) IL-12 and (B) IL-10 were measured by ELISA in culture supernatants after 24 h. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 versus buffer control.

6.3.3 OmpU-primed splenic DCs polarize CD4⁺ T cells toward Th1-type response in vitro

We further explored whether OmpU could shape T-cell polarization. To determine whether DCs can present OmpU-derived peptides to CD4⁺ T cells and can activate them, we co-cultured murine OmpU-primed splenic DCs with murine CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro*. We observed an increase in T-cell proliferation in terms of increased BrdU-incorporation (Fig. 24A). Thus, suggesting that OmpU possesses the ability to activate T cell-mediated immune responses. As OmpU induced a strong IL-12 signal in DCs, we probed whether OmpU could polarize T cells toward Th1 type. Therefore, we assessed IFN γ , TNF α , IL-10, and TGF β levels in co-culture supernatants by ELISA. We observed that OmpU lead to the secretion of IFN γ , the hallmark of Th1 polarization responses (Fig. 24B). However, we did not observe production of other cytokines assessed. Therefore, OmpU might promote cell-mediated immunity *in vivo*.



Fig. 24. OmpU-primed DCs increase CD4⁺ T-cell proliferation and induce IFNγ secretion in vitro.

Splenic DCs were treated with 2 µg/ml OmpU for 24 h and co-cultured with splenic T cells *in vitro* for 5 days. (A) T-cell proliferation was measured by BrdU-incorporation assay. (B) IFN γ levels in culture supernatants were measured by ELISA. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and represent the average of three independent experiments. *p < 0.5, **p < 0.01 versus buffer control.

6.4 Conclusions

Our previous results highlighted the innate immune responses in terms of pro-inflammatory effects of OmpU in monocytes, macrophages, as well as, DCs. We wanted to explore whether OmpU can modulate adaptive responses as well. We first studied whether OmpU affected co-stimulatory molecule expression in macrophages and DCs. Our results indicated that OmpU enhanced surface expression of CD80 in macrophages (RAW 264.7 and peritoneal macrophages) (Fig. 22A, 22B) and that of CD80-86 in BMDCs (Fig. 22C). We further assessed whether OmpU secreted high levels of IL-12 or IL-10 in BMDCs. We observed that OmpU induced higher levels of IL-12 than IL-10 suggesting a Th1 type of response (Fig. 23). This prompted us to determine whether OmpU could affect CD4⁺ T-cell responses. Co-culture of OmpU-primed splenic DCs with splenic CD4⁺ T cells, led to T-cell proliferation (Fig. 24A) and increased levels of IFN γ in culture supernatants (Fig. 24B). Altogether, these results suggest that OmpU assists antigen presentation and might shape Th1 polarization *in vivo* as well.

IV Discussion

7.1 Discussion

Porins are crucial for maintaining bacterial homeostasis as they mediate solute transport. They are present at the interface of bacteria and its environment and hence perform several roles related to bacterial protection. Apart from their channel property, porins can mediate bacterial survival and pathogenesis by aiding in adherence, invasion, and apoptosis of host cells. OmpC and OmpF of *E. coli* and *S. typhimurium*, *V. alginolyticus* OmpU, and *V. harveyi* OmpU are involved in antibiotic resistance [61,66]. *S. typhimurium* OmpC and *V. vulnificus* OmpU mediate adherence to host cells [70,73]. *V. splendidus* OmpU, *S. typhimurium* OmpD, *K. pneumoniae* OmpK36, and *S. flexneri* OmpC aid in invasion of host cells [108,257,258]. *N. gonorrhoeae* PorB and *P. aeruginosa* porin induce apoptosis in target cells [259,260].

Further, porins can behave as PAMPs, as sequences of most porins are identical to each other by atleast 50% [261]. All gram-negative bacterial porins share approximately 60% β -sheet content. Enterobacterial porins contain a characteristic PEFGGD amino acid signature sequence in their L3 loop. The OmpC and PhoE porins share 80–90% sequence similarity across different genera, whereas, OmpC, PhoE, and OmpK36 show 60% sequence similarity [262]. *Vibrio* falls under the γ -proteobacteria class. Porins from γ -proteobacteria show strong similarity to each other and contain short (10-residue) extensions at their N termini (*Vibrio cholerae* OmpU is an exception). When multiple porins from this class are aligned on the basis of average hydrophobicity and hydrophobic moment (by Gibbs motif sampling program), the *Vibrio–Photobacterium* group is unusual as they contain exceptionally long L3 loops [68]. OmpU shares around 50–70% sequence similarity across *Vibrio* species.

Porins can be recognized by PRRs present on host immune cells and can hence modulate immune responses. Porins from several gram-negative bacteria, such as, *Brucella abortus*, *Fusobacterium nucleatum*, *Haemophilus influenzae*, *H. pylori*, *K. pneumoniae*, *Neisseria*, *Pasteurella*, *Pseudomonas*, *Salmonella*, and *Shigella* species activate mouse and human macrophages and IECs [69,75,76,78,79,81,263-276]. These porins induce a pro-inflammatory response in terms cytokine and chemokine production, such as, TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-8, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , and RANTES. Furthermore, *Salmonella* porins, although lead to secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators, can also induce an immunosuppressive cytokine, IL-10 [87]. *Vibrio* porin OmpU is an important mediator of host–pathogen interactions across several species as mentioned above. *V. cholerae* OmpU plays multiple roles in pathogenesis. It confers resistance against bile acids and anti-microbial peptides in the gut [105-107,139,277-280]. Its expression is positively regulated by the master virulence-gene controller, ToxR [39,50,59,281,282]. Furthermore, OmpU is expressed by pathogenic strains only [111] and its sequence is conserved among epidemic strains [113]. Apart from being present in the *V. cholerae* outer membrane, OmpU is also a dominant protein in naturally secreted vesicles. Moreover, vesicles administered in mice lead to protective responses [114,115]. Antisera of cholera patients contain antibodies against multiple OMPs including OmpU [116]. Inspite of multiple roles of OmpU in pathogenesis, it has not been characterized in terms of host immune responses and thus, is an important candidate for immunological study.

We initially wanted to determine whether V. cholerae porin OmpU could affect inflammation, which is one of the primary responses of the innate immune system. We assessed whether OmpU could activate the critical mediators of inflammation, monocytes and macrophages, in terms of pro-inflammatory mediator production. Our data indicated that OmpU classically activates monocytes and macrophages as it induced secretion of inflammatory mediators, such as, NO (Fig. 1), TNFa (Fig. 2), and IL-6 (Fig. 3) by increasing the mRNA expression of nitric oxide synthase 2 (enzyme that catalyzes NO production), TNF α , and IL-6 [142]. Thus, apart from its role in bacterial survival by conferring resistance against bile acids and anti-microbial peptides, we for the first time have characterized the pro-inflammatory role of a V. cholerae porin and establish that it behaves similarly to other gram-negative bacterial porins in terms of its ability to activate monocytes and macrophages. Further, OmpU up-regulates gene expression of important granulocyte-activating and neutrophil-recruiting chemokines, such as, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , and RANTES in monocytes and macrophages [177]. The production of these pro-inflammatory effectors is mediated by TLR1/2 heterodimer [177], suggesting that OmpU behaves as a PAMP. Furthermore, $\Delta ompU V$. cholerae strains exhibit decreased pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in human IEC line [117-120,283,284]. Recently, OmpU has been reported to induce caspase-independent programmed cell death by translocating to the mitochondria of host cells [285]. All these findings suggest that OmpU is an important pathogenic mediator of V. cholerae.

Although PAMPs can induce pro-inflammatory responses in monocytes and macrophages, certain PAMPs can also induce tolerance in these cells. Tolerance is defined as a refractory state of monocytes and macrophages due to subsequent challenges by pro-inflammatory stimuli [157]. Tolerant cells exhibit decreased pro-inflammatory responses and was first reported by Paul Beeson. He observed that the fever induced by typhoid vaccines in rabbits reduced on repeated injections [286]. A similar phenomenon was observed when humans recovering from typhoid and malaria were challenged with LPS, a common PAMP present in the gram-negative bacterial outer membrane [287,288]. Studies in mice were the first to implicate monocytes and macrophages in this response [289,290]. Several other PAMPs, apart from LPS, have been reported to induce tolerance, which include cell-surface PAMPs, such as, peptidoglycan (PGN), lipoarabinomannans (LAM), lipoteichoic acid (LTA), and intra-cellular PAMPs, such as, double-stranded RNA and DNA [202,291-296].

Interestingly, we observed OmpU-pretreated cells that showed suppressed pro-inflammatory mediator production when stimulated with LPS [142]. OmpU-pretreated RAW 264.7, THP-1, and human PBMCs exhibited decreased NO, TNF α , IL-6, and IL-12 production when challenged with LPS (Fig. 5) with the exception of IL-6 in case of human PBMCs. Furthermore, this phenomenon also occurred in human IEC line, HT29 in terms of TNFα and IL-8 (Fig. 6). During infection, OmpU is present, along with LPS, on the bacterial surface, as well as, in naturally secreted vesicles. Our study therefore, suggests that in vivo OmpU might aid in pathogenesis by decreasing the inflammatory response. This could involve decreased respiratory burst, inefficient recruitment of leukocytes, and reduced acute phase-response initiation. Further, down-regulation of IL-12 suggests that OmpU might prevent Th1 responses that mediate phagocyte-dependent inflammatory processes.

Toward probing the mechanism responsible for this phenomenon, we had two hypotheses, that either OmpU was polarizing cells toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype (M2 polarization/alternate activation) or OmpU was inducing tolerance in these cells. Macrophage tolerance and alternate polarization are important mechanisms by which the damaging effects of inflammation are curbed *in vivo*. Inflammation leads to production of pro-inflammatory mediators that create a toxic environment for pathogens. However, unchecked inflammation harms the host tissues as well. Tolerant and

alternatively activated macrophages ensure that the process remains measured and optimal. Subsequently, they help in tissue remodeling and repair of host tissues after an insult [157,158,164]. Although, tolerant and alternatively activated macrophages exhibit a similar phenotype, they differ in their induction and transcriptional gene programming. While these mechanisms are protective responses initiated by the host, pathogens can exploit them to prevent the cytotoxic inflammatory response. *L. donovani*, *M. tuberculosis*, African trypanosomes, *C. burnetti*, Dengue virus and Ross River virus, and *C. neoformans* induce alternate activation of macrophages [168-170,297-299]. Further, *Francisella tularesis* and parasites, such as, *L. major* and *Toxoplasma gondii* induce macrophage tolerance [292,300-302]. Both these parasites infect macrophages, within which, they develop and multiply. Macrophage tolerance thus, helps in their survival.

Tolerance can also be induced by several host mediators as well. Adiponectin is a protein hormone that regulates glucose and fatty acid breakdown. It is a soluble defense collagen secreted by adipocytes in bone marrow stromal cells. It acts as a negative regulator of myelomonocytic progenitor cells (macrophage progenitors) and inhibits functions of macrophages. By inducing tolerance in these cells, it prevents atherosclerosis, a metabolic pro-inflammatory disease [303-306]. Another host molecule involved in tolerance is heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70). Though, Hsp70 was initially identified as a chaperone protein, levels of Hsp70 increase in the cytosol during a stress response leading to tolerance. This could possibly affect inflammatory responses initiated after trauma [291]. Furthermore, apart from these two host molecules, hyaluronic acid, a component of the extra-cellular matrix, is released during tissue remodeling and induces monocyte and macrophage tolerance. It mediates tolerance via CD44 and is important for the resolution of inflammation at the site of tissue repair. [307]. Tolerance can also be induced by non-cellular components, such as alcohol. Acute alcohol exposure induces endotoxin tolerance and may prevent progression of alcoholic liver disease, whereas chronic alcohol consumption leads to the disease [308]. All these findings suggest that PAMPs, as well as, host proteins can employ macrophage tolerance for their benefit.

In some studies of endotoxin-mediated tolerance, researchers have reported overlapping features of M2 polarization and tolerance phenomena. But, Rajaiah *et al.* suggested that tolerance can be established in absence of IL-4, an important inducer of M2 polarization [175]. However, Pena *et al.* [173] and Porta *et al.* [174] have reported that M2-associated
chemokines, such as, CCL17, CCL22, and CCL24 are up-regulated in LPS-tolerant macrophages/monocytes, whereas, in our study we did not observe an increase in gene expression of any M2-associated chemokines including those of CCL17, CCL22, or CCL24 in OmpU/LPS-treated cells as compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells (Fig. 8). Therefore, our results pointed out that tolerance may be induced independently of M2 polarization.

Immune suppressive cytokines, IL-10 and TGF β , have been associated with M2 polarization, but this association is debatable [309,310]. Even though these cytokines share overlapping features with M2-activated macrophages, the orchestration varies in many ways. Furthermore, monocytes pretreated with IL-1, IL-10, and TGF β become tolerant to subsequent challenges with LPS [311,312]. Thus, cytokines secreted by macrophages in response to a tolerizing agent, help in reprogramming of macrophages, rendering them tolerant. Increased levels of IL-10 and TGF β have been implicated in endotoxin- [174,313-315] and adiponectin-mediated tolerance [304]. Our results indicated that OmpU-induced IL-10 secretion plays a partial role in the down-regulation of LPS-mediated TNF α production in human PBMCs (Fig. 9). However, considering these results together, we cannot state whether this IL-10 involvement can indeed be justified as a M2 marker in our case, as other typical M2 markers and TGF β showed no involvement (Fig. 8).

Tolerizing agents usually alter TLR signaling. Endotoxin-tolerant macrophages display attenuated TLR signaling, which leads to reduction in pro-inflammatory cytokines and an increase in anti-inflammatory cytokines [157,158,316,317]. Apart from endotoxin, other cell surface PAMPs, such as, PGN, LAM, and LTA induce tolerance by attenuating TLR2 signaling [294,295]. Intra-cellular PAMPs, such as, double-stranded RNA, imidazoquinolines (synthetic TLR7–8 agonists) and CpG DNA alter TLR3, TLR7-8, and TLR9 signaling, respectively [202,293,296]. Furthermore, host protein Hsp70 activates innate immunity via TLR4 [291]. In endotoxin tolerance, decreased MyD88 recruitment, IRAK activity, and gene expression have been observed [152,191,293,318,319]. In other cases of tolerance, decreased IRAK-1/MyD88 association, IRAK-1 expression [295,320], as well as, decreased recruitment of TRAF6 to IRAK-1 have been documented [294].

In light of these studies, we assessed TLR and IRAK levels in whole cell lysates by western blotting and did not see any differences in their expression levels in response to OmpU/LPS versus LPS treatments. This prompted us to study whether the association of signaling mediators was being affected. We observed that OmpU-pretreatment attenuated LPS-mediated TLR signaling by decreasing association of TLR6, MyD88, and IRAK1/4 to TLR2 (Fig. 11). One of our earlier reports established that OmpU binds to TLR2 and mediates its signaling via TLR1/2-MyD88-dependent pathway [177]. Therefore, in order to rule out the possibility that the binding of OmpU to TLR1/2 led to decreased availability of TLR2 to bind to LPS (as TLR2 is shared in both cases), we demonstrated by co-immunoprecipitation assay that there was no change in TLR1 association with TLR2 in both buffer/LPS-treated and OmpU/LPS-treated cells (Fig. 11). This suggested that when LPS-activation occurred after OmpU-pretreatment, OmpU does not remain bound with TLR1/2 and TLR2 is free to heterodimerize with TLR6.

As OmpU-pretreatment attenuated LPS-mediated TLR signaling, we probed gene expression of several negative regulators, such as, SOCS-1, SOCS-3, MKP-1, TOLLIP, SHIP-1, and IRAK-M. IRAK-M is a known mediator of tolerance induced by endotoxin, adiponectin, LAM, and alcohol [163,188,189,191,206,294,295,306,308]. Our data indicated that OmpU-induced IRAK-M may probably play a role in the down-regulation of LPS-mediated responses in RAW 264.7 cells (Fig. 12). However, we did not observe involvement of other negative regulators that have been implicated in endotoxin-mediated tolerance [193-206].

TLR signaling usually culminates with NF κ B activation, a well-known transcription factor involved in pro-inflammatory responses. NF κ B activity is attenuated in LPS-mediated tolerant monocytes and macrophages [192,312,319]. Similarly, NF κ B activity is altered in *Lesihmania*-, LAM-, PGN-, alcohol-, and Hsp70-mediated tolerance [171,291,292,295,308]. Our data showed that the translocation of NF κ B members, RelA and c-Rel decreases in OmpU/LPS-treated cells as compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells (Fig. 13). Further, AP-1 involvement in tolerance has not been reported in other models of tolerance studied till now. Our results indicated that OmpU enhanced LPS-mediated JunD and Fra-1 members of the AP-1 family (Fig. 13A), which can be involved in the down-regulation in pro-inflammatory responses [214]. After determining the signaling events in OmpU-induced LPS tolerance, we further aspects macrophage function explored whether certain of are affected. Tolerant macrophages exhibit enhanced phagocytic capacity that ensures the removal of pro-inflammatory stimuli, as well as, intact bacteria and helps in resolution of inflammation. Although pathogens may exploit tolerance to prevent pro-inflammatory responses, a non-desired side effect may involve an increase in phagocytic capacity of macrophages. This response was initially observed in case of endotoxin-mediated tolerance [160-163,216]. Our findings showed that OmpU-pretreatment enhanced phagocytosis of RAW 264.7 cells on LPS-stimulation as compared to that of LPS-activated cells (Fig. 14). Enhanced phagocytosis can be attributed to increased surface expression of other surface receptors, such as scavenging receptors, despite attenuated LPS-mediated TLR signaling. This is indeed the case in endotoxin tolerance, in which expression of scavenging receptors, such as, MARCO and SR-A that are responsible for enhanced phagocytosis [192]. Probably, in OmpU-mediated tolerance, scavenging receptors may play a role in this phenomenon.

Another important feature of macrophages is the presentation of phagocytosed antigenic peptides to T cells via MHC molecules, which is important for initiation of adaptive responses. Interaction of CD80–86 co-stimulatory molecules with CD28 present on T cells is crucial in this regard. Decreased expression of co-stimulatory molecule leads to inefficient T-cell activation and reduced pro-inflammatory responses. This helps tolerant macrophages in resolving inflammation. Similar to endotoxin tolerant macrophages [215], OmpU/LPS-treated murine macrophages display decreased co-stimulatory molecule expression (Fig. 15).

Our study demonstrates for the first time that a bacterial porin can induce monocyte and macrophage tolerance. Although OmpU-mediated tolerance induction shares some features with endotoxin tolerance, such as, IRAK-M and IL-10 involvement, it also displays some unique features that are not documented in any other cases of tolerance induction, such as, decreased association of TLRs to form heterodimer, reduced nuclear translocation of NF κ B members, increased translocation of suppressive AP-1 family members, and additionally, no association of M2-polarization markers (Illustration 19) [217].



Illustration 19. Summary of OmpU-induced responses in monocytes and macrophages

After studying OmpU-mediated responses in monocytes and macrophages, we further explored its effects on another important immune cell—the DCs. DCs along with monocytes and macrophages form the mononuclear phagocyte system. Moreover, DCs form an important bridge between the innate and adaptive immunity. The functions of DCs can be summarized in two terms: sensors and sentinels. They act as sensors as they respond to a variety of environmental stimuli and undergo differentiation and maturation. As sentinels, they capture and process diverse antigens and migrate to lymphoid tissues, where they present these antigens to T cells. We assessed whether OmpU led to DC activation and maturation. Further, we determined whether OmpU-primed DCs affected T-cell responses.

Our findings indicated that OmpU induced secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines: TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , and IL-12 in DCs (Fig. 17, 23A). The production of these cytokines occurred in a TLR1/2/4/6-independent manner (Fig. 18) but involved MAPKs, p38 and JNK (Fig. 19A, 19B, 20A, 20C), and transcription factors, NF κ B and AP-1 (Fig. 19D, 19E, 20B, 20D). We have planned future experiments to assess the role of OmpU in eliciting pro-inflammatory cytokine production in MyD88^{-/-} murine DCs and appropriate

TLR2 and TLR4 positive controls. The resulting observations will enable us to confirm or refute the involvement of TLRs completely. Further, we are interested in determing possible PRR(s) that recognize OmpU. The intra-cellular MAPK cascade can be activated in a TLR-dependent or TLR-independent manner. MAPKs can be activated by a variety of stimuli including oxidative stress, osmotic stress, DNA damage, ultraviolet rays, growth factors, mitogens, pro-inflammatory cytokines, PAMP-recognition, etc. [230]. As ROS generated during phagocytosis can activate MAPKs, we examined whether ROS generation plays a role in OmpU-mediated cytokine secretion. On use of N-acetyl cysteine, a ROS scavenger, OmpU-mediated cytokine production was unaffected. Thereby, suggesting that ROS may probably not be responsible for MAPK activation. Our pursuit for the PRR responsible may help us understand whether the MAPK pathway is activated on PAMP recognition or whether other factors are involved.

As our results indicated that OmpU induced IL-1ß production in DCs (Fig. 20), we explored the role of inflammasomes in this regard. Inflammasomes are multimeric protein complexes containing NLRs/AIM2, pro-caspase-1, and/or ASC that play a role in IL-1ß and IL-18 secretion. IL-1 β is transcribed into its pro-form on NF κ B activation and is converted into active IL-1B by caspase-1 in a majority of cases. Oligomerization of inflammasome converts pro-caspase-1 into its active form and subsequently leads to IL-1 β secretion [227]. Host cells can respond to bacterial infections by activating inflammasomes [220]. The NLRP3 inflammasome is activated by toxins, such as, *Staphylococcus* aureus hemolysins in а TLR-independent manner and Streptococcus pneumoniae pneumolysin in a TLR4-independent manner [321,322]. Further, bacterial infections caused by M. tuberculosis and Burkholderia cenocepacia activate NLRP3 inflammasome as well [323,324]. Moreover, more than one type of inflammasomes can be activated in response to infections. Aeromonas veronii aerolysin and type 3 secretion system (T3SS) mediators activate NLRP3 and NLRC4 inflammasomes [325]. Infection with Listeria monocytogenes leads to activation of AIM2, NLRC4, and NLRP3 inflammasomes [326]. Therefore, the presence of assorted PAMPs on one microbe may lead to activation of multiple types of inflammasomes.

Our results demonstrated that OmpU-mediated IL-1 β was dependent on NLRP3 inflammasome and caspase-1 activation in BMDCs and splenic DCs (Fig. 21). Moreover, OmpU-mediated IL-1 β production was dependent on both NF κ B and AP-1 transcription

factors (Fig. 20). We are currently confirming involvement of NLRP3 inflammasome by immunoblotting. Further, we will be determining whether OmpU exclusively activates NLRP3 or whether other inflammasomes are involved. Interestingly, one of the reports from our lab proves that OmpU translocates to the mitochondria of host cells [285]. As changes in mitochondria can lead to inflammasome oligomerization [221,327], we will be further probing whether translocation of OmpU to the mitochondria might play a role in this regard. Our results for the first time indicate that apart from toxins, cytolysins, and T3SS effectors, bacterial porins can also activate inflammasomes.

Inflammasome activation in response to several *Vibrio* species has also been studied. *V. parahemolyticus* thermostable direct hemolysin and T3SS molecules trigger NLRP3 and NLRC4 inflammasomes; but two T3SS1 effector proteins, VopQ and VopS induce autophagy to prevent NLRC4 activation [328]. Therefore, pathogens can interfere with inflammasome activation to avoid anti-microbial responses. Further, *V. vulnificus* infection activates the NLRP3 inflammasome in a TLR and NOD1/2-dependent manner that involves NF κ B [329]. *V. fluvalis* hemolysin also activates the NLRP3 inflammasome [330]. *V. cholerae* infection involves NF κ B-dependent NLRP3 inflammasome activation but is TLR-independent [329]. This activation has been attributed to hemolysin, which is produced by El Tor strains but not by classical strains. Classical strains also lead to IL-1 β secretion, albeit in a NLRP3-independent manner [331]. Our results indicate that OmpU may also assist NLRP3 inflammasome formation during *V. cholerae* infection.

So far, we have discussed the importance of DCs in innate immunity and how PAMP recognition activates DCs. This activation of innate receptors also affects another aspect of DC function; PAMP-recognition changes immature antigen-capturing DCs to mature antigen-presenting DCs. Mature DCs migrate to lymph nodes where they shape adaptive responses. Mature DCs are characterized by enhanced expression of co-stimulatory molecules on their surface. They interact with T cells and determine their effector functions and thus, play a critical role in influencing adaptive responses [219].

We observed that OmpU enhanced co-stimulatory molecule expression in BMDCs and macrophages, thereby suggesting APC maturation (Fig. 22). The effect of several porins have been studied in DCs. *Salmonella* porins induce pro-inflammatory cytokines and augment co-stimulatory molecule expression [332,333]. In contrast, *N. meningitidis* PorA induces DC maturation and triggers chemokine expression but not that of

pro-inflammatory cytokines [86]. This response may signify that it does not activate T cells toward Th1 phenotype but rather, helps in recruitment of immune cells. *Acinetobacter baumannii* OmpA enhances co-stimulatory molecule expression, which is independent of TLR2–TLR4 [334]. However, *N. meningitidis* PorB induces co-stimulatory molecule expression and IL-6 production in a TLR2-dependent manner [88]. *Shigella* porins also induce chemokines via TLR2 activation [335]. As mentioned earlier, the conserved sequences present in porins may contribute toward their PAMP nature, which leads to pro-inflammatory responses by monocytes and macrophages. However, the differences in their structure may be responsible for varied responses in DCs as epitopes of porins may differ drastically. Furthermore, macrophages and DCs may respond dissimilarly to the same PAMP [336]. Thus, not all porins may behave in the same way with respect to DC function, even though most porins induce a pro-inflammatory responses in monocytes and macrophages.

Antigen-presenting DCs interact with T cells via two signals that involve MHC-loaded–antigen and co-stimulatory molecules by APCs. After receiving successful signals, T cells release IL-2 which helps in their proliferation [337]. T cells also increase expression of IL-2 receptor on their surface, which enables IL-2 to bind and further activate proliferative pathways. IL-2 can act in an autocrine or paracrine manner and drive the clonal expansion process [338]. Thus, successful recognition of antigen can be assessed by determining T-cell proliferation. As OmpU-activated DCs exhibited increased surface expression of CD80–86 (Fig. 22), we further assessed whether OmpU could affect T-cell proliferation. We observed that co-culture of OmpU-primed murine splenic DCs with murine splenic CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro* led to an increase in T-cell proliferation (Fig. 24A). This suggests that certain T-cell clone(s) from unimmunized mice can recognize OmpU-generated peptides and lead to clonal expansion *in vitro*. This may be attributed to certain epitopes being conserved among bacterial porins.

Furthermore, OmpU-treated BMDCs secreted high levels of IL-12, which is an important initiator cytokine for Th1 polarization (Fig. 23A). We assessed several cytokines, TNF α , IFN γ , IL-4, IL-10, and TGF β in supernatants of co-cultured splenic DCs–CD4⁺ T cells to determine what type of T-cell polarization occurred. OmpU-primed DCs induced secretion of IFN γ from T cells, a hallmark of Th1 polarization (Fig. 24B) suggesting OmpU may promote cell-mediated immunity *in vivo*.

Several studies regarding bacterial porins with respect to T-cell function have been carried out. *N. meningitidis* PorA, is suggested to bias T cells toward Th2 type as it inhibits production of IL-12 in mouse DCs [86]. In contrast, *A. baumanii* OmpA induces IFN γ in mixed lymphocyte reaction and triggers DCs to produce IL-12 [334]. Similarly, *S. dysenteriae* MOMP and *H. pylori* 30 kDa porin induce IFN γ and TNF α from T cells *in vitro* [69,92]. Incubation of human lymphocytes with *S. typhimurium* porins *in vitro* leads to secretion of IFN γ and IL-4 cytokines [263]. However, CD4⁺ T cells from mice immunized with *S. typhimurium* porins exhibited enhanced IL-4 responses [339]. These results suggest that there might be variation in T-cell responses based on whether porins are administered *in vitro* or *in vivo*. Therefore, administration of OmpU *in vivo* may lead to a different T-cell phenotype.



Illustration 20. Summary of OmpU-induced responses in DCs and T cells

Altogether our studies indicate that *V. cholerae* OmpU modulates host immunity by inducing pro-inflammatory responses in monocytes, macrophages, and DCs and polarizes T cells toward Th1, an inflammatory phenotype (Illustration 19–20). However, OmpU

also induces monocyte and macrophage tolerance on subsequent challenge with LPS. Our preliminary studies involving immunization of mice with OmpU have led to interesting results. We immunized mice with OmpU alone and OmpU with complete Freud's adjuvant (CFA) (via intra-peritoneal route and footpad, respectively). Control mice were treated with buffer and/or CFA similarly. After ten days, CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from inguinal and popliteal lymph nodes and further stimulated with phorbol mystistate acetate (PMA) and ionomycin. We observed that in OmpU/CFA-treated CD4⁺ T cells there was considerably less IFNy and IL-4 secretion compared to buffer/CFAtreated mice. CFA contains heat killed M. tuberculosis that activates immune cells as it contains multiple PAMPs. As OmpU down-regulated pro-inflammatory responses of another PAMP, LPS in monocytes and macrophages, we hypothesized that OmpU is perhaps down-regulating T-cell functions in presence of other PAMPs as well. To determine if this was the case indeed, we performed a similar experiment but did not administer CFA via footpad, instead administered OmpU alone intra-peritoneally in mice. After similar stimulation of CD4⁺ T cells isolated from inguinal and popliteal lymph nodes, we observed OmpU completely down-regulated basal levels of IFNy but had no effect on IL-4 secretion. These initial results suggest that although OmpU-primed DCs induce IFNy secretion in T cells *in vitro*, OmpU seems to down-regulate IFNy even in absence of other PAMPs in vivo. We are currently exploring these aspects of OmpU on immuno-modulation in vivo. Our results pose a question on whether OmpU can be used as a vaccine candidate for cholera or whether cholera vaccine containing heat killed bacterial cells should have the OmpU gene deleted for better protection. As it seems that OmpU interferes with pro-inflammatory responses in presence of other PAMPs and may prevent Th1 responses in vivo.

So far, we have discussed the effects of recombinantly purified OmpU on several hostimmune cells. During infection, OmpU is a dominant protein present in naturally secreted vesicles, as well as, on the surface of *V. cholerae*. Toward determining the role of OmpU in a physiological setting, we isolated naturally secreted vesicles from the late log phase of *V. cholerae* culture and studied its effects on IECs, the HT29 cell line. Our initial results indicate that these vesicles induce pro-inflammatory cytokine production and also down-regulate LPS-mediated effects; as in the case of OmpU. These effects can be attributed to several PAMPs present in vesicles. To identify the role of OmpU in vesicleinduced responses we intend to study the immuno-modulatory properties of naturally secreted vesicles from $\Delta ompU V$. *cholerae* and OmpU-incorporated proteoliposomes in IECs. Further, we are interested in investigating the role of OmpU during infection by administering naturally secreted vesicles from $\Delta ompU V$. *cholerae* and OmpU-incorporated proteoliposomes *in vivo*. These studies will increase the current understanding of how OmpU, an important porin involved in host–pathogen interaction across the *Vibrio* species, modulates immune responses.

V

References

1. George AM (1996) Multidrug Resistance in Enteric and Other Gram-Negative Bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Lett 139:1–10.

- Hooper LV, Gordon JI (2001) Commensal Host-Bacterial Relationships in the Gut. Science 292:1115–8.
- Hooper LV, Wong MH, Thelin A, Hansson L, Falk PG, et al. (2001) Molecular Analysis of Commensal Host-Microbial Relationships in the Intestine. Science 291:881–4.
- 4. Hooper LV, Midtvedt T, Gordon JI (2002) How Host-Microbial Interactions Shape the Nutrient Environment of the Mammalian Intestine. Annu Rev Nutr 22:283–307.
- Vaara M, Porro M (1996) Group of Peptides that Act Synergistically with Hydrophobic Antibiotics Against Gram-Negative Enteric Bacteria. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 40:1801–5.
- 6. Zasloff M (2002) Antimicrobial Peptides in Health and Disease. N Engl J Med 347:1199–1200.
- von Graevenitz A (1977) The role of opportunistic bacteria in human disease. Annu Rev Microbiol 31:447–71.
- Weil AJ (1947) Medical and Epidemiological Aspects of Enteric Infection. Annu Rev Microbiol 1:309–32.
- 9. Parr LW (1939) Coliform Bacteria. Bacteriol Rev 3:1-48.
- Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, et al. (2012) Global and Regional Mortality from 235 Causes of Death for 20 Age Groups in 1990 and 2010: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380:2095–128.
- Hornef MW, Wick MJ, Rhen M, Normark S (2002) Bacterial Strategies for Overcoming Host Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses. Nat Immunol 3:1033–40.
- 12. Donnenberg MS (2000) Pathogenic Strategies of Enteric Bacteria. Nature 406:768–74.
- Underhill DM, Ozinsky A (2002) Phagocytosis of Microbes: Complexity in Action. Annu Rev Immunol 20:825–52.
- Weinrauch Y, Zychlinsky A (1999) The Induction of Apoptosis by Bacterial Pathogens. Annu Rev Microbiol 53:155–87.
- 15. Hersh D, Monack DM, Smith MR, Ghori N, Falkow S, et al. (1999) The Salmonella Invasin SipB Induces Macrophage Apoptosis by Binding to Caspase-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:2396–401.
- Zychlinsky A, Thirumalai K, Arondel J, Cantey JR, Aliprantis AO, et al. (1996) In Vivo Apoptosis in *Shigella flexneri* infections. Infect Immun 64:5357–65.
- 17. Orth K, Palmer LE, Bao ZQ, Stewart S, Rudolph AE, et al. (1999) Inhibition of The Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Kinase Superfamily by a *Yersinia* effector. Science 285:1920–23.
- Girardin SE, Tournebize R, Mavris M, Page AL, Li X, et al. (2001) CARD4/Nod1 Mediates NF-kappaB and JNK Activation by Invasive *Shigella flexneri*. EMBO Rep 2:736–42.

- Fischer W, Puls J, Buhrdorf R, Gebert B, Odenbreit S, et al. (2001) Systematic Mutagenesis of the *Helicobacter pylori* Cag Pathogenicity Island: Essential Genes for CagA Translocation in Host Cells and Induction of Interleukin-8. Mol Microbiol 42:1337–48.
- Faruque SM, Albert MJ, Mekalanos JJ (1998) Epidemiology, Genetics, and Ecology of Toxigenic Vibrio cholerae. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 62:1301–14.
- 21. Kaper JB, Morris JG, Jr., Levine MM (1995) Cholera. Clin Microbiol Rev 8:48-86.
- 22. N. Okeke I, Eardley J, C. Bailey C, B. Kaper J, Max S (2002) *Vibrio cholerae*. Mol Med Microbiol. London: Academic Press. pp. 1191–236.
- Nelson EJ, Harris JB, Morris JG, Jr., Calderwood SB, Camilli A (2009) Cholera Transmission: the Host, Pathogen and Bacteriophage Dynamic. Nat Rev Microbiol 7:693–702.
- Rivera IN, Chun J, Huq A, Sack RB, Colwell RR (2001) Genotypes Associated with Virulence in Environmental Isolates of *Vibrio cholerae*. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:2421–29.
- 25. Weil A, Ivers L, Harris J (2012) Cholera: Lessons from Haiti and Beyond. Curr Infect Dis Rep 14:1–8.
- 26. Raychoudhuri A, Mukhopadhyay AK, Ramamurthy T, Nandy RK, Takeda Y, et al. (2008) Biotyping of *Vibrio cholerae* O1: Time to Redefine the Scheme. Indian J Med Res 128:695–8.
- 27. Chatterjee SN, Chaudhuri K (2003) Lipopolysaccharides of *Vibrio cholerae*. I. Physical and Chemical Characterization. Biochim Biophys Acta 1639:65–79.
- 28. Karlsson SL, Ax E, Nygren E, Kallgard S, Blomquist M, et al. (2014) Development of Stable Vibrio cholerae O1 Hikojima Type Vaccine Strains Co-Expressing the Inaba and Ogawa Lipopolysaccharide Antigens. PLoS One 9:e108521.
- 29. Stroeher UH, Karageorgos LE, Morona R, Manning PA (1992) Serotype Conversion in *Vibrio cholerae* O1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89:2566–70.
- Miller MB, Skorupski K, Lenz DH, Taylor RK, Bassler BL (2002) Parallel Quorum Sensing Systems Converge to Regulate Virulence in *Vibrio cholerae*. Cell 110:303–14.
- Nielsen AT, Dolganov NA, Otto G, Miller MC, Wu CY, et al. (2006) RpoS Controls the Vibrio cholerae Mucosal Escape Response. PLoS Pathog 2:e109.
- 32. Sack DA, Sack RB, Nair GB, Siddique AK (2004) Cholera. Lancet 363:223–33.
- Azman AS, Rudolph KE, Cummings DA, Lessler J (2012) The Incubation Period of Cholera: A Systematic Review. J Infect 66:432–38.
- King AA, Ionides EL, Pascual M, Bouma MJ (2008) Inapparent Infections and Cholera Dynamics. Nature 454:877–80.
- 35. Cholera vaccines: WHO Position Paper. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 85:117-28.
- 36. Plotkin S (2014) History of Vaccination. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111:12283-7.

- Kenner JR, Coster TS, Taylor DN, Trofa AF, Barrera-Oro M, et al. (1995) Peru-15, an Improved Live Attenuated Oral Vaccine Candidate for *Vibrio cholerae* O1. J Infect Dis 172:1126–29.
- 38. Perry RT, Plowe CV, Koumare B, Bougoudogo F, Kotloff KL, et al. (1998) A Single Dose of Live Oral Cholera Vaccine CVD 103-HgR Is Safe and Immunogenic in HIV-Infected and HIV-Noninfected Adults in Mali. Bull World Health Organ 76:63–71.
- 39. Klose KE (2001) Regulation of Virulence in Vibrio cholerae. Int J Med Microbiol 291:81-8.
- Mekalanos JJ, Swartz DJ, Pearson GDN (1983) Cholera Toxin Genes: Nucleotide Sequence, Deletion Analysis and Vaccine Development. Nature 306:551–7.
- 41. Di Pierro M, Lu R, Uzzau S, Wang W, Margaretten K, et al. (2001) Zonula Occludens Toxin Structure-Function Analysis. Identification of the Fragment Biologically active on Tight Junctions and of the Zonulin Receptor Binding Domain. J Biol Chem 276:19160–5.
- 42. Trucksis M, Galen JE, Michalski J, Fasano A, Kaper JB (1993) Accessory Cholera Enterotoxin (Ace), the Third Toxin of a *Vibrio cholerae* Virulence Cassette. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:5267–71.
- Olson R, Gouaux E (2003) Vibrio cholerae Cytolysin Is Composed of an Alpha-Hemolysin-Like Core. Protein Sci 12:379–83.
- 44. Booth BA, Finkelstein RA (1986) Presence of Hemagglutinin/Protease and Other Potential Virulence Factors in O1 and Non-O1 *Vibrio cholerae*. J Infect Dis 154:183–6.
- 45. Bhattacharjee JW, Srivastava BS (1978) Mannose-Sensitive Haemagglutinins in Adherence of *Vibrio cholerae* El Tor to Intestine. J Gen Microbiol 107:407–10.
- 46. Hanne LF, Finkelstein RA (1982) Characterization and Distribution of the Hemagglutinins Produced by *Vibrio cholerae*. Infect Immun 36:209–14.
- 47. DiRita VJ, Parsot C, Jander G, Mekalanos JJ (1991) Regulatory Cascade Controls Virulence in *Vibrio cholerae*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:5403–7.
- 48. Parsot C, Mekalanos JJ (1990) Expression of ToxR, the Transcriptional Activator of the Virulence Factors in *Vibrio cholerae*, Is Modulated by the Heat Shock Response. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:9898–902.
- Carroll PA, Tashima KT, Rogers MB, DiRita VJ, Calderwood SB (1997) Phase Variation in TcpH Modulates Expression of the ToxR Regulon in *Vibrio cholerae*. Mol Microbiol 25:1099–111.
- 50. Krukonis ES, Yu RR, DiRita VJ (2000) The Vibrio cholerae ToxR/TcpP/ToxT Virulence Cascade: Distinct Roles for Two Membrane-Localized Transcriptional Activators on a Single Promoter. Mol Microbiol 38:67–84.
- 51. Nye MB, Pfau JD, Skorupski K, Taylor RK (2000) Vibrio cholerae H-NS Silences Virulence Gene Expression at Multiple Steps in the ToxR Regulatory Cascade. J Bacteriol 182:4295–303.

- 52. Bina J, Zhu J, Dziejman M, Faruque S, Calderwood S, et al. (2003) ToxR Regulon of Vibrio cholerae and Its Expression in Vibrios shed by Cholera Patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:2801–6.
- Miller VL, Taylor RK, Mekalanos JJ (1987) Cholera Toxin Transcriptional Activator ToxR Is a Transmembrane DNA Binding Protein. Cell 48:271–9.
- Peterson KM, Mekalanos JJ (1988) Characterization of the Vibrio cholerae ToxR Regulon: Identification of Novel Genes Involved in Intestinal Colonization. Infect Immun 56:2822–9.
- 55. Higgins DE, DiRita VJ (1994) Transcriptional Control of ToxT, a Regulatory Gene in the ToxR Regulon of *Vibrio cholerae*. Mol Microbiol 14:17–29.
- 56. Champion GA, Neely MN, Brennan MA, DiRita VJ (1997) A Branch in the ToxR Regulatory Cascade of *Vibrio cholerae* Revealed by Characterization of ToxT Mutant Strains. Mol Microbiol 23:323–31.
- 57. Crawford JA, Krukonis ES, DiRita VJ (2003) Membrane Localization of the ToxR Winged-Helix Domain Is Required for TcpP-Mediated Virulence Gene Activation in *Vibrio cholerae*. Mol Microbiol 47:1459–73.
- Krukonis ES, DiRita VJ (2003) DNA Binding and ToxR Responsiveness by the Wing Domain of TcpP, an Activator of Virulence Gene Expression in *Vibrio cholerae*. Mol Cell 12:157–65.
- Crawford JA, Kaper JB, DiRita VJ (1998) Analysis of ToxR-Dependent Transcription Activation of OmpU, the Gene Encoding a Major Envelope Protein in *Vibrio cholerae*. Mol Microbiol 29:235–46.
- Koebnik R, Locher KP, Van Gelder P (2000) Structure and Function of Bacterial Outer Membrane Proteins: Barrels in a Nutshell. Mol Microbiol 37:239–53.
- Achouak W, Heulin T, Pages JM (2001) Multiple Facets of Bacterial Porins. FEMS Microbiol Lett 199:1–7.
- Nikaido H (1992) Porins and Specific Channels of Bacterial Outer Membranes. Mol Microbiol 6:435–42.
- Schirmer T (1998) General and Specific Porins from Bacterial Outer Membranes. J Struct Biol 121:101–9.
- 64. Zeth K, Thein M (2010) Porins in Prokaryotes and Eukaryotes: Common Themes and Variations. Biochem J 431:13–22.
- Ruiz N, Montero T, Hernandez-Borrell J, Vinas M (2003) The Role of *Serratia marcescens* Porins in Antibiotic Resistance. Microb Drug Resist 9:257–64.
- 66. Xiong XP, Wang C, Ye MZ, Yang TC, Peng XX, et al. (2010) Differentially Expressed Outer Membrane Proteins of *Vibrio alginolyticus* in Response to Six Types Of Antibiotics. Mar Biotechnol 12:686–95.

- 67. Galdiero S, Falanga A, Cantisani M, Tarallo R, Della Pepa ME, et al. (2012) Microbe-Host Interactions: Structure and Role of Gram-Negative Bacterial Porins. Curr Protein Pept Sci 13:843–54.
- Nikaido H (2003) Molecular Basis of Bacterial Outer Membrane Permeability Revisited. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 67:593–656.
- 69. Tufano MA, Rossano F, Catalanotti P, Liguori G, Capasso C, et al. (1994) Immunobiological Activities of *Helicobacter pylori* Porins. Infect Immun 62:1392–9.
- 70. Negm RS, Pistole TG (1999) The Porin OmpC of *Salmonella typhimurium* Mediates Adherence to Macrophages. Can J Microbiol 45:658–69.
- Torres AG, Kaper JB (2003) Multiple Elements Controlling Adherence of Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 to HeLa cells. Infect Immun 71:4985–95.
- 72. Holm MM, Vanlerberg SL, Foley IM, Sledjeski DD, Lafontaine ER (2004) The *Moraxella catarrhalis* Porin-Like Outer Membrane Protein CD Is an Adhesin for Human Lung Cells. Infect Immun 72:1906–13.
- 73. Goo SY, Lee HJ, Kim WH, Han KL, Park DK, et al. (2006) Identification of OmpU of Vibrio vulnificus as a Fibronectin-Binding Protein and Its Role in Bacterial Pathogenesis. Infect Immun 74:5586–94.
- 74. Duperthuy M, Binesse J, Le Roux F, Romestand B, Caro A, et al. (2010) The Major Outer Membrane Protein OmpU of *Vibrio splendidus* Contributes to Host Antimicrobial Peptide Resistance and Is Required for Virulence in the Oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. Environ Microbiol 12:951–63.
- 75. Sakharwade SC, Prasad GV, Mukhopadhaya A (2015) Immuno-modulatory Role of Porins: Host Immune Responses, Signaling Mechanisms and Vaccine Potential. Adv Exp Med Biol 842:79–108.
- Galdiero F, Tufano MA, Galdiero M, Masiello S, Di Rosa M (1990) Inflammatory Effects of Salmonella typhimurium Porins. Infect Immun 58:3183–6.
- 77. Biancone L, Conaldi PG, Toniolo A, Camussi G (1997) *Escherichia coli* Porin Induces Proinflammatory Alterations in Renal Tubular Cells. Exp Nephrol 5:330–6.
- Cusumano V, Tufano MA, Mancuso G, Carbone M, Rossano F, et al. (1997) Porins of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Induce Release of Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha and Interleukin-6 by Human Leukocytes. Infect Immun 65:1683–7.
- 79. Iovane G, Pagnini P, Galdiero M, Cipollaro de l'Ero G, Vitiello M, et al. (1998) Role of *Pasteurella multocida* Porin on Cytokine Expression and Release by Murine Splenocytes. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 66:391–404.
- 80. Galdiero M, Folgore A, Molitierno M, Greco R (1999) Porins and Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from *Salmonella typhimurium* Induce Leucocyte Transmigration through Human Endothelial Cells In Vitro. Clin Exp Immunol 116:453–61.

- Biswas T (2000) Role of Porin of *Shigella dysenteriae* Type 1 in Modulation of Lipopolysaccharide Mediated Nitric Oxide and Interleukin-1 Release by Murine Peritoneal Macrophages. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 29:129–36.
- 82. Galdiero M, D'Amico M, Gorga F, Di Filippo C, D'Isanto M, et al. (2001) *Haemophilus influenzae* Porin Contributes to Signaling of the Inflammatory Cascade in Rat Brain. Infect Immun 69:221–7.
- 83. Baroni A, Gorga F, Baldi A, Perfetto B, Paoletti I, et al. (2001) Histopathological Features and Modulation of type IV Collagen Expression Induced by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and Porins on Mouse Skin. Histol Histopathol 16:685–92.
- 84. Galdiero M, Finamore E, Rossano F, Gambuzza M, Catania MR, et al. (2004) Haemophilus influenzae Porin Induces Toll-Like Receptor 2-Mediated Cytokine Production in Human Monocytes and Mouse Macrophages. Infect Immun 72:1204–9.
- 85. Vitiello M, D'Isanto M, Galdiero M, Raieta K, Tortora A, et al. (2004) Interleukin-8 Production by THP-1 Cells Stimulated by *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium Porins Is Mediated by AP-1, NF-kappaB and MAPK Pathways. Cytokine 27:15–24.
- 86. Al-Bader T, Jolley KA, Humphries HE, Holloway J, Heckels JE, et al. (2004) Activation of Human Dendritic Cells by the PorA Protein of *Neisseria meningitidis*. Cell Microbiol 6:651–62.
- 87. Galdiero M, Tortora A, Damiano N, Vitiello M, Longanella A, et al. (2005) Induction of Cytokine mRNA Expression in U937 cells by *Salmonella typhimurium* Porins Is Regulated by Different Phosphorylation Pathways. Med Microbiol Immunol 194:13–23.
- Singleton TE, Massari P, Wetzler LM (2005) Neisserial Porin-Induced Dendritic Cell Activation Is MyD88 and TLR2 Dependent. J Immunol 174:3545–50.
- Galdiero S, Vitiello M, Amodeo P, D'Isanto M, Cantisani M, et al. (2006) Structural Requirements for Proinflammatory Activity of Porin P2 Loop 7 from *Haemophilus influenzae*. Biochemistry 45:4491–501.
- 90. Vitiello M, Galdiero S, D'Isanto M, D'Amico M, Di Filippo C, et al. (2008) Pathophysiological changes of Gram-Negative Bacterial Infection can be Reproduced by a Synthetic Peptide Mimicking Loop L7 Sequence of *Haemophilus influenzae* Porin. Microbes Infect 10:657–63.
- 91. Elena G, Giovanna D, Brunella P, De Anna F, Alessandro M, et al. (2009) Proinflammatory Signal Transduction Pathway Induced by *Shigella flexneri* Porins in Caco-2 Cells. Braz J Microbiol 40:701–13.
- Biswas A, Banerjee P, Biswas T (2009) Porin of *Shigella dysenteriae* Directly Promotes TLR2-Mediated CD4+ T Cell Survival and Effector Function. Mol Immunol 46:3076–85.

- 93. Severino V, Chambery A, Vitiello M, Cantisani M, Galdiero S, et al. (2010) Proteomic Analysis of Human U937 Cell Line Activation Mediated by *Haemophilus influenzae* Type B P2 Porin and Its Surface-Exposed Loop 7. J Proteome Res 9:1050–62.
- 94. Liu X, Wetzler LM, Nascimento LO, Massari P (2010) Human Airway Epithelial Cell Responses to *Neisseria lactamica* and Purified Porin Via Toll-Like Receptor 2-Dependent Signaling. Infect Immun 78:5314–23.
- 95. Cantisani M, Vitiello M, Falanga A, Finamore E, Galdiero M, et al. (2012) Peptides Complementary to the Active Loop of Porin P2 from *Haemophilus influenzae* Modulate Its Activity. Int J Nanomedicine 7:2361–71.
- 96. Goldsby RA, Kindt TK, Osborne BA, Kuby J (2003) Immunology. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Mogensen TH (2009) Pathogen Recognition and Inflammatory Signaling in Innate Immune Defenses. Clin Microbiol Rev 22:240–73.
- Zipfel C (2009) Early Molecular Events in PAMP-Triggered Immunity. Curr Opin Plant Biol 12:414–20.
- Stuart LM, Paquette N, Boyer L (2013) Effector-Triggered Versus Pattern-Triggered Immunity: How Animals Sense Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol 13:199–206.
- 100. Kumar H, Kawai T, Akira S (2012) Pathogen Recognition by the Innate Immune System. Int Rev Immunol 30:16–34.
- 101. Fonstein M, Kogan Y, Osterman A, Overbeek R, Vonstein V (2003) The SEED: an Annotation/Analysis Tool Provided by the Fellowship for Interpretation of Genomes.
- 102. Khan J, Gupta S, Chattopadhyay K, Mukhopadhaya A (2012) Refolding and Functional Assembly of the *Vibrio cholerae* Porin OmpU Recombinantly Expressed in the Cytoplasm of *Escherichia coli*. Protein Expr Purif 85:204–10.
- 103. Merrell DS, Bailey C, Kaper JB, Camilli A (2001) The ToxR-Mediated Organic Acid Tolerance Response of *Vibrio cholerae* Requires OmpU. J Bacteriol 183:2746–54.
- 104. Simonet VC, Baslé A, Klose KE, Delcour AH (2003) The Vibrio cholerae Porins OmpU and OmPT Have Distinct Channel Properties. J Biol Chem 278:17539–45.
- 105. Duret G, Delcour AH (2010) Size and Dynamics of the *Vibrio cholerae* Porins OmpU and OmpT Probed by Polymer Exclusion. Biophys J 98:1820–9.
- 106. Mathur J, Waldor MK (2004) The Vibrio cholerae ToxR-Regulated Porin OmpU Confers Resistance to Antimicrobial Peptides. Infect Immun 72:3577–83.
- 107. Mathur J, Davis BM, Waldor MK (2007) Antimicrobial Peptides Activate the Vibrio cholerae SigmaE Regulon through an OmpU-Dependent Signalling Pathway. Mol Microbiol 63:848–58.

- 108. Duperthuy M, Schmitt P, Garzon E, Caro A, Rosa RD, et al. (2011) Use of OmpU Porins for Attachment and Invasion of *Crassostrea gigas* Immune Cells by the Oyster Pathogen *Vibrio splendidus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:2993–8.
- 109. Cai SH, Lu YS, Wu ZH, Jian JC (2013) Cloning, Expression of Vibrio alginolyticus Outer Membrane Protein-OmpU Gene and Its Potential Application as Vaccine in Crimson Snapper, Lutjanus erythropterus Bloch. J Fish Dis 36:695–702.
- 110. Wang Q, Chen J, Liu R, Jia J (2011) Identification and Evaluation of an Outer Membrane Protein OmpU from a Pathogenic *Vibrio harveyi* Isolate as Vaccine Candidate in turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*). Lett Appl Microbiol 53:22–9.
- 111. Singh DV, Matte MH, Matte GR, Jiang S, Sabeena F, et al. (2001) Molecular Analysis of Vibrio cholerae O1, O139, Non-O1, and Non-O139 Strains: Clonal Relationships between Clinical and Environmental Isolates. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:910–21.
- 112. Singh DV, Isac SR, Colwell RR (2002) Development of aHhexaplex PCR Assay for Rapid Detection of Virulence and Regulatory Genes in *Vibrio cholerae* and *Vibrio mimicus*. J Clin Microbiol 40:4321–4.
- 113. Paauw A, Trip H, Niemcewicz M, Sellek R, Heng JM, et al. (2014) OmpU as a Biomarker for Rapid Discrimination between Toxigenic and Epidemic Vibrio cholerae O1/O139 and Non-Epidemic Vibrio cholerae in a Modified MALDI–TOF MS Assay. BMC Microbiol 14:158.
- 114. Schild S, Nelson EJ, Camilli A (2008) Immunization with *Vibrio cholerae* Outer Membrane Vesicles Induces Protective Immunity in Mice. Infect Immun 76:4554–63.
- 115. Sinha R, Koley H, Nag D, Mitra S, Mukhopadhyay AK, et al. (2014) Pentavalent Outer Membrane Vesicles of *Vibrio cholerae* Induce Adaptive Immune Response and Protective Efficacy in both Adult and Passive Suckling Mice Models. Microbes Infect 17:215–27.
- 116. Das M, Chopra AK, Cantu JM, Peterson JW (1998) Antisera to Selected Outer Membrane Proteins of *Vibrio cholerae* Protect Against Challenge with Homologous and Heterologous Strains of *V. cholerae*. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 22:303–8.
- 117. Bandyopadhaya A, Sarkar M, Chaudhuri K (2007) Human Intestinal Epithelial Cell Cytokine mRNA Responses Mediated by NF-kappaB Are Modulated by the Motility and Adhesion Process of *Vibrio cholerae*. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39:1863–76.
- 118. Bandyopadhaya A, Bhowmick S, Chaudhuri K (2009) Activation of Proinflammatory Response in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells Following *Vibrio cholerae* Infection through PI3K/Akt Pathway. Can J Microbiol 55:1310–8.
- 119. Bandyopadhaya A, Das D, Chaudhuri K (2009) Involvement of Intracellular Signaling Cascades in Inflammatory Responses in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells Following *Vibrio cholerae* Infection. Mol Immunol 46:1129–39.

- 120. Sarkar M, Bhowmick S, Casola A, Chaudhuri K (2012) Interleukin-8 Gene Regulation in Epithelial Cells by *Vibrio cholerae*: Role of Multiple Promoter Elements, Adherence and Motility of Bacteria and Host MAPKs. FEBS J 279:1464–73.
- 121. Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD (2001) Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods 25:402–8.
- 122. Spandidos A, Wang X, Wang H, Seed B (2010) PrimerBank: a Resource of Human and Mouse PCR Primer Pairs for Gene Expression Detection and Quantification. Nucleic Acids Res 38:D792–9.
- 123. Tidball JG (1995) Inflammatory Cell Response to Acute Muscle Injury. Med Sci Sports Exerc 27:1022–32.
- 124. Cannon PR (1940) Defense Mechanisms in Infectious and Related Diseases. Annu Rev Physiol 2:387–410.
- 125. Harris H (1960) Mobilization of Defensive Cells in Inflammatory Tissue. Bacteriol Rev 24:3–15.
- 126. Shilo M (1959) Nonspecific Resistance to Infections. Annu Rev Microbiol 13:255-78.
- Iles KE, Forman HJ (2002) Macrophage Signaling and Respiratory Burst. Immunol Res 26:95–105.
- 128. Fang FC (1997) Perspectives Series: Host/Pathogen Interactions. Mechanisms of Nitric Oxide-Related Antimicrobial Activity. J Clin Invest 99:2818–25.
- 129. Akira S, Hirano T, Taga T, Kishimoto T (1990) Biology of Multifunctional Cytokines: IL 6 and Related Molecules (IL1 and TNF). FASEB J 4:2860–7.
- 130. Akdis M, Burgler S, Crameri R, Eiwegger T, Fujita H, et al. (2011) Interleukins, from 1 to 37, and Interferon-Gamma: Receptors, Functions, and Roles in Diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol 127:701–21.
- Sutterwala FS, Mosser DM (1999) The Taming of IL-12: Suppressing the Production of Proinflammatory Cytokines. J Leukoc Biol 65:543–51.
- 132. Rao A, Avni O (2000) Molecular Aspects of T-Cell Differentiation. Br Med Bull 56:969-84.
- 133. Watford WT, Moriguchi M, Morinobu A, O'Shea JJ (2003) The Biology of IL-12: Coordinating Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 14:361–8.
- 134. Cray C, Zaias J, Altman NH (2009) Acute Phase Response in Animals: A Review. Comp Med 59:517–26.
- 135. Jain S, Gautam V, Naseem S (2011) Acute-Phase Proteins: As Diagnostic Tool. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 3:118–27.
- 136. Gruys E, Toussaint MJ, Niewold TA, Koopmans SJ (2005) Acute Phase Reaction and Acute Phase Proteins. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 6:1045–56.

- Heumann D, Roger T (2002) Initial Responses to Endotoxins and Gram-Negative Bacteria. Clin Chim Acta 323:59–72.
- 138. Wibbenmeyer JA, Provenzano D, Landry CF, Klose KE, Delcour AH (2002) Vibrio cholerae OmpU and OmpT Porins Are Differentially Affected by Bile. Infect Immun 70:121–6.
- Duret G, Delcour AH (2006) Deoxycholic Acid Blocks Vibrio cholerae OmpT but not OmpU Porin. J Biol Chem 281:19899–905.
- 140. Agnello D, Lankford CS, Bream J, Morinobu A, Gadina M, et al. (2003) Cytokines and Transcription Factors that regulate T Helper Cell Differentiation: New Players and New Insights. J Clin Immunol 23:147–61.
- 141. Fukata M, Arditi M (2013) The Role of Pattern Recognition Receptors in Intestinal Inflammation. Mucosal Immunol 6:451–63.
- 142. Sakharwade SC, Sharma PK, Mukhopadhaya A (2013) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Induces Pro-Inflammatory Responses, but Down-Regulates LPS-Mediated Effects in RAW 264.7, THP-1 and Human PBMCs. PLoS One 8:e76583.
- Raetz CR, Whitfield C (2002) Lipopolysaccharide Endotoxins. Annu Rev Biochem 71:635–700.
- 144. Van Amersfoort ES, Van Berkel TJ, Kuiper J (2003) Receptors, Mediators, and Mechanisms Involved in Bacterial Sepsis and Septic Shock. Clin Microbiol Rev 16:379–414.
- 145. Steven M O (2007) The Host Response to Endotoxin, Antilipopolysaccharide Strategies, and the Management of Severe Sepsis. Int J Med Microbiol 297:365–77.
- 146. Akira S, Takeda K (2004) Toll-Like Receptor Signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 4:499–511.
- 147. Kirschning CJ, Wesche H, Merrill Ayres T, Rothe M (1998) Human Toll-Like Receptor 2 Confers Responsiveness to Bacterial Lipopolysaccharide. J Exp Med 188:2091–7.
- 148. Yang RB, Mark MR, Gray A, Huang A, Xie MH, et al. (1998) Toll-Like Receptor-2 Mediates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Cellular Signalling. Nature 395:284–8.
- 149. Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Takada H, et al. (1999) Differential Roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in Recognition of Gram-Negative and Gram-Positive Bacterial Cell Wall Components. Immunity 11:443–51.
- 150. Yang RB, Mark MR, Gurney AL, Godowski PJ (1999) Signaling Events Induced by Lipopolysaccharide-Activated Toll-Like Receptor 2. J Immunol 163:639–43.
- 151. Medvedev AE, Kopydlowski KM, Vogel SN (2000) Inhibition of Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Signal Transduction in Endotoxin-Tolerized Mouse Macrophages: Dysregulation of Cytokine, Chemokine, and Toll-Like Receptor 2 And 4 Gene Expression. J Immunol 164:5564–74.
- 152. Martin M, Katz J, Vogel SN, Michalek SM (2001) Differential Induction of Endotoxin Tolerance by Lipopolysaccharides Derived from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* and *Escherichia coli*. J Immunol 167:5278–85.

- 153. Netea MG, van Deuren M, Kullberg BJ, Cavaillon JM, Van der Meer JW (2002) Does the Shape of Lipid A Determine the Interaction of LPS with Toll-Like Receptors? Trends Immunol 23:135–9.
- 154. Kaisho T, Akira S (2001) Toll-Like Receptors and Their Signaling Mechanism in Innate Immunity. Acta Odontol Scand 59:124–30.
- 155. Janeway CA, Jr., Medzhitov R (2002) Innate Immune Recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 20:197–216.
- 156. Takeda K, Akira S (2004) Microbial Recognition by Toll-Like Receptors. J Dermatol Sci 34:73–82.
- 157. Fan H, Cook JA (2004) Molecular Mechanisms of Endotoxin Tolerance. J Endotoxin Res 10:71–84.
- 158. Biswas SK, Lopez-Collazo E (2009) Endotoxin Tolerance: New Mechanisms, Molecules and Clinical Significance. Trends Immunol 30:475–87.
- 159. Gutsmann T, Schromm AB, Brandenburg K (2007) The Physicochemistry of Endotoxins in Relation to Bioactivity. Int J Med Microbiol 297:341–52.
- 160. Biozzi G, Benacerraf B, Halpern BN (1955) The Effect of Salmonella typhi and Its Endotoxin on the Phagocytic Activity of the Reticuloendothelial System in Mice. Br J Exp Pathol 36:226–35.
- 161. Greisman SE, Wagner HN, Iio M, Hornick RB (1964) Mechanisms of Endotoxin Tolerance. Relationship between Endotoxin Tolerance and Reticuloendothelial System Phagocytic Activity in Man. J Exp Med 119:241–64.
- 162. Ruggiero G, Andreana A, Utili R, Galante D (1980) Enhanced Phagocytosis and Bactericidal Activity of Hepatic Reticuloendothelial System During Endotoxin Tolerance. Infect Immun 27:798–803.
- 163. del Fresno C, Garcia-Rio F, Gomez-Pina V, Soares-Schanoski A, Fernandez-Ruiz I, et al. (2009) Potent Phagocytic Activity with Impaired Antigen Presentation Identifying Lipopolysaccharide-Tolerant Human Monocytes: Demonstration in Isolated Monocytes from Cystic Fibrosis Patients. J Immunol 182:6494–507.
- 164. Mantovani A, Sica A, Locati M (2005) Macrophage Polarization Comes of Age. Immunity 23:344–6.
- 165. Martinez FO (2011) Regulators of Macrophage Activation. Eur J Immunol 41:1531–4.
- 166. Mosser DM, Edwards JP (2008) Exploring the Full Spectrum of Macrophage Activation. Nat Rev Immunol 8:958–69.
- 167. Sica A, Mantovani A (2012) Macrophage Plasticity and Polarization: In Vivo Veritas. J Clin Invest 122:787–95.

- 168. Miles SA, Conrad SM, Alves RG, Jeronimo SM, Mosser DM (2005) A Role for IgG Immune Complexes during Infection with the Intracellular Pathogen *Leishmania*. J Exp Med 201:747–54.
- 169. Baetselier PD, Namangala B, Noel W, Brys L, Pays E, et al. (2001) Alternative versus Classical Macrophage Activation during Experimental African Trypanosomosis. Int J Parasitol 31:575–87.
- 170. Benoit M, Barbarat B, Bernard A, Olive D, Mege JL (2008) Coxiella burnetii, the Agent of Q Fever, Stimulates an Atypical M2 Activation Program in Human Macrophages. Eur J Immunol 38:1065–70.
- 171. Korf J, Stoltz A, Verschoor J, De Baetselier P, Grooten J (2005) The Mycobacterium tuberculosis Cell Wall Component Mycolic Acid Elicits Pathogen-Associated Host Innate Immune Responses. Eur J Immunol 35:890–900.
- 172. Ivashkiv LB (2011) Inflammatory Signaling in Macrophages: Transitions from Acute to Tolerant and Alternative Activation States. Eur J Immunol 41:2477–81.
- 173. Pena OM, Pistolic J, Raj D, Fjell CD, Hancock RE (2011) Endotoxin Tolerance Represents a Distinctive State of Alternative Polarization (M2) in Human Mononuclear Cells. J Immunol 186:7243–54.
- 174. Porta C, Rimoldi M, Raes G, Brys L, Ghezzi P, et al. (2009) Tolerance and M2 (alternative) Macrophage Polarization Are Related Processes Orchestrated by p50 Nuclear Factor KappaB. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:14978–83.
- 175. Rajaiah R, Perkins DJ, Polumuri SK, Zhao A, Keegan AD, et al. (2013) Dissociation of Endotoxin Tolerance and Differentiation of Alternatively Activated Macrophages. J Immunol 190:4763–72.
- 176. Foster SL, Hargreaves DC, Medzhitov R (2007) Gene-Specific Control of Inflammation by TLR-Induced Chromatin Modifications. Nature 447:972–8.
- 177. Khan J, Sharma PK, Mukhopadhaya A (2015) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Mediates M1-Polarization of Macrophages/Monocytes via TLR1/TLR2 Activation. Immunobiology 220(11):1199–209.
- 178. Gordon S (2003) Alternative Activation of Macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol 3:23–35.
- 179. Azzaoui I, Yahia SA, Chang Y, Vorng H, Morales O, et al. (2011) CCL18 Differentiates Dendritic Cells in Tolerogenic Cells Able to Prime Regulatory T Cells in Healthy Subjects. Blood 118:3549–58.
- 180. Bonecchi R, Facchetti F, Dusi S, Luini W, Lissandrini D, et al. (2000) Induction of Functional IL-8 Receptors by IL-4 and IL-13 in Human Monocytes. J Immunol 164:3862–9.
- 181. Wu G, Morris SM, Jr. (1998) Arginine Metabolism: Nitric Oxide and Beyond. Biochem J 336 (Pt 1):1–17.

- 182. Ouyang W, Rutz S, Crellin NK, Valdez PA, Hymowitz SG (2011) Regulation and Functions of the IL-10 Family of Cytokines in Inflammation and Disease. Annu Rev Immunol 29:71– 109.
- 183. Letterio JJ, Roberts AB (1998) Regulation of Immune Responses by TGF-Beta. Annu Rev Immunol 16:137–61.
- 184. Saitoh S, Akashi S, Yamada T, Tanimura N, Kobayashi M, et al. (2004) Lipid A Antagonist, Lipid IVa, Is Distinct from Lipid A in Interaction with Toll-Like Receptor 4 (TLR4)-MD-2 and Ligand-Induced TLR4 Oligomerization. Int Immunol 16:961–9.
- 185. Morr M, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Simon MM, Muhlradt PF (2002) Differential Recognition of Structural Details of Bacterial Lipopeptides by Toll-Like Receptors. Eur J Immunol 32:3337–47.
- 186. Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Muhlradt PF, Morr M, Radolf JD, et al. (2001) Discrimination of Bacterial Lipoproteins by Toll-Like Receptor 6. Int Immunol 13:933–40.
- 187. Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Fontenot JD, Hajjar AM, Smith KD, et al. (2000) The Repertoire for Pattern Recognition of Pathogens by the Innate Immune System Is Defined by Cooperation between Toll-Like Receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:13766–71.
- 188. Escoll P, del Fresno C, Garcia L, Valles G, Lendinez MJ, et al. (2003) Rapid Up-Regulation of IRAK-M Expression Following a Second Endotoxin Challenge in Human Monocytes and in Monocytes Isolated from Septic Patients. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 311:465–72.
- 189. Liu ZJ, Yan LN, Li XH, Xu FL, Chen XF, et al. (2008) Up-Regulation of IRAK-M Is Essential for Endotoxin Tolerance Induced by a Low Dose of Lipopolysaccharide in Kupffer cells. J Surg Res 150:34–9.
- 190. Lopez-Collazo E, Fuentes-Prior P, Arnalich F, del Fresno C (2006) Pathophysiology of Interleukin-1 Receptor-Associated Kinase-M: Implications in Refractory State. Curr Opin Infect Dis 19:237–44.
- 191. van 't Veer C, van den Pangaart PS, van Zoelen MA, de Kruif M, Birjmohun RS, et al. (2007) Induction of IRAK-M Is Associated with Lipopolysaccharide Tolerance in a Human Endotoxemia Model. J Immunol 179:7110–20.
- 192. Xiang Q, Wen L, Liu MH, Zhang Y, Qu JF, et al. (2009) Endotoxin Tolerance of RAW264.7 Correlates with p38-Dependent Up-Regulation of Scavenger Receptor-A. J Int Med Res 37:491–502.
- 193. Kinjyo I, Hanada T, Inagaki-Ohara K, Mori H, Aki D, et al. (2002) SOCS1/JAB Is a Negative Regulator of LPS-Induced Macrophage Activation. Immunity 17:583–91.
- 194. Nakagawa R, Naka T, Tsutsui H, Fujimoto M, Kimura A, et al. (2002) SOCS-1 Participates in Negative Regulation of LPS Responses. Immunity 17:677–87.

- 195. Berlato C, Cassatella MA, Kinjyo I, Gatto L, Yoshimura A, et al. (2002) Involvement of Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling-3 as a Mediator of the Inhibitory Effects of IL-10 on Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Macrophage Activation. J Immunol 168:6404–11.
- 196. Li Y, Chu N, Rostami A, Zhang GX (2006) Dendritic Cells Transduced with SOCS-3 Exhibit a Tolerogenic/DC2 Phenotype that Directs Type 2 Th Cell Differentiation In Vitro and In Vivo. J Immunol 177:1679–88.
- 197. Cornell TT, Rodenhouse P, Cai Q, Sun L, Shanley TP (2010) Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Phosphatase 2 Regulates the Inflammatory Response in Sepsis. Infect Immun 78:2868–76.
- 198. Hammer M, Mages J, Dietrich H, Servatius A, Howells N, et al. (2006) Dual Specificity Phosphatase 1 (DUSP1) Regulates a Subset of LPS-Induced Genes and Protects Mice from Lethal Endotoxin Shock. J Exp Med 203:15–20.
- 199. Hoppstadter J, Kessler SM, Bruscoli S, Huwer H, Riccardi C, et al. (2015) Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Critical Factor in Macrophage Endotoxin Tolerance. J Immunol 194:6057–67.
- 200. Nimah M, Zhao B, Denenberg AG, Bueno O, Molkentin J, et al. (2005) Contribution of MKP-1 Regulation of p38 to Endotoxin Tolerance. Shock 23:80–7.
- 201. Piao W, Song C, Chen H, Diaz MA, Wahl LM, et al. (2009) Endotoxin Tolerance Dysregulates MyD88- and Toll/IL-1R Domain-Containing Adapter Inducing IFN-Beta-Dependent Pathways and Increases Expression of Negative Regulators of TLR Signaling. J Leukoc Biol 86:863–75.
- 202. Yeo SJ, Yoon JG, Hong SC, Yi AK (2003) CpG DNA Induces Self and Cross-Hyporesponsiveness of RAW264.7 Cells in Response to CpG DNA and Lipopolysaccharide: Alterations in IL-1 Receptor-Associated Kinase Expression. J Immunol 170:1052–61.
- 203. An H, Xu H, Zhang M, Zhou J, Feng T, et al. (2005) Src Homology 2 Domain-Containing Inositol-5-Phosphatase 1 (SHIP1) Negatively Regulates TLR4-Mediated LPS Response Primarily through a Phosphatase Activity- and PI-3K-Independent Mechanism. Blood 105:4685–92.
- 204. Park SH, Park-Min KH, Chen J, Hu X, Ivashkiv LB (2011) Tumor Necrosis Factor Induces GSK3 Kinase-Mediated Cross-Tolerance to Endotoxin in Macrophages. Nat Immunol 12:607–15.
- 205. Sly LM, Rauh MJ, Kalesnikoff J, Buchse T, Krystal G (2003) SHIP, SHIP2, and PTEN Activities Are Regulated In Vivo by Modulation of Their Protein Levels: SHIP Is Up-Regulated in Macrophages and Mast Cells by Lipopolysaccharide. Exp Hematol 31:1170–81.

- 206. Xiong Y, Medvedev AE (2011) Induction of Endotoxin Tolerance In Vivo Inhibits Activation of IRAK4 and Increases Negative Regulators IRAK-M, SHIP-1, and A20. J Leukoc Biol 90:1141–48.
- 207. Fujimoto M, Naka T (2010) SOCS1, a Negative Regulator of Cytokine Signals and TLR Responses, in Human Liver Diseases. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2010:470468.
- 208. Baetz A, Frey M, Heeg K, Dalpke AH (2004) Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling (SOCS) Proteins Indirectly Regulate Toll-Like Receptor Signaling in Innate Immune Cells. J Biol Chem 279:54708–15.
- 209. Gabhann JN, Higgs R, Brennan K, Thomas W, Damen JE, et al. (2010) Absence of SHIP-1 Results in Constitutive Phosphorylation of Tank-Binding Kinase 1 and Enhanced TLR3-Dependent IFN-Beta Production. J Immunol 184:2314–20.
- 210. Zhang G, Ghosh S (2002) Negative Regulation of Toll-Like Receptor-Mediated Signaling by Tollip. J Biol Chem 277:7059–65.
- 211. Kobayashi K, Hernandez LD, Galan JE, Janeway CA, Jr., Medzhitov R, et al. (2002) IRAK-M Is a Negative Regulator of Toll-Like Receptor Signaling. Cell 110:191–202.
- 212. Chi H, Barry SP, Roth RJ, Wu JJ, Jones EA, et al. (2006) Dynamic Regulation of Pro- and Anti-Inflammatory Cytokines by MAPK Phosphatase 1 (MKP-1) in Innate Immune Responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:2274–9.
- Gilmore TD (2006) Introduction to NF-kKappaB: Players, Pathways, Perspectives. Oncogene 25:6680–4.
- 214. Morishita H, Saito F, Kayama H, Atarashi K, Kuwata H, et al. (2009) Fra-1 Negatively Regulates Lipopolysaccharide-Mediated Inflammatory Responses. Int Immunol 21:457–65.
- 215. Manjuck J, Saha DC, Astiz M, Eales LJ, Rackow EC (2000) Decreased Response to Recall Antigens Is Associated with Depressed Costimulatory Receptor Expression in Septic Critically III Patients. J Lab Clin Med 135:153–60.
- 216. Jing J, Yang IV, Hui L, Patel JA, Evans CM, et al. (2013) Role of Macrophage Receptor with Collagenous Structure in Innate Immune Tolerance. J Immunol 190:6360–7.
- 217. Sakharwade SC, Mukhopadhaya A (2015) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Induces LPS Tolerance by Attenuating TLR-Mediated Signaling. Mol Immunol 68:312–24.
- 218. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A (2013) The Dendritic Cell Lineage: Ontogeny and Function of Dendritic Cells and Their Subsets in the Steady State and the Inflamed Setting. Annu Rev Immunol 31:563–604.
- 219. Steinman RM, Hemmi H (2006) Dendritic Cells: Translating Innate to Adaptive Immunity. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 311:17–58.
- 220. Mariathasan S, Monack DM (2007) Inflammasome Adaptors and Sensors: Intracellular Regulators of Infection and Inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol 7:31–40.

- 221. Netea MG, van de Veerdonk FL, van der Meer JW, Dinarello CA, Joosten LA (2015) Inflammasome-Independent Regulation of IL-1-Family Cytokines. Annu Rev Immunol 33:49–77.
- 222. Vanaja SK, Rathinam VA, Fitzgerald KA (2015) Mechanisms of Inflammasome Activation: Recent Advances and Novel Insights. Trends Cell Biol 25:308–15.
- 223. Latz E, Xiao TS, Stutz A (2013) Activation and Regulation of the Inflammasomes. Nat Rev Immunol 13:397–411.
- 224. Broz P, von Moltke J, Jones JW, Vance RE, Monack DM (2010) Differential Requirement for Caspase-1 Autoproteolysis in Pathogen-Induced Cell Death and Cytokine Processing. Cell Host Microbe 8:471–83.
- 225. Hsu LC, Ali SR, McGillivray S, Tseng PH, Mariathasan S, et al. (2008) A NOD2-NALP1 Complex Mediates Caspase-1-Dependent IL-1bBeta Secretion in Response to *Bacillus* anthracis Infection and Muramyl Dipeptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:7803–8.
- 226. Franchi L, Munoz-Planillo R, Nunez G (2012) Sensing and Reacting to Microbes through the Inflammasomes. Nat Immunol 13:325–32.
- 227. Martinon F, Mayor A, Tschopp J (2009) The Inflammasomes: Guardians of the Body. Annu Rev Immunol 27:229–65.
- 228. Guo H, Callaway JB, Ting JP (2015) Inflammasomes: Mechanism of Action, Role in Disease, and Therapeutics. Nat Med 21:677–87.
- 229. Sollberger G, Strittmatter GE, Kistowska M, French LE, Beer HD (2012) Caspase-4 Is Required for Activation of Inflammasomes. J Immunol 188:1992–2000.
- 230. Seger R, Krebs EG (1995) The MAPK Signaling Cascade. FASEB J 9:726-35.
- 231. Haddad JJ (2001) VX-745. Vertex Pharmaceuticals. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 2:1070-6.
- 232. Zhang T, Inesta-Vaquera F, Niepel M, Zhang J, Ficarro SB, et al. (2012) Discovery of Potent and Selective Covalent Inhibitors of JNK. Chem Biol 19:140–54.
- 233. Brownell JE, Sintchak MD, Gavin JM, Liao H, Bruzzese FJ, et al. (2010) Substrate-Assisted Inhibition of Ubiquitin-Like Protein-Activating Enzymes: The NEDD8 E1 Inhibitor MLN4924 Forms a NEDD8-AMP Mimetic In Situ. Mol Cell 37:102–11.
- 234. Bennett BL, Sasaki DT, Murray BW, O'Leary EC, Sakata ST, et al. (2001) SP600125, an Anthrapyrazolone Inhibitor of Jun N-Terminal Kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:13681–6.
- 235. Juliana C, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Wu J, Datta P, Solorzano L, et al. (2010) Anti-Inflammatory Compounds Parthenolide and Bay 11-7082 Are Direct Inhibitors of the Inflammasome. J Biol Chem 285:9792–802.
- 236. Honda H, Nagai Y, Matsunaga T, Okamoto N, Watanabe Y, et al. (2014) Isoliquiritigenin Is a Potent Inhibitor of NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation and Diet-Induced Adipose Tissue Inflammation. J Leukoc Biol 96:1087–100.

- 237. Miceli MC, Parnes JR (1991) The Roles of CD4 and CD8 in T Cell Activation. Semin Immunol 3:133–41.
- 238. Lutz MB, Schuler G (2002) Immature, Semi-Mature and Fully Mature Dendritic Cells: Which Signals Induce Tolerance or Immunity? Trends Immunol 23:445–9.
- 239. Bretscher P, Cohn M (1970) A Theory of Self-Nonself Discrimination. Science 169:1042-9.
- 240. Frauwirth KA, Thompson CB (2002) Activation and Inhibition of Lymphocytes by Costimulation. J Clin Invest 109:295–9.
- 241. Chen L, Flies DB (2013) Molecular Mechanisms of T Cell Co-Stimulation and Co-Inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol 13:227–42.
- 242. Coquet JM, Rausch L, Borst J (2015) The Importance of Co-Stimulation in the Orchestration of T Helper Cell Differentiation. Immunol Cell Biol 93:780–8.
- 243. Acuto O, Michel F (2003) CD28-Mediated Co-Stimulation: a Quantitative Support for TCR Signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 3:939–51.
- 244. Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL (1986) Two Types of Murine Helper T Cell Clone. I. Definition According to Profiles of Lymphokine Activities and Secreted Proteins. J Immunol 136:2348–57.
- 245. Zhu J, Paul WE (2008) CD4 T Cells: Fates, Functions, and Faults. Blood 112:1557-69.
- 246. Boehm U, Klamp T, Groot M, Howard JC (1997) Cellular Responses to Interferon-Gamma. Annu Rev Immunol 15:749–95.
- 247. Taylor GA, Feng CG, Sher A (2004) p47 GTPases: Regulators of Immunity to Intracellular Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol 4:100–9.
- 248. Del Prete G (1992) Human Th1 and Th2 Lymphocytes: Their Role in the Pathophysiology of Atopy. Allergy 47:450–5.
- 249. Sokol CL, Chu NQ, Yu S, Nish SA, Laufer TM, et al. (2009) Basophils Function as Antigen-Presenting Cells for an Allergen-Induced T Helper Type 2 Response. Nat Immunol 10:713–20.
- 250. Weaver CT, Harrington LE, Mangan PR, Gavrieli M, Murphy KM (2006) Th17: An Effector CD4 T Cell Lineage with Regulatory T Cell Ties. Immunity 24:677–88.
- 251. Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, et al. (2007) Phenotypic and Functional Features of Human Th17 Cells. J Exp Med 204:1849–61.
- 252. Wan YY, Flavell RA (2009) How diverse—CD4 Effector T cells and Their Functions. J Mol Cell Biol 1:20–36.
- 253. Sakaguchi S, Ono M, Setoguchi R, Yagi H, Hori S, et al. (2006) Foxp3+ CD25+ CD4+ Natural Regulatory T Cells in Dominant Self-Tolerance and Autoimmune Disease. Immunol Rev 212:8–27.
- 254. Crotty S (2011) Follicular Helper CD4 T Cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol 29:621-63.
- 255. Kaplan MH (2013) Th9 Cells: Differentiation and Disease. Immunol Rev 252:104-15.

- 256. Jia L, Wu C (2014) The Biology and Functions of Th22 cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 841:209–30.
- 257. Rolhion N, Carvalho FA, Darfeuille-Michaud A (2007) OmpC and the Sigma(E) Regulatory Pathway Are Involved in Adhesion and Invasion of the Crohn's Disease-Associated *Escherichia coli* strain LF82. Mol Microbiol 63:1684–700.
- 258. Bernardini ML, Sanna MG, Fontaine A, Sansonetti PJ (1993) OmpC Is Involved in Invasion of Epithelial Cells by *Shigella flexneri*. Infect Immun 61:3625–35.
- 259. Muller A, Gunther D, Dux F, Naumann M, Meyer TF, et al. (1999) Neisserial Porin (PorB) Causes Rapid Calcium Influx in Target Cells and Induces Apoptosis by the Activation of Cysteine Proteases. EMBO J 18:339–52.
- 260. Buommino E, Morelli F, Metafora S, Rossano F, Perfetto B, et al. (1999) Porin from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Induces Apoptosis in an Epithelial Cell Line Derived from Rat Seminal Vesicles. Infect Immun 67:4794–800.
- 261. Jeanteur D, Lakey JH, Pattus F (1991) The Bacterial Porin Superfamily: Sequence Alignment and Structure Prediction. Mol Microbiol 5:2153–64.
- 262. Hutsul JA, Worobec E (1994) Molecular Characterization of a 40 kDa OmpC-Like Porin from *Serratia marcescens*. Microbiology 140 (Pt 2):379–87.
- 263. Galdiero F, de L'ero G C, Benedetto N, Galdiero M, Tufano MA (1993) Release of Cytokines Induced by Salmonella typhimurium Porins. Infect Immun 61:155–61.
- 264. Gupta S, Kumar D, Vohra H, Ganguly NK (1999) Involvement of Signal Transduction Pathways in *Salmonella typhimurium* Porin Activated Gut Macrophages. Mol Cell Biochem 194:235–43.
- 265. Galdiero M, D'Isanto M, Vitiello M, Finamore E, Peluso L (2001) Porins from Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium Induce TNF-alpha, IL-6 and IL-8 Release by CD14-Independent and CD11a/CD18-Dependent Mechanisms. Microbiology 147:2697–704.
- 266. Galdiero M, Vitiello M, D'Isanto M, Peluso L (2001) Induction of Tyrosine Phosphorylated Proteins in THP-1 cells by *Salmonella typhimurium*, *Pasteurella haemolytica* and *Haemophilus influenzae* Porins. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 31:121–30.
- 267. Pasquevich KA, Garcia Samartino C, Coria LM, Estein SM, Zwerdling A, et al. (2010) The Protein Moiety of *Brucella abortus* Outer Membrane Protein 16 Is a New Bacterial Pathogen-Associated Molecular Pattern that Activates Dendritic Cells In Vivo, Induces a Th1 Immune Response, and Is a Promising Self-Adjuvanting Vaccine Against Systemic And Oral Acquired Brucellosis. J Immunol 184:5200–12.
- 268. Toussi DN, Liu X, Massari P (2012) The FomA Porin from *Fusobacterium nucleatum* Is a Toll-Like Receptor 2 Agonist with Immune Adjuvant Activity. Clin Vaccine Immunol 19:1093–1101.

- 269. Shuto T, Xu H, Wang B, Han J, Kai H, et al. (2001) Activation of NF-Kappa B by Nontypeable *Hemophilus influenzae* Is Mediated by Toll-Like Receptor 2-TAK1-Dependent NIK-IKK Alpha/Beta-I Kappa B Alpha and MKK3/6-p38 MAP Kinase Signaling Pathways in Epithelial Cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:8774–9.
- 270. Allison CC, Ferrero RL (2010) Role of Virulence Factors and Host Cell Signaling in the Recognition of *Helicobacter pylori* and the Generation of Immune Responses. Future Microbiol 5:1233–55.
- 271. Alcantar-Curiel MD, Garcia-Latorre E, Santos JI (2000) Klebsiella pneumoniae 35 and 36 kDa Porins Are Common Antigens in Different Serotypes and Induce Opsonizing Antibodies. Arch Med Res 31:28–36.
- 272. Massari P, Henneke P, Ho Y, Latz E, Golenbock DT, et al. (2002) Cutting Edge: Immune Stimulation by Neisserial Porins Is Toll-Like Receptor 2 and MyD88 Dependent. J Immunol 168:1533–7.
- 273. Massari P, Ram S, Macleod H, Wetzler LM (2003) The Role of Porins in Neisserial Pathogenesis and Immunity. Trends Microbiol 11:87–93.
- 274. Massari P, Visintin A, Gunawardana J, Halmen KA, King CA, et al. (2006) Meningococcal Porin PorB Binds to TLR2 and Requires TLR1 for Signaling. J Immunol 176:2373–80.
- 275. Jorth PA (2006) MAP Kinase Inhibition Prevents Induction of IL-6 and TNFa by Porin B of *Neisseria meningitidis* in Murine Macrophages.
- 276. Ray A, Chatterjee NS, Bhattacharya SK, Biswas T (2003) Porin of *Shigella dysenteriae* Enhances mRNA Levels for Toll-Like Receptor 2 and MyD88, Up-Regulates CD80 of Murine Macrophage, and Induces the Release of Interleukin-12. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 39:213–9.
- 277. Sperandio V, Giron JA, Silveira WD, Kaper JB (1995) The OmpU Outer Membrane Protein, a Potential Adherence Factor of *Vibrio cholerae*. Infect Immun 63:4433–8.
- 278. Duret G, Simonet V, Delcour AH (2007) Modulation of *Vibrio cholerae* Porin Function by Acidic pH. Channels 1:70–9.
- 279. Chomvarin C, Jumroenjit W, Chaicumpar K, Namwat W (2008) Association of OmpU Gene in *Vibrio cholerae* from Patients and Environment with Bile Resistance. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 39:876–81.
- 280. Lauman B, Pagel M, Delcour AH (2008) Altered Pore Properties and Kinetic Changes in Mutants of the *Vibrio cholerae* Porin OmpU. Mol Membr Biol 25:498–505.
- 281. Murley YM, Carroll PA, Skorupski K, Taylor RK, Calderwood SB (1999) Differential Transcription of the tcpPH Operon Confers Biotype-Specific Control of the Vibrio cholerae ToxR Virulence Regulon. Infect Immun 67:5117–23.

- 282. Provenzano D, Klose KE (2000) Altered Expression of the ToxR-Regulated Porins OmpU and OmpT Diminishes *Vibrio cholerae* Bile Resistance, Virulence Factor Expression, and Intestinal Colonization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:10220–4.
- 283. Bandyopadhaya A, Sarkar M, Chaudhuri K (2007) Transcriptional Upregulation of Inflammatory Cytokines in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells Following *Vibrio cholerae* Infection. FEBS J 274:4631–42.
- 284. Das T, Mukherjee S, Chaudhuri K (2012) Effect of Quercetin on Vibrio cholerae Induced Nuclear Factor-KappaB Activation and Interleukin-8 Expression in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. Microbes Infect 14:690–5.
- 285. Gupta S, Prasad GV, Mukhopadhaya A (2015) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Induces Caspase-Independent Programmed Cell Death upon Translocation to the Host Cell Mitochondria. J Biol Chem 290(52):31051–68.
- 286. Van Epps HL (2006) Ignoring Endotoxin. J Exp Med 203:1137.
- 287. Clark IA, Chaudhri G, Cowden WB (1989) Roles of Tumour Necrosis Factor in the Illness and Pathology of Malaria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 83:436–40.
- 288. Fireman E, Ben Efraim S, Greif J, Alguetti A, Ayalon D, et al. (1989) Suppressive Activity of Alveolar Macrophages and Blood Monocytes from Interstitial Lung Diseases: Role of Released Soluble Factors. Int J Immunopharmacol 11:751–60.
- 289. Chang ZL, Whiteside TL, Herberman RB (1990) Immunoregulatory Role of In Vitro Differentiated Macrophages on Human Natural Killer (NK)-Cell Activity. Cell Immunol 125:183–96.
- 290. Cavaillon JM, Adrie C, Fitting C, Adib-Conquy M (2003) Endotoxin Tolerance: Is There a Clinical Relevance? J Endotoxin Res 9:101–7.
- 291. Aneja R, Odoms K, Dunsmore K, Shanley TP, Wong HR (2006) Extracellular Heat Shock Protein-70 Induces Endotoxin Tolerance in THP-1 cells. J Immunol 177:7184–92.
- 292. Ben-Othman R, Dellagi K, Guizani-Tabbane L (2009) Leishmania major Parasites Induced Macrophage Tolerance: Implication of MAPK and NF-KappaB Pathways. Mol Immunol 46:3438–44.
- 293. De Nardo D, Nguyen T, Hamilton JA, Scholz GM (2009) Down-Regulation of IRAK-4 Is a Component of LPS- and CpG DNA-Induced Tolerance in Macrophages. Cell Signal 21:246–52.
- 294. Pathak SK, Basu S, Bhattacharyya A, Pathak S, Kundu M, et al. (2005) Mycobacterium tuberculosis Lipoarabinomannan-Mediated IRAK-M Induction Negatively Regulates Toll-Like Receptor-Dependent Interleukin-12p40 Production in Macrophages. J Biol Chem 280:42794–800.

- 295. Nakayama K, Okugawa S, Yanagimoto S, Kitazawa T, Tsukada K, et al. (2004) Involvement of IRAK-M in Peptidoglycan-Induced Tolerance in Macrophages. J Biol Chem 279:6629–34.
- 296. Sato S, Takeuchi O, Fujita T, Tomizawa H, Takeda K, et al. (2002) A Variety of Microbial Components Induce Tolerance to Lipopolysaccharide by Differentially Affecting MyD88-Dependent and -Independent Pathways. Int Immunol 14:783–91.
- 297. Kim C, Wilcox-Adelman S, Sano Y, Tang WJ, Collier RJ, et al. (2008) Antiinflammatory cAMP Signaling and Cell Migration Genes Co-Opted by the *Anthrax bacillus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:6150–5.
- 298. Agrawal A, Pulendran B (2004) Anthrax Lethal Toxin: a Weapon of Multisystem Destruction. Cell Mol Life Sci 61:2859–65.
- 299. Mahalingam S, Lidbury BA (2002) Suppression of Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Antiviral Transcription Factor (STAT-1 and NF-Kappa B) Complexes by Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of Macrophage Infection by Ross River Virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:13819–24.
- 300. Dai S, Rajaram MV, Curry HM, Leander R, Schlesinger LS (2013) Fine Tuning Inflammation at the Front Door: Macrophage Complement Receptor 3-Mediates Phagocytosis and Immune Suppression for *Francisella tularensis*. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003114.
- 301. Kim L, Butcher BA, Denkers EY (2004) Toxoplasma gondii Interferes with Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Activation by Mechanisms Distinct From Endotoxin Tolerance. J Immunol 172:3003–10.
- 302. Suzuki Y, Joh K, Kobayashi A (1987) Macrophage-Mediated Suppression of Immune Responses in *Toxoplasma*-Infected Mice. III. Suppression of Antibody Responses to Parasite Itself. Cell Immunol 110:218–25.
- 303. Tsatsanis C, Zacharioudaki V, Androulidaki A, Dermitzaki E, Charalampopoulos I, et al. (2005) Adiponectin Induces TNF-Alpha and IL-6 in Macrophages and Promotes Tolerance to Itself and Other Pro-Inflammatory Stimuli. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 335:1254–63.
- 304. Wulster-Radcliffe MC, Ajuwon KM, Wang J, Christian JA, Spurlock ME (2004) Adiponectin Differentially Regulates Cytokines in Porcine Macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 316:924–9.
- 305. Yokota T, Oritani K, Takahashi I, Ishikawa J, Matsuyama A, et al. (2000) Adiponectin, a New Member of the Family of Soluble Defense Collagens, Negatively Regulates the Growth of Myelomonocytic Progenitors and the Functions of Macrophages. Blood 96:1723–32.

- 306. Zacharioudaki V, Androulidaki A, Arranz A, Vrentzos G, Margioris AN, et al. (2009) Adiponectin Promotes Endotoxin Tolerance in Macrophages by Inducing IRAK-M Expression. J Immunol 182:6444–51.
- 307. Muto J, Yamasaki K, Taylor KR, Gallo RL (2009) Engagement of CD44 by Hyaluronan Suppresses TLR4 Signaling and the Septic Response to LPS. Mol Immunol 47:449–56.
- 308. Mandrekar P, Bala S, Catalano D, Kodys K, Szabo G (2009) The Opposite Effects of Acute and Chronic Alcohol on Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammation Are Linked to IRAK-M in Human Monocytes. J Immunol 183:1320–7.
- 309. Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A (2001) Interleukin-10 and the Interleukin-10 Receptor. Annu Rev Immunol 19:683–765.
- 310. Tsunawaki S, Sporn M, Ding A, Nathan C (1988) Deactivation of Macrophages by Transforming Growth Factor-Beta. Nature 334:260–2.
- Cavaillon JM (1995) The Nonspecific Nature of Endotoxin Tolerance. Trends Microbiol 3:320–4.
- 312. Ferlito M, Romanenko OG, Ashton S, Squadrito F, Halushka PV, et al. (2001) Effect of Cross-Tolerance between Endotoxin and TNF-Alpha or IL-1-Beta on Cellular Signaling and Mediator Production. J Leukoc Biol 70:821–9.
- 313. Randow F, Syrbe U, Meisel C, Krausch D, Zuckermann H, et al. (1995) Mechanism of Endotoxin Desensitization: Involvement of Interleukin 10 and Transforming Growth Factor Beta. J Exp Med 181:1887–92.
- 314. Schroder M, Meisel C, Buhl K, Profanter N, Sievert N, et al. (2003) Different Modes of IL-10 and TGF-Beta to Inhibit Cytokine-Dependent IFN-Gamma Production: Consequences for Reversal of Lipopolysaccharide Desensitization. J Immunol 170:5260–7.
- 315. Biswas SK, Gangi L, Paul S, Schioppa T, Saccani A, et al. (2006) A distinct and Unique Transcriptional Program Expressed by Tumor-Associated Macrophages (Defective NF-KappaB and Enhanced IRF-3/STAT1 Activation). Blood 107:2112–22.
- Cross AS (2002) Endotoxin Tolerance-Current Concepts in Historical Perspective. J Endotoxin Res 8:83–98.
- 317. West MA, Heagy W (2002) Endotoxin Tolerance: A review. Crit Care Med 30:S64–S73.
- 318. Medvedev AE, Lentschat A, Wahl LM, Golenbock DT, Vogel SN (2002) Dysregulation of LPS-Induced Toll-Like Receptor 4-MyD88 Complex Formation and IL-1 Receptor-Associated Kinase 1 Activation in Endotoxin-Tolerant Cells. J Immunol 169:5209–16.
- 319. Nomura F, Akashi S, Sakao Y, Sato S, Kawai T, et al. (2000) Cutting Edge: Endotoxin Tolerance in Mouse Peritoneal Macrophages Correlates with Down-Regulation of Surface Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression. J Immunol 164:3476–9.
- 320. Hedl M, Li J, Cho JH, Abraham C (2007) Chronic Stimulation of Nod2 Mediates Tolerance to Bacterial Products. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:19440–5.

- 321. McNeela EA, Burke A, Neill DR, Baxter C, Fernandes VE, et al. (2010) Pneumolysin Activates the NLRP3 Inflammasome and Promotes Proinflammatory Cytokines Independently of TLR4. PLoS Pathog 6:e1001191.
- 322. Munoz-Planillo R, Franchi L, Miller LS, Nunez G (2009) A Critical Role for Hemolysins and Bacterial Lipoproteins in *Staphylococcus aureus*-Induced Activation of the Nlrp3 Inflammasome. J Immunol 183:3942–8.
- 323. Gavrilin MA, Abdelaziz DH, Mostafa M, Abdulrahman BA, Grandhi J, et al. (2012) Activation of the Pyrin Inflammasome by Intracellular *Burkholderia cenocepacia*. J Immunol 188:3469–77.
- 324. Zhou Y, Zhao D, Yue R, Khan SH, Shah SZ, et al. (2015) Inflammasomes-Dependent Regulation of IL-1Beta Secretion Induced by the Virulent *Mycobacterium bovis* Beijing Strain in THP-1 Macrophages. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 108:163–171.
- 325. McCoy AJ, Koizumi Y, Higa N, Suzuki T (2010) Differential Regulation of Caspase-1 Activation via NLRP3/NLRC4 Inflammasomes Mediated by Aerolysin and Type III Secretion System during *Aeromonas veronii* Infection. J Immunol 185:7077–84.
- 326. Wu J, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Alnemri ES (2010) Involvement of the AIM2, NLRC4, and NLRP3 Inflammasomes in Caspase-1 Activation by *Listeria monocytogenes*. J Clin Immunol 30:693–702.
- 327. Iyer SS, He Q, Janczy JR, Elliott EI, Zhong Z, et al. (2013) Mitochondrial Cardiolipin Is Required for Nlrp3 Inflammasome Activation. Immunity 39:311–23.
- 328. Higa N, Toma C, Koizumi Y, Nakasone N, Nohara T, et al. (2013) *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* Effector Proteins Suppress Inflammasome Activation by Interfering with Host Autophagy Signaling. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003142.
- 329. Toma C, Higa N, Koizumi Y, Nakasone N, Ogura Y, et al. (2010) Pathogenic Vibrio Activate NLRP3 Inflammasome via Cytotoxins and TLR/Nucleotide-Binding Oligomerization Domain-Mediated NF-Kappa B Signaling. J Immunol 184:5287–97.
- 330. Song L, Huang Y, Zhao M, Wang Z, Wang S, et al. (2015) A Critical Role for Hemolysin in Vibrio fluvialis-Induced IL-1Beta Secretion Mediated by the NLRP3 Inflammasome in Macrophages. Front Microbiol 6:10.
- 331. Queen J, Agarwal S, Dolores JS, Stehlik C, Satchell KJ (2015) Mechanisms of Inflammasome Activation by *Vibrio cholerae* Secreted Toxins Vary with Strain Biotype. Infect Immun 83:2496–506.
- 332. Moreno-Eutimio MA, Tenorio-Calvo A, Pastelin-Palacios R, Perez-Shibayama C, Gil-Cruz C, et al. (2013) Salmonella typhi OmpS1 and OmpS2 Porins Are Potent Protective Immunogens with Adjuvant Properties. Immunology 139:459–71.
- 333. Cervantes-Barragan L, Gil-Cruz C, Pastelin-Palacios R, Lang KS, Isibasi A, et al. (2009) TLR2 and TLR4 Signaling Shapes Specific Antibody Responses to Salmonella typhi Antigens. Eur J Immunol 39:126–35.
- 334. Lee JS, Lee JC, Lee CM, Jung ID, Jeong YI, et al. (2007) Outer Membrane Protein A of Acinetobacter baumannii Induces Differentiation of CD4+ T Cells toward a Th1 Polarizing Phenotype through the Activation of Dendritic Cells. Biochem Pharmacol 74:86–97.
- 335. Banerjee P, Biswas A, Biswas T (2008) Porin-Incorporated Liposome Induces Toll-Like Receptors 2- and 6-Dependent Maturation and Type 1 Response Of Dendritic Cell. Int Immunol 20:1551–63.
- 336. Zanoni I, Granucci F (2009) Dendritic cells and Macrophages: Same Receptors but Different Functions. Curr Rev Immunol 5:311–25.
- 337. Smith KA (1980) T-Cell Growth Factor. Immunol Rev 51:337–57.
- 338. Meuer SC, Hussey RE, Cantrell DA, Hodgdon JC, Schlossman SF, et al. (1984) Triggering of the T3-Ti Antigen-Receptor Complex Results in Clonal T-Cell Proliferation through an Interleukin 2-Dependent Autocrine Pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81:1509–13.
- 339. Galdiero M, De Martino L, Marcatili A, Nuzzo I, Vitiello M, et al. (1998) Th1 and Th2 Cell Involvement in Immune Response to Salmonella typhimurium porins. Immunology 94:5–13.

VI Synopsis

Synopsis: Study of modulation of host innate and adaptive immune responses by *Vibrio cholerae* porin OmpU

Sanica C. Sakharwade

Introduction

Vibrio cholerae is a gram-negative comma-shaped, facultative anaerobic bacterium that colonizes in the small intestine of the human host and causes an acute diarrheal disease cholera [1]. *V. cholerae*, being a gram-negative bacterium, has an outer membrane comprised of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) and protein complexes [2]. A dominant class of outer membrane proteins is porins, which form β -barrel channels across the outer membrane, are involved in solute transport, and are crucial for maintaining bacterial homeostasis.

OmpU is an important porin present across all *Vibrio* species and, in some of the cases, they are involved in multiple host–pathogen interactions, such as, adherence to host cells, anti-microbial peptide resistance, and antibiotic resistance and few have been proposed as vaccine candidates [3-8]. Out of the various porins present on the surface of *V. cholerae*, the expression of OmpU increases from 30% to 60% in the gut environment. Its expression is positively regulated by the ToxR regulon, which is a master regulator of almost all the virulence genes important for *V. cholerae* pathogenesis [9]. *V. cholerae* OmpU helps in bacterial survival in the gut by conferring resistance against bile acids and anti-microbial peptides [10,11]. The OmpU gene is present in environmental, as well as, clinical isolates [12]. Interestingly, the gene for OmpU is not present in non-pathogenic strains, that is, non-O1 and non-O139 strains [13] and is conserved among epidemic strains [14].

In spite of multiple reports of *V. cholerae* OmpU in host–pathogen interactions, it is poorly characterized in terms of its ability to evoke cellular responses, particularly in the context of the host immune system. Therefore, we wanted to explore whether OmpU could modulate the different aspects of the immune responses. Toward this aspect, we have following two specific aims:

Specific aim I: Whether OmpU possesses the ability to modulate the host's innate immune responses

Specific aim II: Whether OmpU can modulate adaptive immune responses of the host

Specific aim I: To probe whether OmpU possesses the ability to modulate the host's innate immune responses

Innate immune responses are the body's first line of defense against microbial infection. Innate immune cells orchestrate an enormous response together that manifests as swelling, redness, and pain; mainly in the invasion area and is associated with increase in body temperature. This type of innate immune response is known as inflammation. Among the various innate immune cells, macrophages and their precursor, monocytes, are important mediators of inflammation. Monocytes circulating in the blood stream differentiate to become macrophages at sites of inflamed tissues. Macrophages are phagocytic in nature and kill ingested microbes. The phagocytic process involves a respiratory burst that leads to generation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates (ROI/RNI) that are cytotoxic in nature. One important RNI is nitric oxide (NO), which also mediates vascular permeability. Further, both macrophages and monocytes recognize various pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) by specialized patternrecognition receptors (PRRs). The PAMP-PRR interaction can activate a signaling cascade that leads to release of pro-inflammatory mediators, such as, TNFa (tumor necrosis factor α), IL-6, IL-12, and IL-1 β . TNF α production is enhanced by NO. Along with NO, TNF α and IL-1 β increase endothelial permeability. TNF α is also an important activator of phagocytosis. TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 together mediate induction of fever and the acute phase response from liver. IL-12 activates natural killer (NK) cells, monocytes, and macrophages and is important for their phagocytic function. Further, IL-12 and IL-6 shape adaptive immune responses.

Therefore, toward exploring whether OmpU has the ability to induce pro-inflammatory responses we have under taken the following objectives:

Objective 1: To probe whether **OmpU** can activate innate immune cells, such as, monocytes and macrophages

We wanted to determine whether OmpU can lead to the production of pro-inflammatory mediators from monocytes and macrophages. We assessed the effect of OmpU in RAW 264.7-murine macrophage cell line, THP-1-human monocytic cell line, and human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). Cells were treated with recombinantly purified OmpU (rOmpU) for different time periods and with different doses. Cell culture supernatants were collected and levels of three important mediators of the pro-inflammatory responses, NO, TNF α , and IL-6 were determined by Griess reaction and ELISA. Our data indicate that *V. cholerae* porin OmpU can activate monocytes and macrophages as it induces secretion of inflammatory mediators, such as, NO, TNF α , and IL-6 [15].

Therefore, our observations establish that a *V. cholerae* porin, OmpU may behave as a PAMP that induce pro-inflammatory mediator production in monocytes and macrophages.

Furthermore, we observed a dual nature of the *V. cholerae* OmpU in terms of host cell activation. Interestingly, cells pretreated with OmpU and subsequently challenged with another pro-inflammatory agent, LPS, exhibited reduced pro-inflammatory mediator production. Cells were pretreated with OmpU for 24 h, replated in fresh media, and challenged with LPS for different time periods. We observed that OmpU-pretreated LPS-stimulated cells (i.e., OmpU/LPS-treated cells) exhibited decreased NO, TNF α , IL-6, and IL-12 production compared to buffer-pretreated LPS-activated cells (i.e., buffer/LPS-treated cells). Additionally, we established that cell health deterioration was not the cause of the down-regulation phenomenon by performing MTT assay.

Therefore, our observations indicat that OmpU is able to differentially regulate pro-inflammatory mediators.

Objective 2: To determine whether OmpU induces a state of tolerance in monocytes and macrophages

We further wanted to explore the mechanism by which OmpU was attenuating LPS-mediated responses. Toward this, we had two hypotheses, that OmpU-pretreatment followed by LPS-activation (OmpU/LPS-treated cells) was either polarizing macrophages toward M2 state, which exhibits an anti-inflammatory phenotype or was inducing a state of tolerance in monocytes or macrophages. As OmpU was classically activating (M1 polarization) monocytes and macrophages [15,16], we assessed whether subsequent LPS stimulation led to a transition from M1 to M2 phenotype. Alternatively activated macrophages (M2 polarized) are involved in wound repair and regeneration after an

inflammatory insult or can be exploited by pathogens for evasion from anti-microbial responses. Our second hypothesis was whether OmpU/LPS-treatment induces a phenomenon known as tolerance. Macrophage tolerance is defined as the reduced capacity of host (*in vivo*) or of cultured monocytes/macrophages (*in vitro*) to optimally respond to reexposure of an inflammatory stimulus [17]. Both of the phenomena, tolerance and M2 polarization prevent excess inflammation *in vivo* and protect the host from its detrimental effects. However, there are contrasting reports whether M2 polarization occurs during tolerance or not, and whether these two processes are mechanistically different [18,19].

By gene-expression analysis of a panel of M2 markers we observed that OmpU/LPS-treated cells did not significantly enhance mRNA levels of any of the M2 markers as compared to those cells treated with buffer/LPS. Therefore, our results indicated that M2 polarization is not involved in OmpU-mediated down-regulation process.

Suppressor cytokines, such as, IL-10 and TGF β have been associated with M2 polarization, as well as, tolerance [18,20]. Our results show that neutralization of IL-10 with neutralizing antibody could partially rescue TNF α production in OmpU/LPS-treated PBMCs. However, considering these results together, we cannot state whether IL-10 involvement can indeed be justified as a M2 marker in our case, as other typical M2 markers and TGF β showed no involvement.

As our above results indicated that OmpU does not induce M2 polarization in LPS-activated cells, we further assessed whether OmpU-pretreatment induces a state of tolerance in LPS-activated cells. As most of the well documented tolerance models involve alteration in the TLR signaling pathway [21], we explored whether TLR signaling is affected in OmpU/LPS-treated cells. Our data indicated that OmpU-pretreatment decreased LPS-induced association of TLR dimer, as well as, the recruitment of the adaptor molecule MyD88 to the receptor complex as compared to buffer/LPS treatment. Further, association of kinases IRAK1 and IRAK4 with MyD88 was also decreased in OmpU/LPS-treated cells compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells. Hence, our observations suggest that OmpU-pretreatment attenuates LPS-mediated TLR-signaling at multiple steps.

Tolerant monocytes and macrophages also exhibit enhanced levels of several negative regulators of the TLR-signaling cascade [22]. We determined gene expression of different negative regulators of TLR signaling but did not observe increased mRNA levels of any such regulators in OmpU/LPS-treated cells as compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells, except for IRAK-M in RAW 264.7 cells. This was further confirmed by western blotting. However, IRAK-M overexpression in THP-1, human PBMCs, and mouse peritoneal macrophages did not occur. Therefore, our observation suggests that IRAK-M may contribute toward attenuated TLR signaling in RAW 264.7 cells.

TLR signaling usually culminates in the activation of the transcription factor NF κ B, which is one of the key regulators of pro-inflammatory responses. We assessed translocation of two members of NF κ B family, by western blotting, that is, RelA (p65) and c-Rel, which are commonly involved in pro-inflammatory responses. We observed that the translocation of both RelA and c-Rel to the nucleus was reduced on OmpU/LPS treatment, as compared to buffer/LPS treatment. Thus, our observations suggest that OmpU modulates LPS-induced TLR signaling pathway and affects transcription factor levels in the nucleus, ultimately resulting in decreased pro-inflammatory mediator production by LPS.

As all the above results indicated that OmpU-pretreatment probably induces tolerance in LPS-activated cells, we further confirmed it by probing other features of tolerance. Endotoxin-tolerant macrophages demonstrate certain features, such as, enhanced phagocytosis and decreased costimulatory molecule expression that are important for resolution of inflammation [23]. We observed that phagocytic capacity of OmpU/LPS-activated RAW 264.7 cells was enhanced, as compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells. Further, OmpU-pretreatment decreased LPS-mediated surface expression of CD80 in RAW 264.7 cells. Similarly, in murine peritoneal macrophages, CD86 surface expression was reduced in OmpU/LPS-treated cells as compared to buffer/LPS-treated cells.

Altogether, our results proved that a bacterial porin, OmpU is able to induce macrophage tolerance.

Specific aim II: To probe whether OmpU can modulate adaptive immune responses of the host

The innate immune cells interact with adaptive immune cells to initiate a specific, memory-generating, and long-lasting response against microbes and microbial products. Out of the three antigen-presenting cells (APCs), that is, macrophages, DCs, and B cells, DCs are highly potent and are called professional APCs. They act as sensors and respond to a variety of environmental stimuli and undergo differentiation and maturation. When immature DCs, (which have not encountered an antigen) sense PAMPs via PRRs, they secrete cytokines and chemokines in response to the recognition and can mediate inflammatory responses. This process of signaling via innate receptors is important for DC maturation. Therefore, we have under taken the following objectives under this specific aim to determine how OmpU modulates DCs and whether by modulating APCs, OmpU could also modulate T-cell function.

Objective 1: To probe whether OmpU can activate DCs

To explore whether and how OmpU could modulate DC function, murine bone marrow dendritic cells (BMDCs) and splenic DCs were treated with OmpU and cytokine levels were assessed by ELISA. We observed that OmpU-treated DCs produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as, TNF α , IL-6, and IL-1 β . As mentioned earlier, TNF α and IL-1 β are mainly involved in vasodilation. Further, IL-6 is involved in acute phase response. TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 also induce hyperthermia. IL-1 β and IL-6 increase proliferation and differentiation of lymphocytes.

Further, we probed whether OmpU-induced activation of DCs is mediated via TLRs. One of the earlier report from our laboratory showed that OmpU mediates its signaling via TLR1/2-MyD88-dependent pathway in monocytes and macrophages [16]. However, our findings with neutralizing antibody against TLR2 indicated that TLR2 is not involved in OmpU-mediated TNF α and IL-6 production from DCs. As TLR2 heterodimerizes either with TLR1 or TLR6 and the fact that TLR1 and TLR6 cannot signal without TLR2, our observation therefore, suggests that TLR1 and TLR6 are also not involved in OmpU-mediated activation of DCs. Similarly, with the use of neutralizing antibody against TLR4, we observed that even TLR4 is not involved in OmpU-mediated

activation of DCs. Therefore, which PRR or TLR recognizes OmpU and activates DCs remains elusive.

PAMP–PRR signaling can activate transcription factors, such as, NF κ B and AP-1. Activation of MAPK cascade can activate these transcription factors as well. MAPK activation can be dependent or independent of TLR signaling. Therefore, we further explored whether MAPKs, p38 and JNK and transcription factors, NF κ B and AP-1 were involved in OmpU-mediated cytokine production by the use of chemical inhibitors. We observed a marked decrease in TNF α , IL-6, and IL-1 β production with the use of MAPK, as well as, transcription factor inhibitors. We are further interested in how OmpU activates the MAPK signaling in DCs.

Additionally, we probed whether any inflammasome is involved in OmpU-mediated activation of DCs. IL-1 β is generally produced as pro-IL-1 β and is converted into its mature form by activated caspase-1. Inflammasomes convert pro-caspase-1 into active caspase-1 [24]. Inflammasomes are multi-protein heptameric complexes consisting of caspase-1, PYCARD, and intra-cellular PRRs, such as, NLRs (NOD-like receptors). NLRP1, NLRP3, or NLRC4 containing inflammasomes are commonly activated in bacterial infections. Certain inflammasomes also contain AIM2 and pyrin proteins that are not part of the NLR family. With the use of chemical inhibitors for caspase-1 and NLRP3, we observed a substantial decrease in OmpU-mediated IL-1 β production in BMDCs and splenic DCs. In addition, we observed increased production of active caspase-1 on OmpU treatment of DCs. Thus, our data suggest that OmpU-induced IL-1 β production is mediated via NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent caspase-1 activation.

Objective 2: To explore whether **OmpU** possesses the ability to shape adaptive responses by polarizing T helper cells toward a certain phenotype

T cells are one of the critical mediators of the adaptive immunity. Both cellmediated and humoral adaptive immune responses are dependent on T-cell activation. CD8⁺ T cells or cytotoxic T cells are important for cell-mediated immunity, whereas, CD4⁺ T cells or T helper cells (Th) are important for shaping both cell-mediated and antibody-mediated humoral immunity. In response to different cytokine stimuli, T helper cells can be polarized toward different type of Th cells, such as, Th1, Th2, etc. Th1 cells are important for cell-mediated, as well as, humoral immunity, whereas, Th2 cells are biased toward humoral immunity and allergy. Therefore, T-cell activation and differentiation are vital prerequisites for shaping adaptive immunity. DCs capture and process diverse antigens and migrate to lymphoid tissues, where they present these antigens to T cells. DCs then, undergo maturation and display enhanced co-stimulatory molecules on their surface, which is critical for T-cell activation. In the immature condition, DCs can capture antigens but are poor in presenting them to T cells. However, in their mature state, DCs act as professional APCs. PAMP–PRR signaling is important for DC maturation. Our previous results prove that OmpU is able to activate DCs, though we could not determine the PRR responsible for DC activation. We further explored different aspects of DC maturation in context of antigen presentation and studied whether OmpU-primed DCs can shape T-cell responses.

We observed that OmpU induced a high IL-12/IL-10 cytokine ratio in BMDCs. IL-12 promotes Th1 and IL-10 promotes Th2 polarization, respectively. Therefore, high IL-12 production and low IL-10 production by DCs in response to OmpU suggested that OmpU possesses the ability to initiate cell-mediated immunity and phagocyte-dependent inflammation.

For effective antigen presentation and T-cell responses, co-stimulatory molecules play a crucial role. Therefore, we wanted to determine whether OmpU can affect surface expression of CD80 and CD86 on BMDCs, as well as, macrophages by flow cytometry. We observed that OmpU increased surface expression of CD80 and CD86 in BMDCs and CD80 in RAW 264.7 and murine peritoneal macrophages. This suggests that OmpU leads to maturation of APCs, such as, macrophages and DCs.

To determine whether DCs can present OmpU-derived peptides to $CD4^+ T$ cells and can activate them, we co-cultured OmpU-primed splenic DC with $CD4^+ T$ cells and observed an increase in T-cell proliferation in mixed lymphocyte reactions suggesting that OmpU possesses the ability to activate T-cell mediated immune responses. As OmpU-induced a strong IL-12 signal in DCs, we probed whether OmpU could polarize T cells toward Th1 type. Therefore, we assessed IFN γ levels in co-culture supernatants and we observed that OmpU led to the secretion of IFN γ , the hallmark of Th1polarization responses. Therefore, our data strongly suggest that the OmpU might promote cell-mediated immunity *in vivo*.

Conclusions

Altogether, *V. cholerae* porin OmpU activates innate immunity and induces the production of pro-inflammatory mediators, such as, NO, TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , and IL-12 from monocytes, macrophages, and DCs. Moreover, OmpU induces endotoxin tolerance in monocytes and macrophages and thus, differentially modulates inflammatory mediator production. Our study reveals that none of the important M2-polarizing markers are involved in OmpU-mediated tolerance induction in LPS-activated cells. Though OmpU-mediated tolerance shares some features of endotoxin tolerance, such as, IRAK-M and IL-10 involvement, it also displays some unique features that are not documented in any other cases of tolerance, such as, decreased association of TLRs to form heterodimer, reduced nuclear translocation of NF κ B members, and no involvement of M2-polarization markers [25].

Further, our findings suggested that TLR may not be involved in OmpU-mediated DC activation. MAPKs, p38 and JNK and transcription factors, NF κ B and AP-1 are involved in OmpU-mediated signaling in DCs. Moreover, OmpU-induced IL-1 β production involves NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent caspase-1 activation.

OmpU also shapes adaptive responses by enhancing surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules on macrophages and DCs. Further, OmpU induces a high IL-12/IL-10 ratio and OmpU-primed DCs leads to T-cell proliferation and Th1 differentiation *in vitro*.

References

- 1. Cholera vaccines: WHO Position Paper. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 85:117–28.
- 2. Neidhardt FC (2011) How Microbial Proteomics Got Started. Proteomics 11:2943–46.
- 3. Duperthuy M, Binesse J, Le Roux F, Romestand B, Caro A, et al. (2010) The Major Outer Membrane Protein OmpU of Vibrio splendidus Contributes to Host Antimicrobial Peptide Resistance and Is Required for Virulence in the Oyster Crassostrea gigas. Environ Microbiol 12:951–63.
- Duperthuy M, Schmitt P, Garzon E, Caro A, Rosa RD, et al. (2011) Use of OmpU Porins for Attachment and Invasion of *Crassostrea gigas* Immune Cells by the Oyster Pathogen *Vibrio splendidus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:2993–8.

- 5. Goo SY, Lee HJ, Kim WH, Han KL, Park DK, et al. (2006) Identification of OmpU of Vibrio vulnificus as a Fibronectin-Binding Protein and Its Role in Bacterial Pathogenesis. Infect Immun 74:5586–94.
- 6. Xiong XP, Wang C, Ye MZ, Yang TC, Peng XX, et al. (2010) Differentially Expressed Outer Membrane Proteins of *Vibrio alginolyticus* in Response to Six Types of Antibiotics. Mar Biotechnol 12:686–95.
- Cai SH, Lu YS, Wu ZH, Jian JC (2013) Cloning, Expression of Vibrio alginolyticus Outer Membrane Protein-OmpU Gene and Its Potential Application as Vaccine in Crimson Snapper, Lutjanus erythropterus Bloch. J Fish Dis 36:695–702.
- Wang Q, Chen J, Liu R, Jia J (2011) Identification and Evaluation of an Outer Membrane Protein OmpU from a Pathogenic *Vibrio harveyi* Isolate as Vaccine Candidate in Turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*). Lett Appl Microbiol 53:22–9.
- Crawford JA, Kaper JB, DiRita VJ (1998) Analysis of ToxR-Dependent Transcription Activation of OmpU, the Gene Encoding a Major Envelope Protein in *Vibrio cholerae*. Mol Microbiol 29:235–46.
- Mathur J, Waldor MK (2004) The Vibrio cholerae ToxR-Regulated Porin OmpU Confers Resistance to Antimicrobial Peptides. Infect Immun 72:3577–83.
- Wibbenmeyer JA, Provenzano D, Landry CF, Klose KE, Delcour AH (2002) Vibrio cholerae OmpU and OmpT Porins Are Differentially Affected by Bile. Infect Immun 70:121–6.
- Rivera IN, Chun J, Huq A, Sack RB, Colwell RR (2001) Genotypes Associated with Virulence in Environmental Isolates of *Vibrio cholerae*. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:2421–9.
- Singh DV, Matte MH, Matte GR, Jiang S, Sabeena F, et al. (2001) Molecular Analysis of Vibrio cholerae O1, O139, Non-O1, and Non-O139 Strains: Clonal Relationships between Clinical and Environmental Isolates. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:910–21.
- 14. Paauw A, Trip H, Niemcewicz M, Sellek R, Heng JM, et al. (2014) OmpU as a Biomarker for Rapid Discrimination between Toxigenic and Epidemic Vibrio cholerae O1/O139 and Non-Epidemic Vibrio cholerae in a Modified MALDI-TOF MS Assay. BMC Microbiol 14:158.
- 15. Sakharwade SC, Sharma PK, Mukhopadhaya A (2013) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Induces Pro-Inflammatory Responses, but Down-Regulates LPS-Mediated Effects in RAW 264.7, THP-1 and Human PBMCs. PLoS One 8:e76583.

- Khan J, Sharma PK, Mukhopadhaya A (2015) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Mediates M1-Polarization of Macrophages/Monocytes via TLR1/TLR2 Activation. Immunobiology 220(11):1199–209.
- Cross AS (2002) Endotoxin Tolerance-Current Concepts in Historical Perspective. J Endotoxin Res 8:83–98.
- Porta C, Rimoldi M, Raes G, Brys L, Ghezzi P, et al. (2009) Tolerance and M2 (Alternative) Macrophage Polarization Are Related Processes Orchestrated by p50 Nuclear Factor KappaB. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:14978–83.
- Rajaiah R, Perkins DJ, Polumuri SK, Zhao A, Keegan AD, et al. (2013) Dissociation of Endotoxin Tolerance and Differentiation of Alternatively Activated Macrophages. J Immunol 190:4763–72.
- Karp CL, Wysocka M, Ma X, Marovich M, Factor RE, et al. (1998) Potent Suppression of IL-12 Production from Monocytes and Dendritic Cells during Endotoxin Tolerance. Eur J Immunol 28:3128–36.
- Fan H, Cook JA (2004) Molecular Mechanisms of Endotoxin Tolerance. J Endotoxin Res 10:71–84.
- Biswas SK, Lopez-Collazo E (2009) Endotoxin tolerance: New Mechanisms, Molecules and Clinical Significance. Trends Immunol 30:475–87.
- 23. del Fresno C, Garcia-Rio F, Gomez-Pina V, Soares-Schanoski A, Fernandez-Ruiz I, et al. (2009) Potent Phagocytic Activity with Impaired Antigen Presentation Identifying Lipopolysaccharide-Tolerant Human Monocytes: Demonstration in Isolated Monocytes from Cystic Fibrosis Patients. J Immunol 182:6494–07.
- Mariathasan S, Monack DM (2007) Inflammasome Adaptors and Sensors: Intracellular Regulators of Infection and Inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol 7:31–40.
- 25. Sakharwade SC, Mukhopadhaya A (2015) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Induces LPS Tolerance by Attenuating TLR-Mediated Signaling. Mol Immunol 68:312–24.

Publications

- Sakharwade SC, Sharma PK, Mukhopadhaya A (2013) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Induces Pro-Inflammatory Responses, but Down-Regulates LPS-Mediated Effects in RAW 264.7, THP-1 and Human PBMCs. PLoS One 8:e76583.
- Sakharwade SC, Mukhopadhaya A (2015) Vibrio cholerae Porin OmpU Induces LPS Tolerance by Attenuating TLR-Mediated Signaling. Mol Immunol 68:312–24.
- Sakharwade SC, Prasad GV, Mukhopadhaya A (2015) Immuno-Modulatory Role of Porins: Host Immune Responses, Signaling Mechanisms and Vaccine Potential. Adv Exp Med Biol 842:79–108.